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1. Statement of responsibility of the annual financial report 

 

1. Person responsible for the annual financial report 
 
 
Michel Artières, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of ATEME. 

 
 

2. Declaration by the person responsible 

 
(Article 222-3 - 4 of the AMF General Regulations) 
 

‘I hereby certify that, to the best of my knowledge, the financial statements have been 
prepared in accordance with applicable accounting standards and give a true and fair view 
of the assets and liabilities, financial position and results of the Company and the Group, and 
that the enclosed management report presents a true and fair view of the business, results and 
financial position of the Company and the Group, together with a description of the main risks 
and uncertainties that the Group faces.’ 

 
 

Michel Artières, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of ATEME. 
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2. Management report of the Board of Directors to the Annual 
Ordinary General Meeting of Shareholders 

ATEME 
French société anonyme (public limited company) 

Share capital 1,558,945,36euros 
Registered office: 6, rue Dewoitine - Immeuble Green Plaza, 

78140 Vélizy Villacoublay 
382,231,991 RCS Versailles 

(The ‘Company’) 
_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 
To the Shareholders, 

We have convened an Annual Ordinary General Meeting in accordance with the laws and 
the Articles of Association of your Company to report to you on (i) the position and business of 
ATEME S.A. (hereinafter the ‘Company’) and the Group during the fiscal year ended 31 
December 2020 and to submit for your approval the parent company and consolidated 
financial statements for the previous fiscal year as well as the internal control and risk 
management procedures implemented by the Company. 

The submission of this report was amended in accordance with the provisions of Order 2017-
1162 of 12 July 2017 pursuant to the Sapin Act 2 and its implementing Decree 2017-1174 of 18 
July 2017. 

We will give you all details and additional information regarding the documents and 
documents provided for by the regulations in force and which have been made available to 
you within the legal time limits. 

You will then read the Statutory Auditors' reports. 

 

ECONOMIC AND FINANCIAL INFORMATION 

1. Activity and results of the company and the group during the financial year ended 
31 December 2020 - highlights of the year - progress made or difficulties 
encountered 

 
Results and activity of the Company and the Group  

1.1 The Company 
 

During the fiscal year ended 31 December 2020, the Company recorded net sales of € 51620 
k, compared to € 58294 k last fiscal year, a decrease of approximately 11.4%. 

- Operating income amounted to € 53862 k compared to € 59617 k in the previous year; 

- Operating expenses amounted to € 57226 k compared with € 55314 k in the previous 
year; 

- Operating loss amounts to (3,364) K € compared to (1) € 4303 k for the previous 
financial year. 

After taking into account net financial income of (1,126) K €, non recurring income of € 53 k, 
tax credit of € 3082 k, net income for the year ended 31 December 2020 amounts to a net 
accounting loss of (1,355) K €, compared with net accounting income of € 5999 k for the 
previous year. 
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1.2 The Group 
 

The companies that make up the scope of consolidation for the 2020 financial year are the 
following: 

- the Company (head of the Group);  

- ATEME Inc. (USA); 

- ATEME Canada Inc.; 

- ATEME Japan KK;  

- ATEME Singapore Pte.Ltd.; 

- ATEME Australia Pty. LTDF; 

- ANEVIA SA 

As a reminder, ATEME Japan KK has been mothballed since 2010 pending a recovery in 
business.  

ATEME Canada, ATEME USA, ATEME Australia and ATEME Singapore revenues are derived from 
services billed to the Company and from sales of products and services to local clients. We 
present below the main items of the consolidated income statements in accordance with IFRS 
for the years ended 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2020: 

ANEVIA SA was acquired on 26 October 2020 and has been consolidated since 31 October 
2020. 
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Income statement 
31/12/2020 
12 months 

K € 

31/12/2019 
12 months 

K € 

Revenue 70,739 66,325 

Cost of sales  (31,836) (30,223) 

Gross profit 38,903 36,102 

Research and development costs  (12,693) (9,570) 

Marketing and sales expenses  (20,171) (18,588) 

General and administrative expenses  (4,133) (3,214) 

Recurring operating income 1,906 4,730 

Other operating income and expenses  (713) - 

Operating income 1,193 4,730 

Financial expenses (327) (188) 

Financial income 34 26 

Foreign exchange gains and losses (1,089) (37) 

Profit before tax (189) 4,531 

Income tax expense/benefit (86) 76 

Net income (275) 4,607 

Group share (275) 4,607 

Non controlling interests - - 

Basic earnings per share (€/share) (0.03) 0.44 

Diluted earnings per share (€/share) (0.03) 0.43 

 

 

Eighth consecutive year of revenue growth 

Total sales for the fiscal year ended 31 December 2020 amounted to 70.7 million euros, up 7% 
on 2019, stable on a like for like basis.  

Revenue in EMEA rose 2% to 24.9 million euros. It was down 7% like for like. 

The United States/Canada region again recorded solid growth of +8%, with revenue of 26.5 
million euros. On a comparable basis, revenue increased by 7%. 

Latin America was down 16% to 7.5 million euros. On a like for like basis, revenue fell 41%. 

Surpassing Latin America, Asia Pacific took third place in the podium thanks to soaring 
revenues of 43% to 11.8 million euros. Revenue rose by 45% on a like for like basis. 
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Significant increase in recurring revenue flows 

Recurring monthly revenues1 increased sharply, from 880000 euros in January 2020 to 1500000 
euros in January 2021, including Anevia's contribution. The Group intends to extend its business 
models, which generate recurring monthly revenue to Anevia's product ranges, and to 
increase the share of recurring monthly revenue in overall revenue each year. 

 
Improvement in gross margin 

The second half was marked by a sharp acceleration in software sales, with a consequent 
improvement in the product mix. As a result, gross margin was 58% of sales in the second half, 
compared to 50% in the first half, resulting in a margin of 55% for the year, one point higher 
than in 2019. 

  

 

Restated EBITDA 
The term ‘recurring operating income’ is defined as the difference between total operating 
income and ‘Other operating income’ and ‘Other operating expenses.’ 
 
Current EBITDA, in English, refers to earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, and 
amortization. It includes the Group's profit from recurring operations before it is excluded, 
depreciation, amortization and impairment of fixed assets, and share based payment 
expenses. It highlights the profit generated by the business independently of the conditions 
of its financing, tax constraints and the renewal of the operating tool. Non recurring 
expenditure (unusual, abnormal, and infrequent items) is excluded. 
 

 

 

Newly consolidated company, Anevia  

 
At 31 December 2020, Anevia's contribution from its acquisition (i.e. for a two month period) to 
Group sales amounted to 5.3 million euros. The contribution in terms of net income amounted 
to a profit of 1.8 million euros.  
 
Had Anevia's acquisition taken place on 1 January 2020, Anevia's contribution to Group sales 
at 31 December 2020 would have been 14.7 million euros, compared with recurring operating 
income of (1,168) K € and net income of (1,553) K €.  

 
  

Restated EBITDA 
(Amounts in K €)  31/12/2020 31/12/2019 

Recurring operating income 1,906 4,730 

(-) EBIT on fixed assets (3,756) (3,001) 

(-) Payment in shares IFRS 2 (1,208) (715) 

Restated EBITDA 6,870 8,447 
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Content investments 

ATEME continued to invest in its development, giving priority to R & D. Operating expenses 
amounted to 37.0 million euros in 2013, compared to 31.4 million euros in 2019, up 18%, with the 
integration of Anevia from 31 October 2020. 

 

Net financial expense amounted to € (1.4) million. 

The net loss for the period was € (0.3) million, of which 0.7 million euros was non recurring costs 
related to the acquisition of Anevia compared to 4.6 million euros one year earlier, with net 
income reaching 2.3 million euros in the second half. 

  

Robust financial structure 

Shareholders' equity stood at 35.6 million euros at 31 December 2020, compared with 27.1 
million euros in 2019. 

Given the sustained activity, cash flow increased by 6.8 million euros. Cash and cash 
equivalents totaled 17.1 million euros, compared with 10.3 million euros in 2019. 

As of 31 December 2020, net financial debt (excluding rental debt) stood at 3.7 million euros 
(cash consumption). 

1.3 Highlights of 
 
 
On 9 January 2020: British Telecom (BT) is taking strong measures to combat the hacking of 
video flows 
BT is intensifying its efforts to combat the piracy of premium subscription content thanks to its 
partnership with leading video delivery infrastructure provider ATEME. BT uses the sophisticated 
encryption techniques provided by ATEME to protect, in the safest possible manner, satellite 
transmitted content, and will offer this technology to its clients worldwide to help reduce the 
number of illegal flows. By using ATEME's inbox, BT's Media and Broadcast entity is able to 
provide the best video quality at reduced speeds and a minimum latency, while ensuring the 
security of broadcasts. The BISS CA protocol used in the ATEME inbox is ideally suited to high 
quality video transmissions, while enabling broadcasters to protect against hacking. ATEME's 
encoder can be used by a multitude of systems and software, and the invisible digital tattoo 
of the flow activated by BISS CA makes it possible to determine the origin of an illegal flow. 
Holders of media rights can also allow and revoke receipt rights in real time, thereby securing 
broadcasts from the source to the final destination. 

On 23 January 2020: ATEME winner of the i Nov Innovation Award ‘IA4SEC Project’ 
ATEME is proud to announce that it has won the I Nov IA4SEC innovation award for its 
technological innovations in the television and media market. The project, managed by 
Bpifrance, Banque Publique d'Investissement, and supported by the Investment Programme 
d'Avenir (PIA), which provides great support for innovation, is dedicated to entrepreneurs. The 
TV industry market is faced with an ecosystem that is constantly moving and characterised by 
growing complexity. ATEME's technological progress allows its clients to envisage the future by 
leveraging artificial intelligence (IA). In this context, ATEME offers IA based solutions to deliver 
high compressor, bandwidth efficient, high quality, and loyalty video to its clients. As part of 
this project, ATEME is proposing several levels of optimization: In coding core, which enables a 
reduction in binary flow, in adaptive encoding of content for better video quality, and in the 
elasticity of the encoding process, optimizing the media supply chain and the use of cloud. 
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On 13 February 2020: Vualto is working with ATEME to automate the integration of set top boxes 
Vualto, a cloud based video and orchestration expert, has partnered with ATEME in the 
automated incoder integration within Vualto Control Hub (VCH) video orchestration which 
makes it possible to easily integrate several origins and set top boxes. VCH is independent of 
the supplier and interoperable with a multitude of technology partners. This partnership will 
allow operators and broadcasters to easily orchestrate events and channels directly with the 
possibility to start, stop and automatically configure Titan Live inbox services using the VCH 
interface. Integration offers great benefits to operators and broadcasters who are looking for 
an effective and practical way of disseminating their flows directly. ATEME's wealth of 
experience in encoding premium direct sports content makes it an ideal partner for Vualto. 
Combining the two technologies offers broadcasters a high quality, flexible, agile streaming 
service fully adapted to their business model and end objectives. 
 
On 17 March 2020: PCBL chooses ATEME to broadcast television content in the Pacific 
ATEME has announced today that it has provided integrated decoder receivers (RDI) Kyrion 
DR5000 to Pacific Cooperation Broadcasting Limited (PCBL), an initiative of the New Zealand 
Government that supports unscrambled Pacific broadcasters through the provision of New 
Zealand origin content for rebroadcast, and the establishment of training to encourage the 
production of local content. Key factors in PCBL's decision making were the professionalism, 
ease of use and reliability of the product itself, as well as ATEME's ability to meet the tight project 
schedule. ATEME is recognized worldwide as a long term trusted partner that can help clients 
like PCBL in implementing its current and future vision.  
 
On 23 April 2020 ATEME announced a full day webinary for clients worldwide 
ATEME announced that its real time webinary ‘ATEME 24 Hours’ has been a great success, 
affecting a audience of more than 1,500 unique participants in the broadcast and media 
industry over 24 hours. The ‘pursuit of the sun’ webinary was designed to satisfy all ATEME clients 
in more than 100 countries. First sessions took place in France, before crossing the Atlantic to 
satisfy customers on the east coast of the United States and then joining the west coast. The 
session then focused on Australia and South East Asia, before returning to Europe for closure. 
The company has placed its clients at the center of the event organisation: The program was 
determined after ATEME surveyed them to gain an overview of the challenges they were 
seeking to overcome. 
 
On 5 May 2020 ATEME helped RTL Luxembourg to maintain its pace of activity during the 
COVID-19 epidemic 
The Company used its free video transcoding licenses for 90 days for a new customized 
channel created to deal with the COVID-19 pandemic. Benefiting from ATEME's value 
proposition regarding bandwidth efficiency and high quality experience for its OTT service, RTL 
Luxembourg had to react quickly to adapt to the new rules of social distance and quarantine, 
as well as changing viewing habits, using ATEME's TITAN Live licenses for this purpose. Designed 
specifically for these types of challenges, ATEME's 90 day free offering enabled RTL Luxembourg 
not only to adapt its OTT service but also to perform full, uninterrupted remote monitoring. 
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On 9 June 2020, ATEME joined with SES in testing the first live UHD broadcast with VVC. 
The test showed the following benefits of VVC: 

• Optimized bandwidth efficiency: VVC compression efficiency reduced UHD 
transmission cost 

• Increased hearing: VVC's DVB S2 broadcast increases audience reach and coverage 
• Improving the quality of the experience: Offers a high quality visual experience using 

VLC multimedia reader 

VVC is the latest video coding technology developed by the Joint Team of video Experts (JVET) 
trained by experts from ISO/CEI MPEG and IUCN T VCEG. VVC improves the compression 
efficiency of HEVC (High Efficiency Video Coding) by 50% and processes all video formats (VR-
360°, 3D, 4 K, 8 K, HDR). Its versatility allows the standard to cover a wide range of applications, 
from broadcasting to OTT delivery. 

On 16 July 2020 ATEME is at the forefront of BSI CA Standard with Kyrion and TITAN Solutions. 
ATEME, the leader in video delivery solutions for cable broadcasting, television, SRD, IPTV and 
OTT, continues to be the pioneer of the next generation of content delivery such as Kyrion and 
TITAN Edge solutions; they remain inherent in the development and market adoption of the 
BISS CA standard. As a development of the Biss Protocol, BISS CA is a conditional open, rights 
free, secure and interoperable encryption standard that includes a dynamic mobile key 
system. Developed by the UER in collaboration with ATEME and other network equipment 
providers, BISS CA enables real time rights management for content flows on any network.  

On 22 July 2020 ATEME announced that Movistar + chose to implement its TITAN solution for the 
distribution of its DTH/OTT services directly. 
ATEME's TITAN solution offers Movistar + a number of advantages, including a simple migration 
to the virtual video header. Titan also provides Movistar + with exceptional bandwidth savings 
in MPEG-2 and H.264, resulting in significant use of the satellite transponder, as well as the 
highest possible binary speed video quality, which is crucial to obtaining the best user 
experience. 
 
On 30 July 2020, ATEME enabled QNET Telecom to provide high quality video coding thanks to 
its TITAN Live solution. 
Titan Live will be used alongside the QNET networks to offer improved video quality to its high 
speed end users and support the growing demand for high quality video content and 
encoding. 
 
On 31 July 2020, ATEME and Anevia entered into exclusive negotiations for the acquisition by 
ATEME of 87% of Anevia's share capital and 90% of its voting rights. 
ATEME and Anevia's main shareholders, together holding 87% of the share capital and 90% of 
the theoretical voting rights of Anevia, entered into exclusive negotiations to transfer their stake 
in Anevia to ATEME. The transaction received the unanimous support of both parties' Boards of 
Directors in advance. An information and consultation procedure with the employee 
representative bodies of the Company and ATEME had already been launched. 
Upon completion of the aforementioned ‘information - consultation’ procedures, ATEME 
would acquire all of Anevia shares held by the majority shareholders, in part by contributions 
in kind and otherwise in cash. The transfer of Anevia Company shares to ATEME was followed 
by the filing by ATEME of a simplified alternative tender offer comprising a simplified mixed 
tender offer, and as an alternative offer, a simplified public tender offer on all shares and 
securities giving access to the share capital of Anevia which would not be held by ATEME on 
that date, in accordance with applicable laws and regulations, and then, as the case may 
be, by a squeeze out.  
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Acquisition of Anevia 
 
On 6 October 2020, ATEME and Anevia announced the signature of final agreements to transfer 
the majority shareholders' interest in the Company to ATEME. The purchase covers all of the 
Company's shares held by the majority shareholders, partly through contributions in kind and 
the balance in cash. 
 
On 26 October 2020, ATEME announced that Anevia's major shareholders would contribute a 
majority stake in Anevia, and that its governance structure would be reorganized following 
the takeover by ATEME. 
 
On 9 November 2020 ATEME launched a simplified alternative public offer consisting of a 
simplified mixed public offer and, as an alternative, a simplified public tender offer targeting 
Anevia's shares and equity warrants respectively. 
 
 
 

1.4 Impact of the COVID-19 health crisis on the financial statements at 31 December 2020 
 
 
Full operational continuity during the crisis 
 
In this period of uncertainty, ATEME's priorities have been twofold: Protect the health and well 
being of its employees and partners, in strict compliance with official guidelines to stop the 
spread of the virus, and provide all possible support to customers. Containment has been 
imposed in most areas where we do business. Fortunately, we have a well proven and active 
working culture and a well established business continuity plan to ensure the full continuity of 
all our operations, including R & D, 24/7 support and supply chain functions. 
 
In particular: 
 

• TITAN demonstrations, deliveries and facilities, the ATEME software, can be carried out 
remotely.  

• ATEME continues to provide video conferences and other webinars to clients around 
the world including through a 24 hour webinary in mid April where our experts from all 
continents shared their views on market trends and emerging technologies and 
presented ATEME solutions to 1,500 clients.  

• Our research and development team continues to file new patents 
 
Impact of the Covid-19 crisis on the financial perspectives  
 
In terms of revenues, the immediate impact of the Covid crisis was the cancellation of certain 
orders from Kyrion due to the postponement of sporting events such as the UEFA football 
championship and the Olympic Games. In addition, certain clients have deferred their 
investments, particularly those most exposed to a decline in advertising revenues or revenues 
generated by sports activities. Conversely, the rise in the consumption of video on subscription 
and the pressure on network capacity are boosting many projects, resulting in a large pipeline 
of opportunities.  
 
On 14 April 2020 ATEME benefited from a loan contract guaranteed by the French State, 90% 
guaranteed by the French State, with Société Générale for an amount of € 4000 k, with a 
guarantee premium of 0.5% per year. 
At the end of 2020, the Company's repayment period was extended from 12 months to 60 
months. The redemptions will start in April 2021. 
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1.5 Progress made or difficulties encountered 
 
Group revenue for 2020 (ended December 31) amounted to € 70.7 M, up 7% compared to 
2019 (17% at constant exchange rates). ATEME posted an eighth year of consecutive growth 
(average annual growth of 21% over 2011-2019). 
 
The EMEA region, which accounts for 35% of total revenue, generated growth of 2%. North 
America (37.4% of sales) reported a 8% increase in sales. Revenues in the Asia Pacific region 
increased by 43% while Latin America decreased by 16%.  
 
 
ATEME continued to invest in R & D and sales & marketing, increasing its workforce from 298 to 
332 at the end of October 2020 and then to 453 with the integration of Anevia from November  
On a full year basis, operating expenses amounted to € 37 M, compared to € 31.3 M in 2019, 
reflecting an increase of approximately € 3.1 M in R & D and € 1.6 M in sales & marketing. 
General and administrative expenses rose by EUR 0.9 million 
 
The financial result resulted in a loss of 1.4 million euros, mainly due to foreign exchange losses 
(US dollar/euro). 
Net income came in at € (0.3) million versus € 4.6 M in 2019, and included a net loss of € 2.3 M 
for the second half of 

1.6 Foreseeable developments and outlook 
 

 
ATEME has continually used its R & D expertise to innovate in areas ranging from visual quality 
to Open caching through Cloud DVR and dynamic advertising integration, with the aim of 
delivering ever superior value to its clients.  
ATEME has also embarked on the next step, based on the integration of data analysis, 
artificial/machine learning intelligence and blockchain. 
The group's cutting edge expertise in end to end video processing and transportation lies at 
the heart of the transformation of the broadcast market. 
All these market specific elements reinforce the merit of acquiring Anevia's broadcasting 
technologies; ATEME covers a broader scope of value added solutions by allowing customers 
to boost their audiences, subscriptions and revenues. As TITAN's revenues increase in correlation 
with its clients' content, NEA's revenues increase in line with clients' success in terms of audience: 
An ideal growth driver for ATEME's recurring monthly income 

1.7 Research and development activity 
 
The Company maintained its R & D activity and continued its patent policy over the past year.  

This R & D mostly covers solutions based on our H264 and HEVC video compression technology. 
It also plays an active role in setting a new standard (AV1) in the Alliance for Open Media.  

The high level of investment in R & D maintains the Group's reputation and know how in terms 
of the reliability and quality of video encoding.  

The R & D effort is mainly concentrated in 4 core businesses and 1 new business lines following 
the acquisition of Anevia:  

- Research on codecs to maintain our competitive advantage in video quality and prepare 
for the future by working on new standards such as HEVC,  
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- Binders and decoders of the broadcast contribution, Kyrion range,  
- TITAN software solution for multiscreen transcoding for broadcasting content to boxes or 

streaming on the Internet or on mobiles or tablets,  
- Network processing and video management software solutions, 
- Video delivery technologies. 

 

2. Major events since the year end 
 
On 19 January 2021, ATEME announced the closing of the acquisition of Anevia, a software 
developer for live, deferred and on demand TV and video (VOD), following the successful 
public offer and squeeze out. The total cost of the acquisition was € 21145 k and the 
outstanding liability at 31 December 2020 was € 3738 k (recorded in current liabilities). 

 

On 28 January 2021 ATEME announced that it had won a triple award, ‘Technology & 
Engineering Emmy ® Awards.’  
The National Academy of Television Arts & Sciences (NATAS) awarded ATEME three Emmy ® 
Awards for its outstanding achievements in improving media broadcasting, distribution and 
quality of experience. NATAS won ATEME awards in the following three categories: 

- Development of perceptual measures for optimizing video encoding or how ATEME 
can emulate the human visual system. 

- Optimizing artificial intelligence processes for video compression or how ATEME 
successfully reduced the total cost of ownership without compromising on quality. 

- Development of optimized compression technologies for mass treatments or how 
ATEME can help video on demand service providers produce more content and 
better quality in the Cloud. 

These awards welcome ATEME's leading investments in artificial intelligence and data 
analysis. They strengthen ATEME's role as a future partner for key content and service 
providers, supporting them as they move towards new forms of TV, media and video 
transmission. 

 
On 4 February 2021, ATEME announced the launch of the new TV + service at Viya (ATN 
International Group) in the Virgin Islands (United States) 
The new Viya TV + service allows Virgin Islands residents to access state of the art television 
experience through cloud based connectivity. Subscribers access linear content and on 
demand via a dedicated multimedia reader, a Smart TV, or an iOS or Android device. They 
can also take advantage of the TV service, regardless of whether or not they are on all the 
screens of the house at the appropriate time. 

 
On 25 February 2021 ATEME announced to facilitate more than 50% of ATSC 3.0 deployments 
in North America through its TITAN Live solution 
Many leading television channels and stations now use ATEME TITAN Live for their launches in 
ATSC 3.0 as well as for the migration to ATSC 1.0 requiring a ‘repack,’ i.e. more channels on a 
single issuer. Sinclair Broadcast Group has been a leader in ATEME solutions since the launch 
of the first ATSC 3.0 commercial station in Las Vegas in May 2020. It is also a world first, with 
remote operations. This deployment method, facilitated by ATEME, should be extended to 
future deployments. 
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9 March 2021 Net + celebrated the 10th anniversary of its partnership with Anevia (ATEME) 
Anevia and Net +, a Swiss multi screen TV service provider, celebrated the tenth anniversary 
of their technology partnership. This collaboration was a key factor in making Net + one of 
Switzerland's most innovative TV service providers. Using Anevia's OTT video delivery solutions, 
Net + now offers a wide range of features, including Cloud recording, time shift 
(pause/rewind) and seven day catch up TV. 

 
On 12 March 2021 ATEME announced the integration of AVS2 into its TITAN range.  
AVS2 is the second generation digital audio video compression standard, defined by the AVS 
working group, which aims to meet the needs of the audio and video industry in China. 

 
On March 25, ATEME announced that it would join Digitalrich in offering an integrated solution 
for advertising insertions to clients around the world 
Digitalrich is Korea's leading supplier of advertising integration technologies. Titan Live and 
TITAN Mux by ATEME as well as Digitalrich's Advertising insertion server are now available as an 
integrated solution for ATEME clients worldwide. 

 
On 2 April 2021 ATEME announced that it had been chosen by Nuuday for its Live and File 
platforms 
Nuuday, a subsidiary of TDC Group, Denmark's largest telecommunications company, has 
adopted its TITAN range of solutions to improve video experience for viewers 
 
 

LEGAL INFORMATION 
 

1. Subsidiaries - Investments - Succursales branches 
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1.1    Results of subsidiaries and affiliates 
 

Subsidiaries changed favorably except for the Japanese subsidiary which remained inactive 
in 2020. 

The subsidiaries achieved the following results:  

- ANEVIA France: € 1846 k over 2 months (first consolidated on 31 October 
2020)/(1,494) k € over 12 months  

- ATEME Inc USA: € 63 k 

- ATEME Canada: € 21 k 

- ATEME Singapore: € 22 k 

- ATEME Australia: (226) K € 

The main financial information relating to the Company's subsidiaries and affiliates is described 
in the notes to the financial statements. 

 

1.2    Acquisition of significant equity interests and controlling interests during the past financial 
year 

 

The company took control of ANEVIA SA on 26 October 2020 by purchasing 87% of the share 
capital for € 17407 k. This amount consists of a cash payment of € 9947 k and a contribution of 
ATEME shares through a capital increase of € 7460 k. 

1.3    Disposals of investments  
 

None. 
 

1.4    Disposals of shares and cross shareholdings 
 

None. 
 

1.5    Controlled companies - treasury shares 
 

ATEME USA Inc., ATEME Canada Inc., ATEME Japan KK., ATEME Singapore Pte. Ltd, ATEME 
Australia Pty. Ltd and Anevia SA (from 31 October 2020). 

None of these companies holds any interests in our Company. 

 

1.6    Branches 
 

None. 
 

2. Net income - proposed appropriation of net income 
 

2.1 Proposed appropriation of net income 
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We request that you approve the annual financial statements (balance sheet, income 
statement and notes) for the year ended 31 December 2020 as presented, which show a net 
loss of € 1355 k. We propose to appropriate all of these financial statements to retained 
earnings, thereby increasing the amount to a credit balance of € 4,962 k. 

 

2.2 Dividends distributed 
 

In accordance with the provisions of Article 243 bis of the French General Tax Code, no 
dividend was paid in respect of the previous three fiscal years. 

 

2.3 Expenses and expenses that are not deductible for tax purposes 
 

In accordance with Article 223 quater of the French Tax Code (Code général des impôts), we 
hereby inform you that no expense or expense referred to in Article 39-4 of said Code has been 
incurred for the year ended December 31, 2013. 

 

2.4 Five year financial summary  
 

This report is attached (Appendix 1), in accordance with the provisions of Article R. 225-102 of 
the French Commercial Code, the table showing the Company 's results for each of the last 
five fiscal years.  

 

3. Objective and exhaustive analysis of changes in the business, results of 
operations and financial position of the Company and the Group - 
Principal risks facing the Company and the Group 

 

3.1 Objective and exhaustive analysis of changes in the business, results of operations and 
financial position of the Company, and in particular its debt position, in view of the volume 
and complexity of the business 

 
The Group's free cash position of € 17.1 M at 31 December 2020 and the collection of trade 
receivables (€ 31.7 M at 31 December 2020) in the first quarter of 2021 should enable it to meet 
its 2021 budget targets. 
 
 
 
 
 

3.2 Changes in the business, results and financial position of the Company and the Group - 
key performance indicators of a financial and, if applicable, non financial nature 

 

The business of the Company and the Group should evolve satisfactorily and in accordance 
with its development plan. 



 
                      

  Page on 17 sur 168  

3.3 Main risks and uncertainties faced by the Company and the Group - Indicators on the use 
of financial instruments 

 

The Company has reviewed the risks that could have a material adverse effect on its business, 
financial position or results of operations.  

Following the events related to the Covid-19, the Company adds a risk relating to the current 
economic situation to all its risks presented in Chapter 4 of the Registration Document filed with 
the AMF on 10 June 2014, and considers that there are no material risks other than those 
detailed below. 

The identified risks are classified by type of risk. 

3.3.1 Risks relating to the Company's activities:  

- Risk related to the possible emergence of one or more standards that would 
decrease the technological and/or market scope of the MPEG and HEVC standards 

- Risk related to new entrants 
 

3.3.2 Risks relating to the market in which the Company operates 

- Risks in relation to the competitive environment 
- Risks associated with market growth 
- Customer risks 
- Supplier risks 
- Risks associated with the Registration Document (see section 1.5 of this financial 

report for more information) 
 

 
3.3.3 Risks relating to the Company 

- Risks of dependence on key personnel 
- Risks associated with the recruitment of new employees and the retention of its key 

personnel 
- Risks associated with acquisitions 
- Risks Associated with the Security of the Company's Information Systems 
- Risks associated with technical defects in products marketed by the Company 
- Risks associated with growth management 

3.3.4 Legal risks 

- Risks relating to the confidentiality of Company information and to the disclosure of 
Company technology, manufacturing processes and know how 

- Intellectual property risks 
- Risks relating to the application of the Group's liability in the event of damage arising 

from any of its products 
- Risks associated with and changes in regulations 
- Risks associated with legal and tax regulations 

3.3.5 Financial risks 

- Risk related to historical losses and forecast losses 
- Liquidity risk - Future capital requirements and additional financing 
- Risks associated with the Research Tax Credit and the Innovation Tax Credit 
- Risks associated with the future use of tax loss carryforwards 
- Risk related to access to government advances and grants 
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- Risks relating to off balance sheet commitments 
- Interest rate, credit and cash management risks 
- Currency risk 
- Dilution risk 
- Risk of selling shares by financial shareholders 

 
 

3.4 Indication on the Company's objectives and policy concerning insurance and risk 
coverage 

 
The Group has set up a policy to cover the main insurable risks with guarantees that it 
considers compatible with the nature of its business. 
 

 

4. Main characteristics of the risk management and internal control 
procedures implemented by the Company relating to the preparation 
and processing of accounting and financial information 

 

The internal control system is based on the reference framework of the French Financial Markets 
Authority (Autorité des Marchés Financiers) for Medium and Small Values and on its 
implementation guide for the reference framework on internal control, which was updated 
and published by the AMF on 17 November 2016. 

This report was prepared with the support of the Company's Finance Department. 

 

4.1 General risk management principles 
 

4.1.1 Definition 

ATEME is continuing to formalize its risk management approach. 

The purpose of this process is to identify all risks and risk factors that may affect the activities 
and processes of the Company and its consolidated subsidiaries and to determine the means 
by which these risks may be managed and maintained or brought down to a level acceptable 
to the Company. It is intended to cover all risk categories and apply to all Group activities. 

 
4.1.2 Risk management objectives 

ATEME adopts the definition of risk management proposed by the French Financial Markets 
Authority, according to which risk management is a management lever of the Company which 
contributes to: 

- Create and preserve the value, assets and reputation of the Company; 

- Make the Company's decision making and processes more secure to make it easier to 
achieve objectives; 

- Ensure that initiatives are consistent with the Company's values; 

- Bring employees together to develop a shared view of the Company's main risks. 
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4.1.3 Components of the risk management system 

Risk mapping is carried out jointly by Executive Management and the relevant operating 
departments. It is discussed with the Statutory Auditors. 

A review of these risks is carried out annually in order to update these risks with the people 
directly concerned. The aim of this review will be to formalise the list of actions to be 
implemented to control these risks and to evaluate their effectiveness. 

The risks identified and the measures taken to manage these risks are presented in the annual 
management report. 

 

4.2 Regulation between risk management and internal control 
 
Risk management aims to identify and analyse the main risks and risk factors that may affect 
the Company's activities, processes and objectives, and to define the means by which these 
risks can be kept at an acceptable level, in particular by implementing preventive measures 
and controls that are part of the internal control system. 

At the same time, the internal control system relies in particular on risk management to identify 
the main risks to be controlled. The Company is committed to combining the two systems, 
which aims in particular to identify the control procedures to which the key processes of the 
Company that could be affected by risks classified as ‘major.’ 

 

4.3 General principles of internal control 
 

4.3.1 Definition and objectives of internal control 

 
The Company has adopted the definition of internal control proposed by the Autorité des 
Marchés Financiers, according to which internal control is a system implemented by the 
Company that aims to ensure: 

• Compliance with laws and regulations; 

• Application of the instructions and guidelines set by Executive Management; 

• The proper functioning of the Company 's internal processes, particularly those 
contributing to the protection of its assets; 

• The reliability of financial information; 

• The effectiveness of its operations and the efficient use of its resources. 

The internal control system applies to the entire ATEME Group and is defined as ATEME SA and 
all fully consolidated companies. 

 

4.3.2 Components of internal control 

 
Following the listing of the Company's shares on the Euronext Paris regulated market, the 
Company intends to improve its internal control principles and to complement the existing 
system by reference to the implementation guide for small and medium sized companies in 
the reference framework for risk management and internal control published by the AMF on 
17 November 2016. 

The Company has therefore formalized a set of procedures designed to secure the financial 
and legal security of the different stages of the business. 
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The Finance Department is responsible, under the supervision of General Management, for the 
internal control procedures related to the preparation and processing of financial information.  

All Group companies provide the Company's Finance Department with monthly operational 
and financial reporting, which is reviewed in depth by the Finance Department. 

The Management Committee meets every two weeks to review the business and the financial 
and operating indicators of the Company and the Group. 

Business process procedures 
 
ATEME has divided its organization into processes: 

Implementation process 

ATEME has 7 business processes that have been involved in delivering our products and services 
to clients since the need was detected. 

They include: 

• The Gate Process, whose activities span the life cycle of products, solutions and services, 
from market needs analysis to the end of the product's life. This process brings together the 
marketing, qualification and R & D teams and is at the heart of ATEME's business. 

• The Lead to Order, whose activities follow a client needs analysis through to the order 
intake. This process encompasses pre sales activities (system engineering, demonstrations, 
business proposals) and sales activities (exploration, trade fairs, monitoring of customer 
relations). It is the central process of the relationship between clients and the ATEME. 

• Procure to Stock, Order to Delivery and Delivery to Cash track order intake until delivery of 
customers by integrating inventory management, procurement, unit preparation, 
deliveries, all managed through our ERP. 

• ATEME provides technical support to all of its clients. Technical Support manages customer 
issues by providing access to a SAV and Project Management works with customers to 
provide installation services and training sessions. 
 

Support process 

• This process encompasses the Human Resources processes, the management of material 
resources and the control of the information system. They contribute to the proper 
functioning of other processes by providing the necessary human or material resources. 

• Process Steering: Participates in and contributes to the determination, policy development 
and deployment of the general objectives of the ATEME. This is the decision making process, 
based on factual information reported during management reviews: Quality policy & 
objectives, dashboards, customer feedback and audit results 

• Continuous Improvement Process which monitors the functioning of the QMS and allows for 
the implementation of improvement actions 

 

Organisation of the Accounting and Finance Department 

The accounting and financial function is managed internally by a team composed of four 
people including the Chief Financial Officer. 

The Company strives to maintain a separation between its production and supervision activities 
for financial statements and uses independent experts to value complex accounting items 
(pension liabilities, BSA/BSPCE valuation) and/or subjective assumptions. 

The financial statements prepared in accordance with French GAAP and IFRS, produced with 
the assistance of independent accounting firms, are submitted for audit to the Company's 
Statutory Auditors. 
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The accounts, which are produced internally, are submitted for review by the Company's 
Statutory Auditors and then presented to and discussed with the Audit Committee. This ensures 
that the Company's practices comply fully with French and international accounting standards 
(IFRS) and that the financial statements are presented in a consistent manner. 

 

Budget Process and ‘Monthly Reporting’ 

The Company prepares an annual revenue and expenditure budget that is reviewed quarterly 
in the form of a projection that takes into account expenditure incurred and adjustments to 
revenue and expenditure to be incurred.  

Such items are reported to the Board of Directors in the form of ad hoc presentations at least 
once every quarter.  

 

Delegation of powers 

The Company has implemented a procedure for delegating powers and signatures for the 
payment of invoices and the signature of purchase orders. 

 

4.4 Engines of risk management and internal control 
 

The Board of Directors plays a leading role in defining and driving the internal control system 
and risk management. 

Risk management aims to identify and analyse the main risks and risk factors that may affect 
the Company's activities, processes and objectives, and to define the means by which these 
risks can be kept at an acceptable level, in particular by implementing preventive measures 
and controls that are part of the internal control system. 

 

4.5 Limitations on risk management and internal control and areas for improvement 
 
In 2021, the Company will focus on adapting and optimising its risk management system to its 
information system and improving the monitoring of identified action plans. 

 

5. Social and environmental consequences of the Company's activities 
and those of its subsidiaries 

 
 

5.1 Information on how the Company takes into account the social and environmental 
consequences of its business (Article L. 225-102-1 para. 5) 

 

The Company is subject to the thresholds set by Article R. 225-104 2 of the French Commercial 
Code. It nevertheless took a free approach aimed at preparing a CSR report in accordance 
with the guidelines used by the Company. 

This report is available on the Company's website. 

 

5.2 Information related to the carrying out of hazardous activities (Article L. 225-102-2) 
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None. 
 

5.3 Information on financial risks related to climate change effects and presentation of 
measures taken to reduce them by implementing a low carbon strategy (Article L. 225-
100-1 4°) 

 

The Company is subject to the thresholds set by Article R. 225-104 2 of the French Commercial 
Code. It nevertheless took a free approach aimed at preparing a CSR report in accordance 
with the guidelines used by the Company. 

This report is available on the Company's website. 
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6. Payment terms1 
 

In accordance with the provisions of the Decree of 20 March 2017 pursuant to Articles L. 441-
6-1 and D. 441-4 of the French Commercial Code (Code de commerce), we present below 
information on supplier and customer invoices due as of the end of the last financial year, in 
number and amount: 

 
 

  Invoices received but not paid at year end 

Of which the term has expired 
 

  0 day 1 to 30 
days 

31 to 60 
days 

61 to 90 
days 

91 days 
and + 

Total (1 
day and +) 

(Indicative) 

Late payment instalments  

Number of invoices 
affected 

428  313 

Amount of invoices 
concerned including 
tax 

4,403,940    2,326,167    113,586    9,569    123,590    2,572,911    

Percentage of total 
purchases for the 
year H.T 

12% 6% 0% 0% 0% 7% 

(B) Amounts excluded from (A) related to disputed or unrecognised debts and receivables  

Number of invoices 
excluded 

  

Total invoices 
excluded (inclusive of 
tax) 

  

 (C) Time limits for reference payment used (contractual or legal period - Article L. 441-6 or L. 443-1 of the French 
Commercial Code 

Payment delays 
Contractual terms 
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  Invoices issued but not settled at year end 

Of which the term has expired 
 

  0 day 1 to 30 
days 

31 to 60 
days 

61 to 90 
days 

91 days 
and + 

Total (1 
day and +) 

(Indicative) 

Late payment instalments  

Number of invoices 
affected 

221  305 

Amount of invoices 
concerned including 
tax 

9,538,812    4,657,576    1,656,489    601,437    4,765,341    11,680,844    

Percentage of sales 
for the financial year 
(inclusive of tax) 

18% 9% 3% 1% 9% 1% 

(B) Amounts excluded from (A) related to disputed or unrecognised debts and receivables 

Number of invoices 
excluded 

2 

Total invoices 
excluded (inclusive of 
tax)  

       50,332    

 (C) Time limits for reference payment used (contractual or legal period - Article L. 441-6 or L. 443-1 of the French 
Commercial Code 

Payment delays 
Statutory deadlines 
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7. Inter company loans 
 

No inter company loan governed by Article L. 511-6 of the French Monetary and Financial 
Code was granted by the Company during the financial year ended 31 December 2020. 

 

8. Information on the share capital  
 

8.1 Allocation of share capital and voting rights  
 

In accordance with the provisions of Article L. 233-13 of the French Commercial Code (Code 
de commerce) and in light of the information received pursuant to Article L. 233-7 of said Code, 
we hereby report to you on the identity of shareholders who directly or indirectly hold more 
than one twentieth, tenth, three twentieths, fifth, fourth, third, half, two thirds, eighteenth (90%) 
or nineteen twentieths (95%) of the share capital or voting rights at 31 December 2020. 

 

 
Shareholders 

At 31/12/2020 

% of share capital 

Michel Artières 1.81% 

SEREITRA 9.16% 

Total Artières 10.97% 
Otus Capital 9.39% 

Keren Finance 5.38% 

NJJ Capital  5.1% 

AXA IM 4.59% 

Other < 5% 64.58% 

TOTAL 100.00% 
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8.2 Changes in share capital during the past fiscal year 
 
 

 Number of 
shares 

Nominal value  
(In euros) 

Share capital 
(In euros) 

Shares comprising the share 
capital at the beginning of the 
year  

10,464,563  0.14 1,465,038 

Shares cancelled during the 
year 

 -  

Shares issued during the past 
financial year 

596,006 

 

0.14 83,442 

Shares outstanding at the end of 
the year 11,060,569 0.14 1,548,480 

 

 
 
On 23 September 2020, the Board of Directors recorded the creation of 56,000 shares resulting 
from the exercise of stock options. 
 
On 26 October 2020, the Board of Directors placed on record the creation of 10,500 shares 
following the recognition of the exercise of stock options.  
 
The same Board of Directors issued 428,362 new shares in consideration for the contribution of 
4,283,620 shares in Anevia SA in connection with the acquisition of Anevia SA. 
 
On 28 October 2020, the Board of Directors issued 68,979 new shares as consideration for 
contributions made in connection with the acquisition of Anevia SA. 
 
On 4 November 2020, the Board of Directors decided to issue new Company shares through a 
share capital increase following the definitive allocation of 32,000 AGM; 

On 28 January 2021, the Board of Directors formally noted the creation of 165 shares following 
the exercise of stock options.  

The same Board also noted the creation of 3,148 shares following the exercise of stock options. 
They will be recorded in the 2021 accounts as settled in January 2021. 

 
The articles of association were amended accordingly. 
 

8.3   Shares purchased or sold by the Company pursuant to the provisions of Article L. 225-
209 of the French Commercial Code 

 

In accordance with Article L. 225-211 of the French Commercial Code (Code de commerce), 
we hereby report on the repurchase by the Company of its own shares in accordance with 
Article L. 225-209 of the French Commercial Code: 

- Shares bought or sold by the Company under the liquidity agreement (Kepler 
Cheuvreux): 

o 172,074 shares were purchased at an average price of 13.50 € per share 

o 95,458 shares were sold at an average price of 13.77 € per share  
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- No shares have been purchased or sold by the Company excluding the liquidity 
contract. 
 

At year end, the 6,560 shares held under the share buyback program were earmarked for the 
following purposes: 

 

Objectives Securities Nominal 
value (€) 

Carrying 
amount (€) 

% of share 
capital 

Liquidity contract 6,560 16.7 109,729.6 0.12% 

Hedging of stock option plans     

To be remitted in the future in exchange 
or payment in the context of external 
growth transactions     
Hedging of debt securities giving access 
to the share capital     
Cancellation of shares:     
Total 6,560 16.7 109,729.6 0.12% 

 

 

8.4 Share performance 
 
 
Between 1 January 2020 and 28 April 2021, changes in the share price were as follows: 

 
 

 
 
Source: Boursorama 
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8.5 Calculation items and results of the adjustment of the bases for conversion of shares  
 
None. 

 

8.6 Approval of the supplementary reports of the Board of Directors and of the Statutory 
Auditor 

 

None. 

 

8.7 Stock options 
 

In accordance with the provisions of Article L. 225-184 of the French Commercial Code (Code 
de commerce), we have prepared a special report on the issue of stock options in 
accordance with the provisions of Articles L. 225-177 to L. 225-186 of the French Commercial 
Code.  

 

8.8 Free shares 
 
In accordance with the provisions of Article L. 225-197-4 of the French Commercial Code 
(Code de commerce), we have prepared a special report on the grant of free shares in 
accordance with the provisions of Articles L. 225-197-1 to L. 225-197-5 of the French Commercial 
Code. 
 

8.9 Restrictions imposed by the Board of Directors on the exercise of options or the sale of 
shares freely allocated to executives 

 
In accordance with the provisions of Articles L. 225-185 and L. 225-197-1 of the French 
Commercial Code (Code de commerce), we inform you that no stock options or free shares 
have been granted to Executive Corporate Officers. 

 

8.10  Employee shareholding threshold 
 

We hereby inform you that, at the year end, the employees of our Company and of its affiliates 
did not hold any shares in the Company's share capital within the meaning of Article L. 225-102 
of the French Commercial Code (Code de commerce). 
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9. Transactions involving the Company's shares carried out by the 
executives and persons referred to in Article L. 621-18-2 of the French 
Monetary and Financial Code (Code monétaire et financier) 

 

None. 

 

10. Sanctions for anti competitive practices  
 

In accordance with the requirements of Article L. 464-2-I, para. 5 of the French Commercial 
Code, we inform you that the Company was not subject to any injunction or monetary sanction 
for anti competitive practices ordered by the French Competition Authority. 
 

11. Agreements governed by Article L. 225-38 of the French Commercial 
Code 

 
We have given your Statutory Auditors the information they need to present their special report 
as required by Article L. 225-38 of the French Commercial Code, and we are submitting a draft 
resolution for the approval of this report. 

 

12. Works Council's observations 
 

None. 

 
We hope that the above proposals will receive your approval and that you will vote for the 
resolutions before you. 

 

 

 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

The Board of Directors 

Michel Artières 
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APPENDIX 1 
 

TABLE SHOWING THE RESULTS OF THE COMPANY DURING EACH OF THE FINANCIAL YEARS ENDED 
IN RESPECT OF THE LAST FIVE FINANCIAL YEARS 

 

NATURE OF THE INFORMATION Fiscal year 
2020 

Fiscal year 
2019 

Fiscal year 
2018 

Fiscal year 
2017 

Fiscal year 
2016 

I. Capital stock at year end      

Share capital (in euros) 1,548,480 1,465,039 1,458,658 1,438,540 1,410,903 
Number of ordinary shares outstanding 11,060,569 10,464,563 10,418,984 10,275,289 10,077,883 

Number of preferred (non voting) shares 
outstanding      

Maximum number of future shares to be 
created      

Through conversion of bonds      

Exercise of subscription rights      

II. Results of operations      

Net sales (in EUR '000) 51,620 58,294 51,728 48,423 37,459 

Income before tax, employee profit sharing, 
depreciation, amortisation and provisions (in 
'EUR 000) 

-2,254 5,539 318 3,159 1,411 

Income tax (in '000 euro) -3,082 -2,142 -2,093 -1,678 -1,392 

Employee profit sharing due in respect of the 
financial year (EUR '000) 0 8 0 0 0 

Profit after tax, employee profit sharing, 
depreciation, amortisation and provisions (in 
'EUR 000) 

-1,355 5,999 1,603 3,789 1,721 

Dividends distributed      

III. Earnings per share      

Profit after tax, employee profit sharing but 
before depreciation, amortisation and 
provisions (in euros) 

0,075 0,734 0,231 0,471 0,278 

Net income after tax, employee profit sharing, 
depreciation, amortisation and provisions (in 
euros) 

-0,123 0,573 0,154 0,369 0,171 

Dividend per share      

IV. Staff      

Average number of employees during the year 166 141 126 126 112 

Total payroll for the year (EUR '000) 11,463 10,113 8,614 8,203 6,972 

Social security and other employee benefits 
paid during the year (EUR '000) 4,633 4,322 3,748 3,642 3,360 
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3. Board of Directors' report on corporate governance 

 
To the Shareholders,  

In accordance with the provisions of Article L.225-37 of the French Commercial Code (Code de 
commerce), the Board of Directors has prepared this report on corporate governance. 

A/ADMINISTRATION AND CONTROL OF THE COMPANY 
 

1. Governance of the Company 
 

 
1.1 General Management 

 

 
Under the terms of the decisions made on 27 March 2002, the Board of Directors, acting in 
accordance with Articles L. 225-51-1 and L. 225-37-4 para. 4 of the French Commercial Code, 
decided not to separate the functions of Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board 
of Directors. 

Consequently, the Executive Management of the Company is carried out by Michel Artières. 

We hereby inform you that his terms of office as Director and Chairman and Chief Executive 
Officer were renewed at the end of the Board of Directors' meeting of 9 June 2015 for the 
duration of his term of office as Director, i.e., at the end of the Annual General Meeting to be 
held in 2021 and approving the financial statements for the 2020 financial year. The renewal of 
the term of office of Michel Artières as Chairman of the Board of Directors is the subject of a 
resolution for renewal submitted to the Shareholders' Meeting of 9 June 2021. 

 
 

1.2 Corporate Governance Code 
 

 
The Company refers to the MiddleNext Corporate Governance Code issued in December 2009 
as updated in September 2016 for Small- and Mid caps (hereinafter the ‘Middlenext Code’) in 
the context of its corporate governance. The Code may be consulted at Middlenext 
(www.middlenext.com). 

This report will report to you on the implementation of the recommendations of said Code 
And if not applied, the justification for not applying it. 
 

The table below details the Company's progress in applying the principles of the Middlenext Code: 

- the Company believes that it complies with the recommendations of the Middlenext Code 
included in the table in the ‘Adopted’ section; 

- the Company is currently considering the recommendations contained in the Middlenext Code 
which it believes are not compliant to date and which appear in the table under the heading ‘In 
the process of adoption.’ 
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Recommendations of the Middlenext Code Adopted In the process of 
adoption 

 

I. Supervisory powers 

R1: Ethics of Board members X  

R2: Conflicts of interest X  

R 3: Composition of the Board - Presence of independent 
members on the Board 

X  

R 4: Information provided to members of the Board X  

R 5: Organisation of Board and committee meetings X  

R 6: Setting up of committees   

R 7: Creation of internal rules for the Board X  

R 8: Choice of each director X  

R 9: Term of office of Board members   

R 10: Director's compensation X  

R 11: Assessment of the Board's work X  

R 12: Relations with shareholders   

II. The executive branch 

R 13: Definition and transparency of compensation 

Corporate officers 

X  

R 14: Preparing for the succession of senior managers. X  

R 15: Combining employment contracts with a corporate office 
(1) 

X  

R 16: Termination benefits (2) X  

R 17: Supplementary pension plans (3) X  

R 18: Stock options and bonus share grants X  

R 19: Review of areas of vigilance X  

 

(1): No executive director and officer has an employment contract with the Company. 

(2): Corporate officers are not entitled to any termination benefits. 

(3): The Chief Executive Officers do not benefit from any retirement benefit obligations 
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2. Composition and operation of the Board of Directors 
 

 
2.1 Provisions of the bylaws 

 

 
Unless otherwise provided for by law, the Company shall be administered by a Board of 
Directors with at least three and no more than eighteen members. 

The term of office of the directors is six years. Non voting directors are appointed for a four year 
term. 

No Director over seventy five years of age may be appointed if his appointment increases the 
number of Directors over this age to more than one third of the Board members. 

2.2 Composition of the Board of Directors at 31 December 2020 
 

 
At 31 December 2020, the Board of Directors comprised the following 4 Directors: 

 
 

Name, first name, 
Business address 

Offices and principal 
positions 

Corporate office 

Date of first appointment Expiry date of the 
Mandate 

Michel Artières Chairman and Chief 
Executive Officer 
Director 

 Directorship 
: 
General Meeting of 17 
November 1997 

 
Term of office as 
Chairman and Chief 
Executive Officer 
General: 
Board of Directors 
Of 27 March 2002 

Directorship: 
Expires at the close of the 
Shareholders' Meeting 
Ruling on the financial 
statements for the year 
ended 31 December 2020 

 
Term of office as 
Chairman and Chief 
Executive Officer: Expires 
at the close of the Annual 
General Meeting called to 
approve the 2013 
financial statements 
Ended 31 December 2020 
 

Gaudeto sprl  
 

Permanent 
representative: 
Jacques Galloy 

Independent Director Consulting Services 
Chairman of the Board of 
Directors of 23 
January 2015 by co option 
ratified at the 
Shareholders' Meeting of 9 
June 2015 
 

Expires at the close of the 
Annual General Meeting 
called to approve the 
2013 financial statements 
Ended 31 December 2022 

Benoit Fouchard Director General Meeting of 23 
December 2005 

Expires at the close of the 
Annual General Meeting 
called to approve the 
2013 financial statements 
Ended 31 December 2023 
 

Joanna Darlington Independent Director General Meeting of 9 
June 2015 

Expires at the close of the 
Annual General Meeting 
called to approve the 
2013 financial statements 
Ended 31 December 2020 
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2.3 Directorships and positions held 
 

 
2.3.1 Situation of Directors' terms of office 

Two Directors' terms of office will expire during the financial year beginning on or after 1 January 
2021. The terms of office of Mrs Joana Darlington and Michel Artières will be renewed via two 
resolutions presented at the Shareholders' Meeting. 
 

2.3.2 List of directorships and positions held 

In accordance with the provisions of Article L. 225-37-4 para. 1 of the French Commercial Code, 
we provide below (Appendix 1) a list of all directorships and positions held in French or foreign 
companies by each corporate officer during the year. 

 

Directors' leave 

We request that you discharge the Directors from the performance of their duties for the past 
fiscal year. 
 

2.3.3 Status of the non voting director 

We remind you that the term of office of Laurent Cadieu as non voting director was renewed for 
four (4) years by the Annual General Meeting of 8 June 2017, expiring at the close of the Annual 
General Meeting to be held in 2021 and voting on the annual financial statements for the previous 
year. We therefore ask the Annual General Meeting to vote on the renewal of his term of office 
in accordance with the company's bylaws.  
 
 

2.4 Operating rules of the Board of Directors 
 

 
Multiple directorships 

In accordance with Recommendation R1 of the Middlenext Code, we hereby inform you that 
the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer does not hold any other directorships in listed 
companies. 

 

Independence of members 

As of today, the Board has two independent members, as defined in recommendation R3 of the 
Middlenext Code 

The independence of the members of the Board of Directors is determined on the basis of the 
criteria 
As follows: 

- Has not been, during the last five years and not been an employee or executive 
director of the Company or of a company within its group; 

- Have been in a significant business relationship with the Company or its group 
over the past two years (customer, supplier, competitor, service provider, creditor, 
banker, etc.); 

- Be the Company's reference shareholder or hold a significant percentage of 
voting rights; 

- He/she does not have a close relationship or close family ties with an executive 
director and officer or a reference shareholder; 
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- Has not been an auditor of the company over the past six years. 
Accordingly, the Company complies with Recommendation R3 prescribed by the Middlenext 
Code. 

 

Application of the principle of equal representation of women and men on the Board 

In accordance with the provisions of Article L. 225-18-1 of the French Commercial Code, the 
proportion of directors of each gender cannot be less than 40% since 1 January 2017. However, 
when the Board of Directors has no more than eight members, the difference between the 
number of directors of each gender may not exceed two. 

 
As a result, given the number of Directors on the Board of Directors to date, i.e. 4, including one 
woman and 3 men, the Board's gender balance rules comply with the provisions of Article L. 
225-18-1 of the French Commercial Code. 
 
Choice of directors  

In accordance with recommendation R8 of the Middlenext Code, information on the 
experience and skills of each Director is provided in the annual report and at the Annual 
General Meeting when appointing, re appointing Directors. Accordingly, the information 
sheets for new Directors appointed as from January 2017 will be made available to 
shareholders in accordance with the provisions of Article R. 225-83 of the French Commercial 
Code and posted on the Company 's website prior to the Annual General Meeting held to 
approve their appointment or renewal of their term of office in accordance with 
recommendation R8 of the Middlenext Code. 

 

Internal Rules 

In accordance with recommendation R7 of the Middlenext Code, at its meeting on 28 March 
2017, the Board of Directors adopted internal rules for the Board of Directors. These internal 
regulations define the rules and operating procedures of the Board of Directors and its 
Committees, in addition to the provisions of the law and the Company's articles of association. 

The internal regulations may be consulted at the head office. 

 

Directors' Code of Conduct 

In accordance with recommendation R1 of the Middlenext Code, at its meeting on 26 July 
2017 the Board of Directors adopted a Directors' Charter to ensure that the Directors are fully 
aware of their obligations and particularly those relating to the prevention of insider trading. 
This Directors' Charter was amended by the Board of Directors on 27 March 2018. As mentioned 
above, the Board of Directors adopted a Stock Market Code of Ethics to strengthen the 
prevention of insider trading on 27 March 2018. 

With respect to the prevention of conflicts of interest, and in accordance with 
recommendation R2 of the Middlenext Code, the Board of Directors' Internal Regulations 
adopted on 28 March 2017 as well as the aforementioned Charter provide that ‘Each Director 
shall be required to inform the Chairman of the Board of Directors of any situation concerning 
him that may create a conflict of interest with the Company or one of the Group's companies. 
He/she shall abstain from voting on the related deliberations. ‘ 

The Statutory Auditors' special report on regulated agreements and commitments details the 
agreements and commitments submitted to the Board of Directors for authorisation and on 
which the directors abstained from voting because of existing or potential conflicts of interest. 
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Directors' information 

In accordance with recommendation R4 of the Middlenext Code, all documents and 
information required to fulfil the Directors' duties are provided to them within a reasonable 
period of time prior to Board meetings. 

In addition, each Director may request any documents he or she considers useful for the 
performance of his or her term of office. 

At each Board meeting and whenever necessary, the Chairman informs the members of the 
Board of Directors of the main events and events affecting the Group since the date of the 
previous Board meeting. 

 

2.5 Duties of the Board of Directors 
 

 
The Board of Directors determines the orientations of the Company 's activities and ensures 
their implementation. Subject to the powers expressly granted by law to Shareholders' Meetings 
and within the limit of the corporate purpose, it shall deal with any issue concerning the smooth 
running of the Company and settle matters concerning it through its deliberations. 

In accordance with recommendation R19 of the Middlenext Code, every year the Board will 
ensure that it is informed of the points of vigilance mentioned in the said Middlenext Code and 
that it reviews them regularly at its meetings. 

 
Report on the Board's activities during 2020 

The minutes of each meeting are drawn up by the Board of Directors and then approved by 
the Chairman, who submits them to the approval of the following Board of Directors. It is 
recorded in the register of minutes after the signature of the Chairman and of a Member. 

In accordance with recommendation R5 of the Middlenext Code, the Board of Directors met 
11 times in 2020 during the days and months listed below: 
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Date of Board of Directors' meeting Number of members present or 
represented Attendance rate 

30 January 2020 Members: 4 
Non voting Director: 1 

Members: 100% Non voting 
Director: 100% 

25 March 2020 Members: 4 
Non voting Director: 1  

Members: 100% Non voting 
Director: 100% 

17 April 2020 Members: 4 
Non voting Director: 1 

Members: 100% Non voting 
Director: 100% 

6 May 2020 Members: 4 
Non voting Director: 1 

Members: 100% Non voting 
Director: 100% 

16 July 2020  Members: 4 
Non voting Director: 1 

Members: 100% Non voting 
Director: 100% 

29 July 2020 Members: 4 
Non voting Director: 1 

Members: 100% Non voting 
Director: 100% 

23 September 2020 Members: 4 
Non voting Director: 1 

Members: 100% Non voting 
Director: 100% 

6 October 2020 Members: 4 
Non voting Director: 1 

Members: 100% Non voting 
Director: 100% 

26 October 2020 Members: 4 
Non voting Director: 1 

Members: 100% Non voting 
Director: 100% 

28 October 2020 Members: 4 
Non voting Director: 1 

Members: 100% Non voting 
Director: 100% 

4 November 2020 Members: 4 
Non voting Director: 1 

Members: 100% Non voting 
Director: 100% 

Average attendance at Board 
meetings 

Members: 4 
Non voting Director: 1 
 

Members: 100% Non voting 
Director: 100% 
 

 
During the year, the main topics addressed during the Board of Directors' meetings were as 
follows: 

- Presentation and approval of the annual budget; 
- Approval of forecast management documents; 
- Update on quarterly activity; 
- Allocation of stock warrants, bonus shares to employees and stock subscription or 

purchase options; 
- Operational management of the health crisis related to the 
- Acquisition of ANEVIA SA 
- Approval of the annual, consolidated and half year financial statements and approval 

of the provisional management documents; 
- Recognition of the exercise of stock options and of increases in capital 

Share capital; 
- Allocation of attendance fees; 
- Setting up of bank financing; 
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2.6 Succession of senior managers 
 

 
In accordance with Recommendation R14 of the Middlenext Code, the Board of Directors will 
regularly rule on the succession of directors who are sitting in the Company's interests in its long 
term future. 

 

 
3. Report on the delegations of authority granted by Shareholders' Meetings to the Board of 

Directors 
 

 

In accordance with the provisions of Article L. 225-37-4, paragraph 3 of the French Commercial 
Code (Code de commerce), a table summarizing the current authorizations granted by the 
Annual General Meeting to the Board of Directors in the field of capital increases pursuant to 
Articles L. 225-129-1 and L. 225-129-2 of the French Commercial Code is annexed to this report. 
This table shows the use made of these delegations during the past financial year (Appendix 
2).  

 
 

4. Assessment of the work of the Board of Directors 
 

 
In accordance with recommendation R11, the Chairman of the Board of Directors called on 
the Directors to assess the work of the Board during the meeting of 24 March 2021. 

This assessment revealed an overall positive assessment of the capacity of the 
Board of Directors to carry out its duties. 

 
 

5. Specialized Committees 
 

 
Pursuant to the decisions made on 28 March 2017, the Board of Directors adopted the Rules of 
Procedure of the Board of Directors, which set out all the rules relating to the composition and 
duties of specialised committees (the ‘Committees’), the main terms of which are described 
below. 

Committee members are appointed by the Board of Directors. 

These Committees study and prepare decisions for the Board of Directors and submit their 
opinions, proposals or recommendations to the Board of Directors. 

Each Committee may decide to invite any person to its meetings, as necessary 
Management of the Company of its choice. 

Members of the Committee, as well as any outside person who attended its meetings, were 
bound by a confidentiality obligation with respect to all information communicated to the 
Committee in which they participated. 

The conditions for referring matters to each Committee are as follows: 

- It shall take up any matter falling within its field of competence as set out in these Rules 
and shall draw up its annual programme; 

- The Chairman of the Board of Directors may refer to it any matter that may be included 
in the Board's agenda; 
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- The Council and its President may also raise other matters at any time 
Within its remit. 

The Chairman of the Board of Directors ensures that the Committees have the necessary 
information to perform their duties. The Committee also ensures that each Committee is kept 
regularly informed of changes in laws and regulations noted and relating to its area of 
expertise. The proposals, recommendations and opinions issued by the Committees are the 
subject of reports sent by the Chairman of said Committees to the Chairman of the Board for 
communication to its members. 

 

 
5.1 Compensation Committee 

 

 
The Company has had a Compensation Committee since 2010. Pursuant to the decisions 
made on 24 March 2014, the Board of Directors formally established this Committee and 
defined its duties, which were again specified by the Board of Directors on 28 March 2017. 

 

Composition 

The Remuneration Committee has at least two (2) members chosen from among the members 
of the Board of Directors, including non voting directors, with the exception of members 
exercising executive management functions. 

As of the date of this report, the Compensation Committee is composed of the following three 
(3) members: 

- Ms Darlington and 

- Mr. Fouchard and 

- Gaudeto sprl, represented by Jacques Galloy, is chaired 

by Darlington. 

 
Operation - Missions 

The Remuneration Committee is tasked with making proposals or recommendations to the 
Board of Directors on the compensation of the Company's senior executives and, where 
applicable, any members of the Employee Board of Directors 

 
In addition, it may make recommendations to the Board of Directors on the amount 
Total and allocation of Directors' fees. 

 
The Compensation Committee meets at least once a year, and as often as necessary, 
particularly before the Board of Directors which reviews the compensation of corporate 
officers. 

 
It also meets before any decision to grant stock options or bonus shares to corporate officers, 
Group executives or members of the Board of Directors is made. 

 
In addition, the Board of Directors meets as necessary upon notice by its Chairman at his 
own initiative or at the request of the Chairman of the Board of Directors. 

 
In addition, the Compensation Committee gives its opinion on (i) the appointment, dismissal of 
corporate officers and (ii) the recruitment of any employee whose gross annual compensation 
exceeds 150,000 euros. 
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The Compensation Committee may invite Executive Management to attend its meetings when 
issues relating to the recruitment of any employee whose gross remuneration exceeds 150,000 
euros are discussed. 

 
These recommendations cover all the components of the compensation of the Company 's 
executive officers, in any capacity whatsoever, and in particular: The fixed component 
includes benefits in kind, the variable component, any termination indemnities, supplementary 
pension and welfare plans, allotments of subscription options, purchase options or free shares, 
whether paid, awarded or paid for by the Company, the company that controls it or a 
company that it controls. They also address the balance of the various components making up 
the total compensation and the conditions under which they are awarded, particularly in terms 
of performance. 

 
The Compensation Committee also proposes to the Board of Directors the text of the resolutions 
to be put to the vote of shareholders at the annual ordinary general meeting in terms of the 
remuneration of executive corporate officers. 

 
 

5.2 Audit Committee 
 

 
Pursuant to the decisions made on 23 January 2015, the Board of Directors decided to set up an 
Audit Committee separate from the Board. 

It met for the first time on 18 March 2015. 

 
Composition 
The Audit Committee shall have at least two members chosen from among the members of 
the Board of Directors, at least one of whom shall be independent and have specific expertise 
in financial, accounting or statutory audit matters. 

As of the date of this report, the Audit Committee comprises both (2) 
The following members: 

- Gaudeto sprl, represented by Jacques Galloy and 

- Mrs. Joanna Darlington. 

It is chaired by Gaudeto sprl, represented by Jacques Galloy. 
 

Operation - Missions 

The Audit Committee is responsible for monitoring issues related to the preparation and control 
of accounting and financial information, and for ensuring the effectiveness of the risk 
monitoring and operational internal control system in order to facilitate the Board's 
performance of its control and verification duties in this area. 

In accordance with Article L. 823-19 of the French Commercial Code (Code de commerce), the 
Audit Committee carries out the following main duties: 

- It monitors the process of preparing financial information and, where 
necessary, the internal audit, with regard to the procedures relating to the 
preparation and processing of financial and accounting information (in 
particular, the annual and interim parent company and consolidated 
financial statements), without compromising its independence; 

- It monitors the effectiveness of the internal control and risk management 
systems, as well as, where applicable, the internal audit systems, with regard 
to the procedures relating to the preparation and processing of accounting 
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and financial information, without compromising its independence; 
- It issues a recommendation on the Statutory Auditors proposed for 

appointment or renewal by the Shareholders' Meeting or the body performing 
a similar function; 

- It monitors the Statutory Auditors' performance of their duties and takes into 
account the findings and conclusions of the Statutory Auditors' High Council 
following the audits carried out by this body on the professional activities of 
the Company's Statutory Auditors; 

- It ensures that the Statutory Auditors comply with the conditions 
Independence provided by law; 

- It approves the provision of services other than the statutory audit of any 
accounts carried out by the Statutory Auditors; 

- It reports regularly to the Board of Directors on the performance of its duties. It 
also reports on the results of the audit, how it contributed to the integrity of 
financial information and the role it played in the process. They shall inform 
them immediately of any difficulties encountered. 

The Audit Committee is responsible for monitoring the legal audit of the parent company and 
consolidated financial statements 
Statutory Auditors. 

In order to fulfill its duties, the Committee must meet with the Statutory Auditors and also with 
the Chief Financial Officers. Such hearings must be possible, if the Committee so wishes, without 
the presence of General Management. 

The Committee may call on outside experts, at the Company 's expense after information from 
the Chairman of the Board of Directors and is responsible for reporting on its findings to the 
Board of Directors. The Committee must ensure the competence and independence of its 
experts. 

The review of financial statements by the Audit Committee must be accompanied by a 
presentation from the Statutory Auditors stressing the essential points of the results of the legal 
audit and the accounting options adopted. It must also be accompanied by a presentation 
from the Chief Financial Officer describing the Group's risk exposure and significant off balance 
sheet commitments. 

The Statutory Auditors must inform the Audit Committee of the nature and importance of the 
anomalies observed in the financial statements, and in accordance with the provisions of 
Article L. 823-16 of the French Commercial Code, of the significant weaknesses of the internal 
control as regards the procedures relating to the preparation and processing of accounting 
and financial information. 

The Chairman of the Board of Directors or the 
Auditors of any event exposing the Group to significant risk. As part of its role, the Audit 

Committee: 

- Ensures compliance with the accounting standards adopted for the preparation of 
Parent company and consolidated financial statements; 

- Examines accounting and financial information, and in particular the financial 
statements, questioning the accounting translation of significant events or complex 
transactions that had an impact on the parent company and consolidated financial 
statements 
; 

- Ensures the existence of internal control and risk management systems, and their 
deployment, and ensures that identified weaknesses give rise to corrective actions; 

- Examines the changes in the accounting standards applied in the preparation of the 
Financial statements, as well as any breach of these standards; 
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- Monitor the quality of the procedures used to comply with applicable financial and 
stock market regulations. 

- Examines, with the Statutory Auditors, the factors that may compromise their 
independence and the safeguard measures taken to mitigate these risks; 

- Monitors the Statutory Auditors' fees budget in order to verify that the proposed 
budgets are consistent with the assignment; 

- Verifies the existence of the process for preparing press releases when publishing any 
accounting or financial information. 

In accordance with the provisions of Article L. 823-16-III of the French Commercial Code, the 
Statutory Auditors must now submit to the Audit Committee an additional report in accordance 
with the provisions of Article 11 of Regulation (EU) No 537/2014 dated 16 April 2014 which will 
include the following information: 

- Nature, frequency and extent of communication with the Audit Committee, 
management body and administrative or supervisory body of the controlled entity; 

- Audit approach and comparison with the previous year; 

- Scope of statutory audit of the financial statements and schedule of completion; 

- Allocation of tasks between the Statutory Auditors; 

- Quantitative significance threshold for statutory control of financial statements; 

- Assessments of events or conditions that could seriously question the entity's ability to 
continue as a going concern, including whether they are material uncertainties; 

- Analysis of the valuation methods applied, including the possible impact of changes in 
methods; 

- Significant deficiencies identified in the internal financial control system or in its 
accounting system; 

- Any other important point for the Audit Committee, for the oversight of the process 
Financial information. 

 
At its meeting of the Board of Directors held on 25 March 2020, the Board of Directors proposed to 
the Committee that a procedure be set up by the Board of Directors to make it possible to regularly 
assess whether agreements relating to day to day transactions concluded under normal 
conditions meet these conditions. Persons directly or indirectly interested in one of these 
conventions shall not be able to participate in the assessment. 

 
 

5.3 Strategy Committee 
 

 
On 23 January 2015, the Board of Directors decided to 
Set up a Strategy Committee. 

 

Composition 

The Strategy Committee has at least three (3) members chosen from among the members of 
the Board of Directors, including non voting Directors. The Chief Executive Officer and the 
Deputy Chief Executive Officer (if any) are ex officio members of the Strategy Committee. 

At the date of this report, the Strategy Committee had the following members: 

- Michel Artières (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer), 

- Mr Benoit Fouchard, 
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- Gaudeto sprl, represented by Jacques Galloy. 

It is chaired by Michel Artières (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer). 

Duties - Operation 

The Strategy Committee is responsible for analysing the Group's major strategic orientations. It 

prepares the work of the Board of Directors on topics of major strategic interest 
Such as: 

- External growth opportunities, 

- Disinvestment opportunities, 

- Development focus, 

- Financial and stock market strategies, 

- Review of the document for submission to the Works Council on the 
The Company's strategic orientations and their consequences; 

- And more generally, any option deemed essential for the group's future. 
 
 

6. Control of the Company 
 

 
6.1 Position of Statutory Auditors  

 

 
 

We remind you that the term of office of the Statutory Auditors of BL2A will expire at the end of 
this fiscal year and that, consequently, a resolution to renew the term of office will be submitted 
to the shareholders at the Annual General Meeting to be held on 9 June 2021. We also remind 
you that the term of office of the substitute statutory auditor also expires and that the company 
has received Axen & Gu's candidacy for this term, which will also be put to the vote at the 
Shareholders' Meeting of 9 June 2021. 

 
 

6.2 Agreements governed by Article L. 225-37-4 para. 2 of the French Commercial Code 
 

 
None. 
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7. Participation and powers of shareholders in General Meetings 

 

 
The various information relating to shareholder participation in General Meetings is set out in 
Article 22 of the bylaws. 

The prior notice of meeting published in the BALO published by the Company before any 
meeting recalls all the terms and conditions applicable to the participation of shareholders in 
meetings. 
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B/REMUNERATION POLICY FOR CORPORATE OFFICERS 
 

 
 

1. Rules and principles for determining the compensation of Corporate Officers 
 

 
1.1 Employment contract 

 

 
To date, no executive director or corporate officer is bound by a 
Work. 
 
 

1.2 Compensation of corporate officers 
 

 
In accordance with recommendation R13 of the Middlenext Code, the principles for determining 
executive compensation must meet the criteria of completeness, balance, benchmark, 
consistency, readability, measurement and transparency. 

 
Michel Artières, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer 

Since the Board of Directors' decision of 23 September 2020, on the recommendation of the 
Nominations and Compensation Committee, Michel Artières has ratified a directorship 
agreement for his role as Chief Executive Officer, with retroactive effects to 1 July 2020. SEREITRA, 
a limited liability company of which it is the manager and sole partner, had entered into an 
assistance agreement with the Company. The Board of Directors of SEREITRA, dated 23 
September 2020, confirmed its termination with retroactive effect from 30 June 2020. 

The services provided by SEREITRA under this contract consisted of management and 
management as well as commercial assistance to the Company. Michel Artières therefore carries 
out his duties as Chief Executive Officer as defined by this agreement.  
 
 

1.3 Compensation policy for Corporate Officers 
 

 

In accordance with the provisions of Article L. 225-37-2 of the French Commercial Code (Code 
de commerce), the Board of Directors establishes a remuneration policy for Corporate Officers. 

The compensation policy for Corporate Officers is in the Company's best interests, contributes to 
its long term viability and is in line with ATEME's development strategy.  

The remuneration policy for corporate officers takes into account the compensation and 
employment conditions of the Company's employees.  

The compensation policy for Corporate Officers describes all components of the fixed and 
variable compensation of the Company's Corporate Officers (Chairman, Chief Executive Officer 
or Deputy Chief Executive Officers and member of the Board of Directors). It must be submitted 
to the vote of the shareholders at the Annual General Meeting called to approve the financial 
statements for the previous financial year. Draft resolutions must be prepared by the Board of 
Directors and are presented in the appendix to this Corporate Governance Report for the 
purpose of being submitted to the Ordinary General Meeting of Shareholders for approval at 
least once each year and at the time of each significant change in the remuneration policy. 

 

We have prepared the report and the text of the related draft resolutions included in Appendix 
3 to this report in accordance with the provisions of Article L. 225-37-2 of the French Commercial 
Code (Code de commerce) in order to report to you on the criteria and principles for determining 
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the compensation of corporate officers, which we ask you to approve. 

 
1.4 Deferred compensation 

 

 
The corporate officers do not receive any deferred compensation, termination indemnities or 
retirement commitments referred to in recommendations R16 and R17 of the Middlenext Code. 

 
1.5 Stock options - Free shares 

 

 
The Chairman and Chief Executive Officer was not awarded any stock options or bonus shares 
during the year ended 31 December 2020.  

 
Moreover, no stock subscription or purchase options or free shares have been granted to the other 
executive corporate officers. 
 

1.6 Directors' compensation 
 

 
The remuneration allocated to directors falls within the scope of an overall allocation approved 
by the shareholders at a Shareholders' Meeting.  

At the Annual General Meeting of 10 June 2020, shareholders authorized the allocation of 100000 
euros in attendance fees to be distributed among directors as from this date until the Board of 
Directors' meeting held to approve the annual financial statements for the current financial year. 

Pursuant to the terms of the decisions dated 28 January 2021, after consultation with the 
Remuneration Committee, the Board of Directors decided to allocate 77000 euros in Directors' 
fees. 

In accordance with recommendation R10 of the Middlenext Code, the Board of Directors 
determined the allocation of Directors' fees based on the attendance rate of Directors at Board 
Meetings and, if applicable, the Committees and the time they spend on their duties. It will be 
determined for the financial year ended 31 December 2021 in the same manner. 
 

2. TOTAL REMUNERATION AND OTHER BENEFITS PAID BY THE COMPANY DURING THE FINANCIAL 
YEAR 

 

 
2.1 Total compensation and benefits 

 

 
In accordance with Article L. 225-37-3 of the French Commercial Code (Code de commerce), 
we hereby report to you (Appendix 4) on the total compensation and benefits of any kind paid 
during the year to the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer by the Company, the companies 
controlled within the meaning of Article L. 233-16 of the French Commercial Code (Code de 
commerce), and the Company which controls within the meaning of said Article. 
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2.2 Amounts set aside or accrued by the Company or its subsidiaries to provide pension, 

retirement or similar benefits to executive directors and officers 
 

 
The Company has not set aside provisions for the payment of pensions, retirement benefits and 
other post employment benefits 
Other benefits for corporate officers. 
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C - ELEMENTS THAT COULD HAVE AN IMPACT IN THE EVENT OF A TENDER OFFER 
 

 
 
In accordance with Article L. 225-37-5 of the French Commercial Code (Code de commerce), 
we present below the information that could have an impact in the event of a tender offer: 
 
1° Structure of the Company's share capital: 
In accordance with Article L. 233-13 of the French Commercial Code (Code de commerce) and 
in light of the information received pursuant to Article L. 233-7 of said Code, we hereby report to 
you on the identity of shareholders who directly or indirectly hold more than one twentieth, tenth, 
three twentieths, fifth, quarter, third, half, two thirds, eighteenth (90%) or nineteen twentieths (95%) 
of the share capital or voting rights at 31 December 2019: 
 
 

 
Shareholders 

At 31/12/2020 

% of share capital 

Michel Artières 1.81% 

SEREITRA 9.16% 

Total Artières 10.97% 
Otus Capital 9.39% 

Keren Finance 5.38% 

NJJ Capital  5.1% 

AXA IM 4.59% 

Other < 5% 64.58% 

TOTAL 100.00% 
 
 
 
2° Restrictions in the Articles of Association on the exercise of voting rights and the transfer of 
shares or clauses of agreements brought to the Company's knowledge in accordance with Article 
L. 233-11 of the French Commercial Code: 
To the best of the Board's knowledge, there are no such statutory or contractual restrictions. To 
the best of its knowledge, there is no commitment to hold any securities in force. 
 

3° Direct or indirect holdings in the Company's share capital of which it is aware, pursuant to 
Articles L. 233-7 and L. 233-12 of the French Commercial Code: 
Sereitra is controlled by Michel Artières. 

 
4° List of holders of any security granting special control rights and description thereof: 
Pursuant to Article L.225-123, paragraph 3, double voting rights are attached to all fully paid up 
shares registered in the name of the same holder for at least two years. 
 

5° Control mechanisms provided for any employee shareholding program, when such control 
rights are not exercised by employees 
As far as the Board is aware, there is no control mechanism relating to the employee shareholding 
system. 
 
 
6° Agreements between shareholders of which the Company is aware that could impose 
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restrictions on the transfer of shares and the exercise of voting rights 
To the best of the Board's knowledge, there are no agreements between shareholders that may 
restrict the transfer of shares and the exercise of voting rights. 
 

7° Rules applicable to the appointment and replacement of members of the Board of Directors 
and to amendments to the Company's articles of association 
The Company has a Board of Directors with a minimum of three and a maximum of eighteen 
members. The term of office of the directors is six years. 

These duties shall terminate at the end of the Ordinary General Meeting called to deliberate on 
the financial statements for the previous financial year and held in the year during which the term 
of office of the Director concerned expires. Directors may be re elected. They may be dismissed 
at any time by the Ordinary Shareholders' Meeting. 

Only the Extraordinary General Meeting may amend the Articles of Association. As an exception, 
the Board of Directors may amend the bylaws to comply with the applicable laws and 
regulations, subject to ratification by the next Extraordinary Shareholders' Meeting. It may not, 
however, increase the commitments of shareholders, except in the case of transactions resulting 
from share combinations carried out on a regular basis. 
 
8° Powers of the Board of Directors, in particular the issue or redemption of shares 
Pursuant to paragraph A.3 above 
 
9° Agreements entered into by the Company that are amended or terminated in the event of a 
change of control of the Company, unless this disclosure, except in cases of a legal obligation to 
disclose, would seriously harm its interests 
To the best of the Board's knowledge, there are no significant agreements 
By the Company, which would be amended or terminated in the event of a change of control. 

 
10° Agreements providing for indemnities for Board members or employees if they resign or are 
dismissed without real and serious cause or if their employment ends due to a tender offer 
As far as the Board is aware, there is no agreement providing for indemnities for Board members 
or employees if they resign or if they are dismissed without real and serious cause or if their 
employment ends due to a public purchase or exchange offer. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Board of Directors 

Michel Artières 
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APPENDIX 1 
 
List OF OFFICES HELD IN ANY COMPANY (‘Concerned Company’) BY EACH CORPORATE OFFICER 

OF THE COMPANY 
 SOCIETE DURING THE PAST FINANCIAL YEAR 

 
Identity of the 

corporate officer 
Directorships 
and positions 

held within the 
Company 

Name of any company in which the 
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer 
holds other directorships or positions 

Directorships and positions held in said 
company 

Michel Artières Chairman and 
Chief Executive 
Officer Director 

ATEME Inc. 
ATEME Canada 
Sereitra 
Anevia 
 

Chairman  
Chairman 
Manager 
Chairman 

Benoît Fouchard Director Peak Scientific SARL 
 

Regional Director, Western Europe 

Jacques Galloy, legal 
representative of 
Gaudeto sprl 

Director Gaudeto sprl  
Meusinvest S.A. FRA 100.00%  
Osimis S.A. FRA 100.00% 
A7 Software S.A.  
Trasis S.A.  
Seraphin S.A. FRA 100.00%  
Upper Room S.A.S.  
Group RCF 
HEC University of Liège 
 

Partner and Manager  
Director 
Director  
Director  
Director  
Director 
Director  
Director, and 
Member of the Governance Board 

Joanna Darlington Director EUTELSAT SA 
 
 
EUTELSAT (UK) Ltd 
 
Europe Broadband infrastructure 
 

Chief Financial Communications Officer 
and Head of ta Transformation Group 
Director  
 
Director 
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APPENDIX 2  

 
REPORT ON THE DELEGATIONS OF AUTHORITY GRANTED BY SHAREHOLDERS TO THE BOARD OF 

DIRECTORS 

Date of 
Shareholders' 

Meeting 
Type of authorization 

Duration and date of 
expiry of the 
delegation 

Amount authorised 

Use of delegations by 
the Board of Directors 
during the past fiscal 

year/Amount 
used/Number of shares 

issued/subscribed 
10 June 2020 Authorisation granted 

to the Board of 
Directors to issue stock 
warrants, without pre 
emptive subscription 
rights for existing 
shareholders, to 
categories of person. 
2020 Authorization 
granted to the Board 
of Directors to issue 
stock warrants, without 
pre emptive 
subscription rights for 
existing shareholders 
(200,000) 
 
(24th resolution) 
 

18 months. 

(I.e. until 10 December 
2022) 

Maximum number of 
shares that may be 
subscribed pursuant to 
this authorization is 
200,000. 

None 

10 June 2020 Authorisation granted 
to the Board of 
Directors to grant 
existing or new bonus 
shares (‘AGM 2020’).  
(200,000) 
 
(25th resolution) 

38 months.  
(I.e. until 10 August 
2023) 

 The total number of 
shares that may be 
granted under this 
authorization may not 
exceed 200,000  

 

None 

10 June 2020 
 

Authorisation granted 
to the Board of 
Directors to issue 
shares, securities or 
other securities with 
preferential 
subscription rights 

(700,000 euros; 15 
million euros) 

(15th resolution) 

26 months 
(I.e. until 10 August 
2022) 

(I) The maximum 
aggregate nominal 
amount of capital 
increases that may be 
carried out pursuant to 
the sixteenth, 
seventeenth, 
eighteenth, nineteenth, 
twentieth and twenty 
first resolutions of the 
Ordinary and 
Extraordinary 
Shareholders' Meeting 
may not exceed 
700,000 euros. This 
maximum par value 
shall be added, where 
applicable, to any 
additional shares to be 
issued in the event of 
new financial 
transactions to 
preserve the rights of 
holders of securities 
granting access to the 

None 

10 June 2020 
 

Authorisation granted 
to the Board of 
Directors to issue 
shares, securities or 
other securities without 
preferential 
subscription rights by 
public offering 

(700,000 euros; 15 
million euros) 

(16th resolution) 

26 months 
(I.e. until 10 August 
2022) 

None 



 

52  

Date of 
Shareholders' 

Meeting 
Type of authorization 

Duration and date of 
expiry of the 
delegation 

Amount authorised 

Use of delegations by 
the Board of Directors 
during the past fiscal 

year/Amount 
used/Number of shares 

issued/subscribed 
10 June 2020 
 

Authorization granted 
to the Board of 
Directors to increase 
the Company's share 
capital by issuing 
ordinary shares and/or 
securities carrying rights 
to shares of the 
Company, without pre 
emptive subscription 
rights for existing 
shareholders, and/or 
by issuing securities 
carrying rights to debt 
securities, through a 
private placement as 
provided for in Article 
L.411-2, II of the French 
Monetary and 
Financial Code 

(700,000 euros; 15 
million euros; limit of 
20% of the share 
capital) 

 

(18th resolution) 

26 months 
(I.e. until 10 August 
2022) 

Company's share 
capital. 

(II) The total nominal 
amount of debt 
securities granting 
access to the 
Company's share 
capital that may be 
issued by virtue of the 
above authorisations 
may not exceed 15 
million euros. 

None 

10 June 2020 
 

Authorization granted 
to the Board of 
Directors to increase 
the amount of each 
issue with or without 
pre emptive 
subscription rights that 
would be decided 
pursuant to the 
delegations of 
authority referred to in 
the three preceding 
resolutions 

(Limit of 15% of the 
initial issue) 

(18th resolution) 

26 months 
(I.e. until 10 August 
2022) 

None 

10 June 2020 
 

Authorization granted to 
the Board of Directors to 
issue ordinary shares 
and/or securities 
granting access to the 
Company's share 
capital in the event of a 
public exchange offer 
initiated by the 
Company 

(700,000 euros; 15 million 
euros) 

(19th resolution) 

26 months 
(I.e. until 10 August 
2022) 

None 

10 June 2020 
 

Authorization granted to 
the Board of Directors to 
issue ordinary shares 
and/or securities 

26 months 
(I.e. until 10 August 
2022) 

None 
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Date of 
Shareholders' 

Meeting 
Type of authorization 

Duration and date of 
expiry of the 
delegation 

Amount authorised 

Use of delegations by 
the Board of Directors 
during the past fiscal 

year/Amount 
used/Number of shares 

issued/subscribed 
granting access to the 
Company's share 
capital in consideration 
for contributions in kind 
to the Company of 
shares or securities 
granting access to the 
Company's share 
capital 

(Limit of 10% of the share 
capital) 

(20th resolution) 

10 June 2020 
 

Authorization granted 
to the Board of 
Directors to increase 
the Company's capital 
by capitalizing 
additional paid in 
capital, reserves, profits 
or other amounts 

(23rd resolution) 

26 months  
(I.e. until 10 August 
2020) 

Maximum par value: 
700,000 euros 

None 

10 June 2020 
 

Authorisation granted 
to the Board of 
Directors to issue 
500,000 warrants, 
without pre emptive 
subscription rights for 
existing shareholders, 
to individuals 

(24th resolution) 

18 months 
(I.e. until 10 December 
2021) 

Maximum number of 
shares that may be 
issued, purchased, 
subscribed, allocated 
pursuant to the 
delegations (or 
authorizations) granted 
pursuant to (i) the 25th 
resolution of the 
Ordinary and 
Extraordinary 
Shareholders' Meeting 
of 7 June 2018 (BSA), (ii) 
the 19th resolution of 
the Combined 
Shareholders' Meeting 
of 8 June 2017 (SO) 
and (iii) the 24th 
resolution of the 
Combined 
Shareholders' Meeting 
of 9 June 2016 (AGM): 
500,000  

1 - Board of Directors 
Meeting on 5 
November 2018 

Number of shares 
granted: 28,000 (‘BSA 
2018-1’) 
Subscription price: 10.8 
euros 
Opening date: 1 
December 2019 
Maturity date: 4 
November 2026 
inclusive 
 
2 - Board of Directors 
Meeting on 18 July 
2019 
 
Number of shares 
granted: 45,000 (‘BSA 
2018-2’) 
Subscription price: 12.6 
euros  
Opening date: 1 
August 2020 
Maturity date: 17 July 
2027 inclusive  
 
 

10 June 2020 Authorisation to grant 
500,000 SO 2020 stock 
options  

(26th resolution) 

38 months 
(I.e. until 10 August 
2023) 

Maximum number of 
shares that may be 
issued, purchased, 
subscribed, allocated 
pursuant to the 
delegations (or 
authorizations) granted 
pursuant to (i) the 19th 
resolution of the 
Combined Annual 

1 - Board of Directors 
meeting of 5 
November 2018: 
 
Number of shares 
granted: 69,000 
(‘N/A 2017-1’) 
Subscription price: 10.8 
euros 
Opening date: 1 
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Date of 
Shareholders' 

Meeting 
Type of authorization 

Duration and date of 
expiry of the 
delegation 

Amount authorised 

Use of delegations by 
the Board of Directors 
during the past fiscal 

year/Amount 
used/Number of shares 

issued/subscribed 
General Meeting of 8 
June 2017 (SO) and (ii) 
the 24th resolution of 
the Combined Annual 
General Meeting of 9 
June 2016 (AGM): 
500,000  

December 2019 
Maturity date: 4 
November 2026 
inclusive 
 
2 - Board of Directors 
meeting of 18 July 
2019:  
Number of shares 
granted: 102,000 
(‘Options 2017-2’) 
Subscription price: 12.6 
euros 
Opening date: 1 
August 2020 
Maturity date: 17 July 
2027 inclusive 
 
 

10 June 2020 Authorisation granted 
to the Board of 
Directors to freely grant 
Company shares 
(‘AGM 2020’) (500,000)  

(25th resolution) 

 

38 months  
(I.e. until 10 August 
2023) 

1 - Board of Directors' 
meeting of 26 July 
2016: Number of shares 
granted: 29,500 (‘AGM 
2016-1’) 

Vesting period: 12 
months 
Holding period: 12 
months 
 

2 - Board of Directors 
meeting of 26 July 
2017: 

Number of shares 
granted: 8,000 (‘AGM 
2016-2’) 

Vesting period: 24 
months 
No holding period  
 

3 - Board of Directors 
meeting of 5 
November 2018: 

Number of shares 
granted: 33,000 (‘AGM 
2016-3’) 

Vesting period: 24 
months 
No holding period 
 
4 - Board of Directors 
Meeting on 18 July 
2019 
 
27  
 
4 - Board of Directors 
meeting of 18 July 
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Date of 
Shareholders' 

Meeting 
Type of authorization 

Duration and date of 
expiry of the 
delegation 

Amount authorised 

Use of delegations by 
the Board of Directors 
during the past fiscal 

year/Amount 
used/Number of shares 

issued/subscribed 
2019:  

Number of shares 
granted: 53,500 (‘AGM 
2016-4’) 

Vesting period: 24 
months 
No holding period 
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APPENDIX 3 
 

 DRAFT REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS ON REMUNERATION 
CORPORATE OFFICERS 

 
(ETABLI PURSUANT TO ARTICLES L. 225-37-2 AND R. 225-29-1 OF THE FRENCH COMMERCIAL 

CODE) 
 
 
 
 Board of Directors' report on the remuneration policy applicable to Executive Officers 
 
 
This report has been prepared and approved by the Board of Directors at its meeting of 24 March 
2021 in accordance with the provisions of Article L. 225-37-2 of the French Commercial Code. 
 
It presents the compensation policy for Corporate Officers which presents all components of the 
fixed and variable compensation of the Company's Corporate Officers (Chairman, Chief Executive 
Officers or Deputy Chief Executive Officers and member of the Board of Directors). 
If no such compensation policy exists, compensation is determined in accordance with the 
compensation awarded in respect of the previous fiscal year or, in the absence of compensation 
awarded in respect of the previous fiscal year, in accordance with existing practices within the 
Company. 
 
The compensation policy for Corporate Officers is in the Company's best interests, contributes to its 
long term viability and is in line with ATEME's development strategy. 
 
 
The provisions introduced by Law no. 2016-1691 of 9 December 2016 on transparency, the fight 
against corruption and the modernization of economic life, known as the ‘Sapin II Law,’ and 
supplemented by Law no. 2019-486 of 22 May 2019 on the growth and transformation of companies 
known as the ‘Pact Law,’ require a vote by the Shareholders' General Meeting on the policy on the 
compensation of executive directors and officers of companies whose shares are traded on a 
regulated market, 
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There are two types of votes: 

 
The ex ante vote, in accordance with the provisions of Article L. 225-37-2 of the French 
Commercial Code (Code de commerce) relating to the remuneration policy for the 
Company 's corporate officers. The remuneration policy for corporate officers must be in the 
Company's interest, contribute to its long term viability and be part of its business strategy. It 
describes all the components of fixed and variable compensation and explains the decision 
process followed in determining, revising and implementing this decision. This vote relates to 
the remuneration policy as determined by the Board of Directors. Said vote will be put to the 
vote annually and was first put to the vote at the Ordinary Shareholders' Meeting of 8 June 
2017 (in accordance with the provisions in force prior to the entry into force of the above 
mentioned Pact law) 

- The ex post vote, to be taken at the Shareholders' Meeting following that at which the 
compensation policy has been approved (aforementioned ex ante vote). This vote will 
cover the amounts of remuneration paid or attributable to each executive officer in respect 
of the previous fiscal year and will, where applicable, require the payment to the Chairman 
and Chief Executive Officer of variable or exceptional items of his remuneration in respect 
of the previous fiscal year. Said vote will be proposed to shareholders each year and at the 
time of each major change to the remuneration policy. At the Annual General Meeting to 
be called to approve the financial statements for the year ending 31 December 2017, a 
proposal was made to the shareholders for the first time. 

 
Draft resolutions relating to (i) the policy on the remuneration of corporate officers and (ii) the 
approval of the amount of remuneration paid or attributable to the Chairman and Chief 
Executive Officer are proposed by the Board of Directors and presented in this report attached 
to the corporate governance report. 
 
In the event of refusal to approve the resolution presenting the compensation policy for Corporate 
Officers: 
 

- The compensation policy that it previously approved may apply; 

- In the absence of a previously approved compensation policy, the compensation policy 
approved for the previous fiscal year will be applied; 

- If no compensation policy was established for the previous year, the compensation policy 
will be awarded in accordance with existing practices within the Company. 

In this event, the Board of Directors will submit to the approval of the Annual General Meeting held 
to approve the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2020 a draft resolution 
presenting a revised remuneration policy and specifying how the vote of shareholders and, where 
applicable, the opinions expressed at the Annual General Meeting have been taken into account. 
 
In light of current regulations, the remuneration (fixed, variable or exceptional) of the Chairman and 
Chief Executive Officer must be approved by a majority vote of the Annual General Meeting.  
 
Accordingly, you are asked this year to approve (i) the remuneration policy applicable to the 
members of the Board of Directors and to the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer for the year 
ending 31 December 2021 (Ninth resolution) and, (ii) the amount of remuneration paid or 
attributable to the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, where applicable for the year ending 31 
December 2020. 
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I - REMUNERATION OF THE CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER 
 
 

1.1 Fixed - Variable - Exceptional compensation 

We remind you that Michel Artières received fixed compensation for his term of office as 
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Company during the previous year pursuant to a 
directorship agreement approved by the Company's Board of Directors on 23 September 2020, 
retroactive to 1 July 2020, on the recommendation of the Compensation Committee. 

The Board of Directors decided unanimously to set for the fiscal year, gross annual compensation 
of 175,000 euros, payable monthly over a period of 12 months, i.e., a monthly amount of 14,583 
euros. 

 

In addition, Michel Artières may be entitled to variable compensation capped at 180,000 euros 
gross, depending on the achievement of objectives  

- 60,000 euros potential for target achievement based on gross margin 
- 60,000 euros potential linked to objectives based on the company's net income 
- 30,000 euros potential related to a MRR (Monthly Recurring Revenues) target 

Lastly, an exceptional variable compensation of 30,000 euros may be awarded if qualitative 
objectives based on Anevia's integration are achieved. Criteria based on (i) obtaining maximum 
control of the company, (ii) retaining talents at Anevia, (iii) and the successful operational 
integration of Anevia within ATEME. 

 

As a result, the Board of Directors decided on the compensation policy of the Chairman and 
Chief Executive Officer under the conditions provided for by article L. 225-37-2 of the French 
Commercial Code and by recommendation no. 13 of the Middlenext Code. 
 

1.2 Compensation of Michel Artières for his term of office as a director 
 

As a Company Director, compensation in respect of his term of office (formerly called attendance 
fees) may be paid to the Chairman of the Board of Directors based on his attendance at the various 
Board meetings held during each financial year. 

During the financial year ended 31 December 2020, no compensation in respect of his directorship 
was paid to the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer. 

 

1.3 Stock options and bonus shares 

The Chairman and Chief Executive Officer was not awarded any stock options or bonus shares 
during the financial year ended 31 December 2020. 
 

1.4 Other remuneration 

For information, the following assistance agreement has been entered into by the Company and 
SEREITRA, a third party company, of which Michel Artières, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, 
is the legal manager, namely: 

- Support Agreement entered into on 1 April 2010, as amended by an amendment dated 31 December 
2017, under which SEREITRA provides assistance and services to the Company, in particular in commercial 
matters. 

 
SEREITRA, of which Michel Artières is manager, receives monthly compensation based on an order 
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of assignment established at the beginning of the quarter and according to the tasks assigned to 
it. The agreement between SEREITRA and the company expired on 23 September 2020 with 
retroactive effects to 1 July 2020 and came into force of the latter's corporate mandate 
agreement for his term of office as Chief Executive Officer. 
 
 
 

II - RESOLUTIONS SUBMITTED TO THE VOTE OF THE SHAREHOLDERS' MEETING 
 

As a result of the foregoing, it is proposed that you approve the following resolutions which we 
put to your vote at this Ordinary Shareholders' Meeting: 

 
 

Ninth resolution 
Approval of fixed, variable and exceptional items comprising total compensation and benefits of 
any kind paid or granted to the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer in respect of the past fiscal 

year  

The Annual General Meeting, voting in accordance with the quorum and majority requirements for 
Ordinary General Meetings and in accordance with Article L. 225-100, paragraph II of the French 
Commercial Code, approves the components of the total compensation and benefits of any kind 
awarded to Michel Artières for the past fiscal year due to his term of office as Chairman and Chief 
Executive Officer, as presented in Appendix 3 to the report on corporate governance prepared by 
the Board of Directors. 

 

Tenth resolution 
Approval of the compensation policy for members of the Board of Directors; approval of the 
Board of Directors' report prepared in accordance with the provisions of Article L. 225-37-2 of 

the French Commercial Code 
 

The Annual General Meeting, having satisfied the quorum and majority requirements for an Ordinary 
General Meeting, having acquainted itself with the Board of Directors' report prepared in 
accordance with the provisions of Article L. 225-37-2 of the French Commercial Code, (i) approves, 
as appropriate, the elements of the remuneration policy for the members of the Board of Directors 
for the current financial year as set out in Appendix 3 to the Corporate Governance Report 
prepared by the Board of Directors, and (ii) approves the terms and conditions of said report.  
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Eleventh resolution 
Approval of the compensation policy for the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer; approval 
of the Board of Directors' report prepared in accordance with the provisions of Article L. 225-

37-2 of the French Commercial Code 

The Annual General Meeting, having satisfied the quorum and majority requirements for an Ordinary 
General Meeting, having acquainted itself with the Board of Directors' report drawn up in 
accordance with the provisions of Article L. 225-37-2 of the French Commercial Code, (i) approves, 
as required, the elements of the remuneration policy of the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer 
or any other remuneration due or attributable in respect of the current financial year, directly or 
indirectly to the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer as presented in Appendix 3 to the report on 
corporate governance prepared by the Board of Directors, and (ii) approves the terms of said 
report.  

 
 
 

* * * * * 

* * 
 
 
 
 
The Board of Directors 
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APPENDIX 4 
COMPENSATION OF CORPORATE OFFICERS 

 
Table 1. Compensation and options and shares granted to each executive corporate 
officer 
 

(In euros) 31/12/2020 31/12/2019 
Michel Artières - Chairman and Chief Executive Officer - Director 

Compensation due for the fiscal year (see breakdown inTable 2) (a) 366,759 321,600 
Value of stock options granted during the fiscal year (detailed in Section 
Table 4) 

  

Value of free shares awarded (see Table 6 for details)   
TOTAL 366,759 321 600 

 
(A) Fees TTC due to SEREITRA, of which Michel Artières is manager, for the period from 1 January 2020 to 30 June 2020, and 
then compensation of Michel Artières under his employment contract for the period from July 1 to 31 December 2020 

 
 
Table 2. Table summarizing the compensation of each executive corporate 
officer 
 

(In euros) 31/12/2020 31/12/2019 
Amounts 

due 
Amounts 

paid 
Amounts 

due 
Amounts 

paid 
Michel Artières - Chairman and Chief Executive Officer - Director 

Fixed compensation (a) 274,340 274,340 321,600 258,000 
Annual variable compensation 63,195 15,790 

 
0 0 

Multi year variable compensation     
Exceptional compensation 29,224 0 0 0 
Compensation of the Director in respect of his term 
of office (previously named Directors' fee) 

    

Benefits in kind     
TOTAL 366,759 290,130 321,600 258,000 

 
(A) Fees TTC due to SEREITRA, of which Michel Artières is manager, for the period from 1 January 2020 to 30 June 2020, and 
then compensation of Michel Artières under his employment contract for the period from July 1 to 31 December 2020 
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Table 3. Compensation awarded to non executive corporate officers  

  
 

Non executive corporate officers (Board members 
Directors) 

Amounts 
granted during 

the year 
ended 

31/12/2020 

Amounts 
granted during 

the year 
ended 

31/12/2019 
Benoît FOUCHARD   
Directors' fees 24,500 14,875 

Other remuneration - - 
Johana Darlington   
 Directors' fees 24,500 15,750 
Other remuneration - - 
Gaudeto sprl represented by Jacques Galloy   
 Directors' fees 28,000 18,375 
Other remuneration - - 
TOTAL 77,000 49,000 

 

 
Table 4.  Stock subscription or purchase options granted during the year to each 

executive corporate officer by the Company and/or any Group company 

None 

 

Table 5.  Stock subscription or purchase options exercised during the year by each 
executive corporate officer 

None. 

 

Table 6. Free shares awarded to each executive corporate officer 

None. 

 

Table 7. Free shares that have become available for each executive 
corporate officer 

None. 
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Table 8. History of allocations of stock options 

 
 
 

 Information on stock options 

Date of Shareholders' Meeting 12.03.10 11.05.11 11.05.11 20.02.13 20.02.13 02.06.14 02.06.14 02.06.14 08.06.17 08.06.17 08.06.17 

TOTAL Date of Board of Directors' meeting 
04.05.10 11.05.11 07.03.13 07.03.13 24.03.14 20.01.16 04.05.16 28.03.17 05.11.18 18.07.19 

06.05.20 

 

Total number of shares that can be subscribed 
or purchased  152,000 42,000 92,400 117,500 92,500 80,000 30,000 106,500 69,000 82,000 87,000 863,900 

Michel Artières, Chairman & Chief Executive 
Officer and Director - - - - - - -   25,000    25,000 

Dominique Edelin, Senior Executive Vice 
President and Director - - - - - - -        0 

Siparex Proximité Innovation, represented by 
Dominique Agrech, Director - - - - - - -        0 

Benoit Fouchard, Director - - - - - - -        0 

Ventech, represented by Jean Bourcereau, 
director - - - - - - -        0 

Joanna Darlington, Director - - - - - - -        0 

Gaudeto, represented by Jacques Galloy - - - - - - -        0 

Xavier Niel, Director - - - - - - -        0 

Start date for exercising options (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (1) (2) (2) (2) 
 

Expiry date 04.05.17 11.05.18 07.03.20 07.03.20 24.03.21 19.01.24 03.05.24 27.03.25 04.11.26 17.07.27 05.05.24  

Subscription or purchase price € 5.60 € 5.60 € 5.60 € 5.60 € 5.60 € 4.00 € 3.75 € 9.45 € 10.80 € 12.60 € 12.60  

Exercise conditions (where the plan has several 
tranches) (2) (2) (2) (2) (2) (2) (2) (2) (3) (3) (3) 

 

Number of shares subscribed at 31.12.2020 92,000 40,000 65,400 50,000 62,781 34,375 16,875 49,062 5,000 5,000 0 420,993 

Cumulative number of lapsed or cancelled 
subscription or purchase options 60,000 2,000 27,000 67,500 20,594 45,625 7,500 54,313 18,000 0 0 322,532 

Subscription or purchase options outstanding at 
year end 0 0 0 0 9,125 0 5,625 3,125 46,000 77,000 87,000 227,875 
           

 
 

 
 

 (1) These share subscription plans have been structured in thirteen tranches: A first tranche with a term of one year representing one quarter of the grant, followed by twelve tranches every three 
months, each representing 6.25% of the grant. The exercise of the subscription options is possible as from the first day following the expiry date of each tranche. 

 (2) These share subscription plans have been structured into 4 tranches with a duration of one year, representing one quarter of the allocation. The exercise of the subscription options is possible 
as from the first day following the expiry date of each tranche. 
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Table 9.  Stock options granted to and exercised by the ten employees (non 
corporate officers) having received the greatest number of options 
 
 
 

 
Stock options granted to and exercised by the 10 

employees (other than directors and officers) with the largest 
number of options 

Total number of 
options 

granted/shares 
subscribed or 

purchased 

 
 

Weighted 
average price 

 
 

1 Plan 

Options granted during the year by the Company and any 
company in the scope of the option grants to the ten 
employees of the Company and of any company in this 
scope, with the highest number of options granted 
(comprehensive data) 

 
 

69,000 

 
 

€ 12.60 

 
 

06.05.20 

Options held on the Company and the aforementioned 
companies, exercised during the fiscal year, by the ten 
employees of the Company and these companies, who 
exercised the highest number of options (aggregate 
information) 

 

None 

  

 

Table 10.  History of free share awards 
 
 
  AGM plans 
  AGA 2016-1 AGA 2016-2 AGA 2016-3 AGA 2016-4 AGA 2019-1 
Date of Shareholders' Meeting 
(authorisation) 09.06.16 09.06.16 09.06.16 09.06.16 06.06.19 

Date of Board of Directors meeting 
(allocation) 27.07.16 26.07.17 05.11.18 18.07.19 06.05.20 

Total number of free shares granted 29,500 8,000 33,000 53,500 56,000 
Vesting date 26.07.17 27.07.19 06.11.20 19.07.21 06.05.22 
End date of holding period 26.07.18 27.07.19 06.11.20 19.07.21 06.05.22 

Number of shares vested as of 31/12/2020 29,500 6,500 32,000 0 0 

Total number of shares cancelled or lapsed 0 1,500 1,000 1,000 0 
Free shares outstanding as of 31/12/2020 (in 
vesting period) 0 0 0 52,500 56,000 

Number of actual beneficiaries (subject to 
presence conditions) 31 11 24 42 35 
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Table 11. Conditions of compensation and other benefits granted to executive 
directors and officers 
 
 

Executive corporate officers 
Employment 

contract 
Supplementary 
pension plan 

Indemnities or 
benefits due or 

likely to become 
due upon 

termination or 
change of 

offices 

Non 
competition 

clause 
compensation 

YES NO YES NO YES NO YES NO 
Michel Artières 

  X   X   X   X 

Chairman & Chief Executive Officer 
Start of term of office: 27 March 2002 
Term of office expires at the close of the Annual 
General Meeting held to approve the financial 
statements for the year ending 31 December 2020 
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4. IFRS consolidated Financial Statements as of 31 December 
2020 and 31 December 2019 

Statement of financial position Notes 31/12/2020 
K € 

31/12/2019 
K € 

ASSETS     

Goodwill 3 13,186 - 

Intangible assets  5  10,850 1,716 

Property, plant and equipment 6  2,889 2,435 

User rights 7 2,616 2,631 

Other non current financial assets 8  1,198 823 

Deferred tax assets 25  1,203 1,328 

Total non current assets   31,942 8,931 

Inventories 9  4,436 3,065 

Trade receivables 10.1  31,665 29,333 

Other receivables 10.2  8,335 5,462 

Cash and cash equivalents 11  17,095 10,345 

Total current assets   61,530 48,204 

Total assets   93,472 57,135 

LIABILITIES     

Share capital 13  1,548 1,465 

Additional paid in capital 13  25,137 17,307 

Translation reserve 13  111 104 

Other comprehensive income 13  (217) (115) 

Retained earnings - Group share 13  9,257 3,760 

Net income - Group share 13  (275) 4,607 

Shareholders' equity   35,560 27,127 

Non current liabilities    

Employee benefit obligations 16  1,223 749 

Provisions for charges 17 41 36 

Non current borrowings 15  16,154 5,420 

Non current lease liabilities 15 1,788 1,971 

Deferred tax liabilities 25 28 42 

Non current liabilities   19,234 8,217 
Current liabilities    

Debt on ANEVIA acquisition 3 3,738 - 

Current borrowings 15  4,633 1,252 

Current lease liabilities 15 909 719 

Trade payables 18.1 14,605 10,399 

Accrued taxes and payroll costs 18.2 6,490 3,105 

Other current liabilities 18.3 8,303 6,317 

Current liabilities   38,678 21,791 

Total liabilities   93,472 57,135 
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Income statement Notes 
31/12/2020 
12 months 

K € 

31/12/2019 
12 months 

K € 

Revenue 20 70,739 66,325 

Cost of sales  21.1 (31,836) (30,223) 

Gross profit   38,903 36,102 

Research and development costs  21.2 (12,693) (9,570) 

Marketing and sales expenses  21.3 (20,171) (18,588) 

General and administrative expenses  21.4 (4,133) (3,214) 

Recurring operating income   1,906 4,730 

Other recurring operating income and expenses 21.5 (713) - 

Operating income   1,193 4,730 

Financial expenses 24 (327) (188) 

Financial income 24 34 26 

Foreign exchange gains and losses 24 (1,089) (37) 

Profit before tax   (189) 4,531 

Income tax expense/benefit 25 (86) 76 

Net income   (275) 4,607 

Group share  (275) 4,607 

Non controlling interests   - 
Weighted average number of shares outstanding for basic 
earnings  10,585,138 10,437,124 

Weighted average number of shares outstanding for diluted 
earnings per share  11,027,161 10,708,902 

Basic earnings per share (€/share) 26 (0.03) 0.44 

Diluted earnings per share (€/share) 26 (0.03) 0.43 

 
 

IFRS 
Consolidated statement of comprehensive income 

31/12/2020 
K € 

31/12/2019 
K € 

Net income for the year (275) 4,607 

Actuarial gains and losses (109) (56) 

Items not to be reclassified to profit or loss (109) (56) 

Translation adjustments on consolidation 7 (14) 

Tax effect related to these items 7 14 

Items to be reclassified to profit or loss 14 - 
    

Global income (370) 4,550 
   

Group share (370) 4,550 

Non controlling interests - - 
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Change in shareholders' equity 

 

Consolidated statement of changes in equity 

Share 
capital 

Number of 
shares 

Share 
capital 

K € 

Share 
premium 

K € 

Reserves 
and 
 Net 

income 
K € 

Impairment 
losses  

Conversion 
K € 

Actuarial 
gains and 

losses 
K € 

Shareholde
rs' equity 

K € 

Interest  
Non 

controlling 
interests 

K € 

Capital 
resources  

Equity 
K € 

At 31 December 2019 10,464,563 1,465 17,307 8,366 104 (115) 27,127 - 27,127 
Net income 2020    (275)   (275)  (275) 

Other comprehensive income     7 (102) (95)  (95) 
Total comprehensive income  - - (275) 7 (102) (370) -  (370) 
Issue of new shares 497,341 70 7,390    7,460  7,460 

Vesting of free shares 32,000 4 (4)    0  0 

Exercise of stock options 66,665 9 444    453  453 

Cancellation of treasury shares under the liquidity agreement    132   132  132 

Share based payments    1,208   1,208  1,208 

Capital increase costs    (450)   (450)  (450) 

At 31 December 2020 11,060,569 1,548 25,137 8,981 111 (217) 35,560 - 35,560 
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Consolidated cash flow statement Notes 31/12/2020 
K € 

31/12/2019 
K € 

Net income  (275) 4,607 
(-) Elimination of amortization of intangible assets 5 (1,110) (824) 
(-) Elimination of depreciation and amortization of property, plant 
and equipment 6 (1,510) (1,269) 

(-) Elimination of depreciation under IFRS 16 7 (874) (798) 

(-) Provisions 17 (262) (110) 

(-) Expense related to share based payments 14 (1,208) (715) 

(-) Gross financial interest paid 23 (231) (101) 

(-) Loss on disposal of fixed assets 5-6 5 (94) 

(-) Other  (109) (144) 

(-) Income tax expense (including deferred taxes)  25 (85) 76 

Cash flow from operations before net finance costs and taxes   5,110 8,587 
(-) Change in working capital (net of impairment of trade 
receivables and inventories)  19 (898) 3,224 

    

Operating cash flows   6,008 5,364 
    

Purchases of intangible assets 5 (308) (251) 

Capitalization of development costs 5 (582) (497) 

Purchases of property, plant and equipment 6 (1,588) (1,020) 

Change in other non current financial assets 8 (97) (83) 

Non controlling interests in the exercise of BSA ANEVIA 3 702 - 

Newly consolidated companies: Anevia 3 (7,417) - 

Deconsolidation (Anevia Inc)  (21) - 
    

Net cash used in investing activities   (9,312) (1,850) 
    

Exercise of stock options   453 332 

Offset of share issue costs  (450)  

Proceeds from new borrowings 15  12,078 2,067 

Gross interest paid   (242) (101) 

Repayment of borrowings and conditional advances 15  (975) (1,189) 

Lease payments (IFRS 16) 15  (859) (783) 

Changes in assets related to financing activities  8  (56) 257 

Net cash used in financing activities   9,949 583 
Effect of exchange rate changes  106 39 

Increase (decrease in cash and cash equivalents)   6,751 4,135 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year   10,341 6,206 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year   17,092 10,341 

Increase (decrease in cash and cash equivalents)   6,751 4,135 

  
 
 
  

 

  31/12/2020 31/12/2019 
Cash and cash equivalents 11 17,095 10,345 

Bank overdrafts 15 (3) (4) 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year (including bank 
overdrafts)   17,092 10,341 
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Detailed analysis of the variation  

Working capital requirement (in K €) 31/12/2020 31/12/2019 

    

Inventories (net of inventory write downs) 999 (564) 

Trade receivables (net of trade receivables) 689 7,377 

Other receivables 642 (59) 

Trade payables (2,281) (1,650) 

Accrued taxes and payroll costs (125) (904) 

Other current liabilities (822) (977) 

Total movements (898) 3,224 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
(Unless otherwise stated the amounts disclosed in these notes are in K €) 
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Note 1: Presentation of the business and major events 

The following information constitutes the Notes to the consolidated financial statements  
As an integral part of the financial statements presented for the years ended 31 December 
2020 and 2019.  
Each financial year covered a period of 12 months from 1 January to 31 December. 
 

1.1 Information relating to the Company and its business 

Created in June 1991, ATEME (a French public limited company) is engaged in the 
manufacture of electronic and information systems and instruments intended for the 
acquisition, processing and transmission of information. 

ATEME offers products and solutions to cover:  
• Contribution: Onboard set top boxes in mobile control cars and set top boxes installed 

in studios, 
• The ‘File’ broadcast and the ‘Live’ broadcast: Content transcoding solution for all types 

of screens that monetize content. 

Registered office address: 6 rue Dewoitine, 78140 Vélizy Villacoublay 

Number of the Trade and Companies Registry: 382,231,991 RCS de VERSAILLES 

ATEME and its subsidiaries are hereinafter referred to as the ‘Company’ or the ‘Group’ or 
‘ATEME.’ The Company is listed on Euronext Paris Compartiment B. 
 

1.2 Major events in 2020 

 
On 9 January 2020: BT is taking strong measures to combat the hacking of video flows 
BT is intensifying its efforts to combat the piracy of premium subscription content thanks to its 
partnership with leading video delivery infrastructure provider ATEME. BT uses the sophisticated 
encryption techniques provided by ATEME to protect, in the safest possible manner, satellite 
transmitted content, and will offer this technology to its clients worldwide to help reduce the 
number of illegal flows. By using ATEME's inbox, BT's Media and Broadcast entity is able to 
provide the best video quality at reduced speeds and a minimum latency, while ensuring the 
security of broadcasts. The BISS CA protocol used in the ATEME inbox is ideally suited to high 
quality video transmissions, while enabling broadcasters to protect against hacking. ATEME's 
encoder can be used by a multitude of systems and software, and the invisible digital tattoo 
of the flow activated by BISS CA makes it possible to determine the origin of an illegal flow. 
Holders of media rights can also allow and revoke receipt rights in real time, thereby securing 
broadcasts from the source to the final destination. 

On 23 January 2020: ATEME winner of the i Nov Innovation Award ‘IA4SEC Project’ 
ATEME is proud to announce that it has won the I Nov IA4SEC innovation award for its 
technological innovations in the television and media market. The project, managed by 
Bpifrance, Banque Publique d'Investissement, and supported by the Investment Programme 
d'Avenir (PIA), which provides great support for innovation, is dedicated to entrepreneurs. The 
TV industry market is faced with an ecosystem that is constantly moving and characterised by 
growing complexity. ATEME's technological progress allows its clients to envisage the future by 
leveraging artificial intelligence (IA). In this context, ATEME offers IA based solutions to deliver 
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high compressor, bandwidth efficient, high quality, and loyalty video to its clients. As part of 
this project, ATEME is proposing several levels of optimization: In coding core, which enables a 
reduction in binary flow, in adaptive encoding of content for better video quality, and in the 
elasticity of the encoding process, optimizing the media supply chain and the use of cloud. 
 
On 13 February 2020: Vualto is working with ATEME to automate the integration of set top boxes 
Vualto, a cloud based video and orchestration expert, has partnered with ATEME in the 
automated incoder integration within Vualto Control Hub (VCH) video orchestration which 
makes it possible to easily integrate several origins and set top boxes. VCH is independent of 
the supplier and interoperable with a multitude of technology partners. This partnership will 
allow operators and broadcasters to easily orchestrate events and channels directly with the 
possibility to start, stop and automatically configure the Titant Live inbox services from the VCH 
interface. Integration offers great benefits to operators and broadcasters who are looking for 
an effective and practical way of disseminating their flows directly. ATEME's wealth of 
experience in encoding premium direct sports content makes it an ideal partner for Vualto. 
Combining the two technologies offers broadcasters a high quality, flexible, agile streaming 
service fully adapted to their business model and end objectives. 
 
On 17 March 2020: PCBL chooses ATEME to broadcast television content in the Pacific 
ATEME has announced today that it has provided integrated decoder receivers (RDI) Kyrion 
DR5000 to Pacific Cooperation Broadcasting Limited (PCBL), a New Zealand government 
initiative that supports unscrambled Pacific broadcasters through the provision of New Zealand 
origin content for rebroadcast, and the establishment of training to encourage the production 
of local content. Key factors in PCBL's decision making were the professionalism, ease of use 
and reliability of the product itself, as well as ATEME's ability to meet the tight project schedule. 
ATEME is recognized worldwide as a long term trusted partner that can help clients like PCBL in 
implementing its current and future vision.  
 
On 23 April 2020 ATEME announced a full day webinary for clients worldwide 
ATEME announced that its real time webinary ‘ATEME 24 Hours’ has been a great success, 
affecting a audience of more than 1,500 unique participants in the broadcast and media 
industry over 24 hours. The ‘pursuit of the sun’ webinary was designed to satisfy all ATEME clients 
in more than 100 countries. First sessions took place in France, before crossing the Atlantic to 
satisfy customers on the east coast of the United States and then joining the west coast. The 
session then focused on Australia and South East Asia, before returning to Europe for closure. 
The company has placed its clients at the center of the event organisation: The program was 
determined after ATEME surveyed them to gain an overview of the challenges they were 
seeking to overcome. 
 
On 5 May 2020 ATEME helped RTL Luxembourg to maintain its pace of activity during the COVID-
19 epidemic 
The Company used its free video transcoding licenses for 90 days for a new customized 
channel created to deal with the COVID-19 pandemic. Benefiting from ATEME's value 
proposition regarding bandwidth efficiency and high quality experience for its OTT service, RTL 
Luxembourg had to react quickly to adapt to the new rules of social distance and quarantine, 
as well as changing viewing habits, using ATEME's TITAN Live licenses for this purpose. Designed 
specifically for these types of challenges, ATEME's 90 day free offering enabled RTL Luxembourg 
not only to adapt its OTT service but also to perform full, uninterrupted remote monitoring. 
 
On 9 June 2020, ATEME joined with SES in testing the first live UHD broadcast with VVC. 
The test showed the following benefits of VVC: 

• Optimized bandwidth efficiency: VVC compression efficiency reduced UHD 
transmission cost 

• Increased hearing: VVC's DVB S2 broadcast increases audience reach and coverage 



   
 

  Page on 74 sur 168 

• Improving the quality of the experience: Offers a high quality visual experience using 
VLC multimedia reader 

VVC is the latest video coding technology developed by the Joint Team of video Experts 
(JVET) trained by experts from ISO/CEI MPEG and IUCN T VCEG. VVC improves the 
compression efficiency of HEVC (High Efficiency Video Coding) by 50% and processes all 
video formats (VR-360°, 3D, 4 K, 8 K, HDR). Its versatility allows the standard to cover a wide 
range of applications, from broadcasting to OTT delivery. 

On 16 July 2020 ATEME is at the forefront of BSI CA Standard with Kyrion and TITAN Solutions. 
ATEME, the leader in video delivery solutions for cable transmission, television, SRD, IPTV and 
OTT, continues to pioneer the next generation of content delivery such as Kyrion and TITAN 
Edge solutions remain inherent to the development and market adoption of the BSI CA 
standard. As a evolution of the Biss Protocol, BISS CA is a conditional open, rights free, secure 
and interoperable encryption standard that includes a dynamic mobile key 
system. Developed by the UER in collaboration with ATEME and other network equipment 
providers, BISS CA enables real time rights management for content flows on any network.  

On 22 July 2020 ATEME announced that Movistar + chose to implement its TITAN solution for 
the distribution of its DTH/OTT services directly. 
ATEME's TITAN solution offers Movistar + a number of advantages, including a simple 
migration to the virtual video header. Titan also provides Movistar + with exceptional 
bandwidth savings in MPEG-2 and H.264, resulting in significant use of the satellite 
transponder, as well as the highest possible binary speed video quality, which is crucial to 
obtaining the best user experience. 
 
On 30 July 2020, ATEME enabled QNET Telecom to provide high quality video coding thanks 
to its TITAN Live solution. 
Titan Live will be used alongside the QNET networks to offer improved video quality to its high 
speed end users and support the growing demand for high quality video content and 
encoding. 
 
On 31 July 2020, ATEME and Anevia entered into exclusive negotiations for the acquisition by 
ATEME of 87% of Anevia's share capital and 90% of its voting rights. 
ATEME and Anevia's main shareholders, together holding 87% of the share capital and 90% of 
the theoretical voting rights of Anevia, entered into exclusive negotiations to transfer their stake 
in Anevia to ATEME. The transaction received the unanimous support of both parties' Boards of 
Directors in advance. An information consultation procedure will be launched with the 
employee representative bodies of the Company and ATEME. 
Upon completion of the aforementioned ‘information - consultation’ procedures, ATEME would 
acquire all of Anevia shares held by the majority shareholders, in part by contributions in kind 
and otherwise in cash. The transfer of Anevia Company shares to ATEME would be followed by 
the filing by ATEME of a simplified alternative tender offer comprising a simplified mixed tender 
offer, and as an alternative offer, a simplified public tender offer on all shares and securities 
giving access to the share capital of Anevia which would not be held by ATEME on that date, 
in accordance with applicable laws and regulations, and then, as the case may be, by a 
squeeze out.  
 
 
Acquisition of Anevia 
 
On 6 October 2020, ATEME and Anevia announced the signature of final agreements to transfer 
the majority shareholders' interest in the Company to ATEME. The purchase covers all of the 
Company's shares held by the majority shareholders, partly through contributions in kind and 
the balance in cash. 
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On 26 October 2020, ATEME announced that Anevia's major shareholders would contribute a 
majority stake in Anevia, and that its governance structure would be reorganized following the 
takeover by ATEME. The total purchase price was € 21145 k (see Note 3). 
 
On 9 November 2020 ATEME launched a simplified alternative public offer consisting of a 
simplified mixed public offer and, as an alternative, a simplified public tender offer for the 
shares and shares and warrants of Anevia, respectively. 
 

1.3 Impact of the COVID-19 health crisis on the financial statements at 31 December 2020 

Full operational continuity during the crisis 
 
In this period of uncertainty, ATEME's priorities have been twofold: Protect the health and well 
being of its employees and partners, in strict compliance with official guidelines to stop the 
spread of the virus, and provide all possible support to customers. Containment has been 
imposed in most areas where we do business. Fortunately, we have a well proven and active 
working culture and a well established business continuity plan to ensure the full continuity of 
all our operations, including R & D, 24/7 support and supply chain functions. 
 
In particular: 
 

• TITAN demonstrations, deliveries and facilities, the ATEME software, can be carried out 
remotely.  

• ATEME continues to provide video conferences and other webinars to clients around 
the world including through a 24 hour webinary in mid April where our experts from all 
continents shared their views on market trends and emerging technologies and 
presented ATEME solutions to 1,500 clients.  

• Our research and development team continues to file new patents 
 
Impact of the Covid-19 crisis on the financial perspectives  
 
In terms of revenues, the immediate impact of the Covid crisis was the cancellation of certain 
orders from Kyrion due to the postponement of sporting events such as the UEFA football 
championship and the Olympic Games. In addition, certain clients have deferred their 
investments, particularly those most exposed to a decline in advertising revenues or revenues 
generated by sports activities. Conversely, there was a surge in on demand video consumption 
per subscription and pressure on network capacity. 
On 14 April 2020 ATEME benefited from a loan contract guaranteed by the French State, 90% 
guaranteed by the French State, with Société Générale for an amount of € 4000 k, with a 
guarantee premium of 0.5% per year. 
At the end of 2020, the Company's repayment period was extended from 12 months to 60 
months. The redemptions will start in April 2021. 
 
 

1.4 Subsequent events 2020 

 
On 19 January 2021, ATEME announced the closing of the acquisition of Anevia, a software 
developer for live, deferred and on demand TV and video (VOD), following the successful 
public offer and squeeze out. The total cost of the acquisition was € 21145 k and the 
outstanding liability at 31 December 2020 was € 3738 k (recorded in current liabilities). 
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On 28 January 2021 ATEME announced that it had won a triple award, ‘Technology & 
Engineering Emmy ® Awards.’  
The National Academy of Television Arts & Sciences (NATAS) awarded ATEME three Emmy ® 
Awards for its outstanding achievements in improving media broadcasting, distribution and 
quality of experience. NATAS won ATEME awards in the following three categories: 

- Development of perceptual measures for optimizing video encoding or how ATEME 
can emulate the human visual system. 

- Optimizing artificial intelligence processes for video compression or how ATEME 
successfully reduced the total cost of ownership without compromising on quality. 

- Development of optimized compression technologies for mass treatments or how 
ATEME can help video on demand service providers produce more content and 
better quality in the Cloud. 

These awards welcome ATEME's leading investments in artificial intelligence and data 
analysis. They strengthen ATEME's role as a future partner for key content and service 
providers, supporting them as they move towards new forms of TV, media and video 
transmission. 

 
On 4 February 2021, ATEME announced the launch of the new TV + service at Viya (ATN 
International Group) in the Virgin Islands (United States) 
The new Viya TV + service allows Virgin Islands residents to access state of the art television 
experience through cloud based connectivity. Subscribers access linear content and on 
demand via a dedicated multimedia reader, a Smart TV, or an iOS or Android device. They 
can also take advantage of the TV service, regardless of whether or not they are on all the 
screens of the house at the appropriate time. 

 
On 25 February 2021 ATEME announced to facilitate more than 50% of ATSC 3.0 deployments 
in North America through its TITAN Live solution 
Many leading television channels and stations now use ATEME TITAN Live for their launches in 
ATSC 3.0 as well as for the migration to ATSC 1.0 requiring a ‘repack,’ i.e. more channels on a 
single issuer. Sinclair Broadcast Group has been a leader in ATEME solutions since the launch 
of the first ATSC 3.0 commercial station in Las Vegas in May 2020. It is also a world first, with 
remote operations. This deployment method, facilitated by ATEME, should be extended to 
future deployments. 

 
9 March 2021 Net + celebrated the 10th anniversary of its partnership with Anevia (ATEME) 
Anevia and Net +, a Swiss multi screen TV service provider, celebrated the tenth anniversary 
of their technology partnership. This collaboration was a key factor in making Net + one of 
Switzerland's most innovative TV service providers. Using Anevia's OTT video delivery solutions, 
Net + now offers a wide range of features, including Cloud recording, time shift 
(pause/rewind) and seven day catch up TV. 

 
On 12 March 2021 ATEME announced the integration of AVS2 into its TITAN range.  
AVS2 is the second generation digital audio video compression standard, defined by the AVS 
working group, which aims to meet the needs of the audio and video industry in China. 

 
On March 25, ATEME announced that it would join Digitalrich in offering an integrated solution 
for advertising insertions to clients around the world 
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Digitalrich is Korea's leading supplier of advertising integration technologies. Titan Live and 
TITAN Mux by ATEME as well as Digitalrich's Advertising insertion server are now available as an 
integrated solution for ATEME clients worldwide. 

 
On 2 April 2021 ATEME announced that it had been chosen by Nuuday for its Live and File 
platforms 
Nuuday, a subsidiary of TDC Group, Denmark's largest telecommunications company, has 
adopted its TITAN range of solutions to improve video experience for viewers 
 

 Note 2: Accounting policies and methods 

The financial statements are presented in K € unless otherwise stated.  

2.1 Basis of preparation  

Statement of compliance 
 
ATEME prepared its consolidated financial statements, as approved by the Board of Directors 
on 24 March 2021, in accordance with standards and interpretations published by the 
International Accounting Standards Boards (IASB) and adopted by the European Union as of 
the date the financial statements were prepared, for all periods presented. 

These standards, which are available on the European Commission's website, incorporate 
international accounting standards (IAS and IFRS), the interpretations of the Standing 
Interpretations Committee (SIC) and the International Financial Interpretations Committee 
(IFRIC). 

The accounting principles and methods and options adopted by the Company are described 
below. In some cases, IFRS allows the choice between using a benchmark or other permitted 
treatment.  
 
Basis for preparation of the financial statements 
 
The Group has prepared its financial statements on a historical cost basis, with the exception 
of certain assets and liabilities, in accordance with IFRS. The categories concerned are 
mentioned in the following notes. 
 
Business continuity  
 
The going concern assumption for the next 12 months after 31 December 2020 has been 
assumed by the Board of Directors based on available cash and revised gross margin and 
revenue growth assumptions. 
 
Accounting policies 
 
The accounting policies described below have been applied consistently to all periods 
presented in the financial statements, after taking into account, or with the exception of the 
new standards and interpretations described below: 

- Amendments to the conceptual framework in the IFRS published on 6 December 2019; 
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- Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8 published on 10 December 2019; 
- Amendments to IAS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7, published on 16 January 2020;   
- Amendments to IFRS 3 - Definition of a Business, published on 22 April 2020; and 
- Amendments to IFRS 16 - COVID-19 rentals, published on 28 May 2020 

The other standards, amendments and interpretations did not have an impact on the 
consolidated financial statements or are not applicable 

These new standards and interpretations published by the IASB did not have a material 
impact on the Company's financial statements. 

The other standards, amendments and interpretations did not have an impact on the 
consolidated financial statements or are not applicable.  
 
Standards, amendments to standards and interpretations adopted by the European Union but 
not yet mandatory for annual financial statements 2020 
 
The Group has elected not to early adopt the standards, amendments and interpretations 
adopted by the European Union but which could be applied earlier, and which will become 
effective after 31 December 2020.  
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These mainly include:  
 

• Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8 on materiality threshold,  
• New conceptual framework (not foreseen), 
• Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7. 

 
The Group does not expect the amendments to have a material impact on its consolidated 
financial statements.  
 
There are no standards, amendments and interpretations published by the IASB and 
mandatorily applicable for financial years beginning on or after 1 January 2020 that have not 
yet been endorsed at the European level (and whose early application is not possible at the 
European level) that would have a material impact on the 2013 financial statements. 
 
Standards and interpretations published by the IASB but not yet adopted by the European Union 
at 31 December 2020 
 

• Amendments to IFRS 3, ‘Definition of business’ 
• Revision of the conceptual framework for financial reporting, amendment of the 

references to the conceptual framework in IFRS ‘ 
 
The Group is currently assessing the impacts resulting from the first time application of these 
amendments and does not anticipate any significant impact on its financial statements. 
 
Consolidation principles 
 
Fully consolidated companies 

The consolidated financial statements include, by full consolidation, the financial statements 
of subsidiaries in which the Group holds, directly or indirectly, exclusive control. Control over an 
entity exists when the Group has the ability to govern the operating and financial policies of 
such entity in order to gain economic benefits. Full consolidation means that, after the 
elimination of internal transactions and results, all assets, liabilities and income statement items 
of the Companies concerned are taken into account, with the portion of the net income and 
equity reselling the Group Companies (Group share) being distinguished from the portion 
relating to the interests of other shareholders (Non controlling interests). All material 
intercompany transactions as well as intercompany results (including dividends) are 
eliminated.  
 
Main Group companies as of 31 December 2020 

Subsidiaries 

Subsidiaries are all entities for which the Company has the power to govern the financial and 
operating policies, this power generally accompanying a shareholding of more than half of 
the voting rights. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which the Company 
acquires control. They are deconsolidated from the date on which control ceases. 
Intragroup transactions and balances are eliminated. The financial statements of the subsidiary 
are prepared for the same reference period as those of the parent company, on the basis of 
uniform accounting policies. 
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At 31 December 2020, six companies were fully consolidated. Directly owned companies are 
as follows:  
 

Companies Country Group control in% Interest in% 

ATEME SA France Parent company 
ATEME USA Inc United States 100 100 
ATEME Canada Inc Canada 100 100 
ATEME Singapore Singapore 100 100 
ATEME Japan KK Japan 100 100 
ATEME Australia Australia 100 100 
ANEVIA SA France 100 100 (1) 
    

 
(1) ANEVIA SA was acquired as a new fully consolidated company on 31 October 2020 (see 
Note 3). 
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2.2 Use of judgments and estimates 

To prepare the financial statements in accordance with IFRS, Group management has made 
estimates, judgments and assumptions which may have affected the amounts reported for 
assets and liabilities, contingent liabilities at the date the financial statements were prepared, 
and the amounts reported for income and expenses for the period. 
These estimates are based on going concern assumptions and are prepared based on 
information available at the time of their preparation. They are measured on an ongoing basis 
based on past experience and on various other factors considered reasonable that form the 
basis of our assessments of the carrying amount of assets and liabilities. Estimates may be 
revised if the circumstances on which they were based change or if new information becomes 
available. Actual results may differ materially from these estimates if different assumptions or 
conditions apply. 
The main estimates and judgments made by the Company 's management relate mainly to 
the following:  

• Grant of stock options or equity warrants to employees and managers  
o Fair value measurement for share based payments is based on the Black & 

Scholes option pricing model, which incorporates assumptions about complex 
and subjective variables. These variables include, in particular, the value of the 
Company's shares, the expected volatility of the share price over the life of the 
instrument and the current and future behaviour of holders of those instruments. 
There is a high inherent risk of subjectivity arising from the use of an option pricing 
model in determining the fair value of share based payments in accordance 
with IFRS 2.  

o The valuation assumptions used are presented in Note 14. 
• Revenue recognition 

o Certain perpetual license agreements include a maintenance component and 
a financing component contingent on the transfer of title.  For this purpose, 
comparable data may be used to determine the revenue to be recognized on 
each contract. 

o The accounting policies are presented in note 20 respectively. 
• Capitalization of development costs  

o The Group devotes considerable resources to research and development. As 
part of this process, the Group must make judgments and interpretations 
concerning the determination of development costs to be capitalized as soon 
as all of the six criteria defined by IAS 38 are met.  

o Accounting policies and the amount of capitalized costs are presented in note 
5. 

• Impairment of inventories 
o The Group sets aside provisions for impairment in value of inventories based on 

an analysis of the probable net realisable value of inventories, which is based 
on historical and forecast data. In this context, the Group may have to take into 
account assumptions (particularly regarding technological developments in 
different versions of cards and the risk of obsolescence of such products). 

o The accounting policies and provisions are presented in note 9 respectively. 
• Provisions for pensions and other post employment benefits  

o The Group uses turnover assumptions, discount rates and salary increases based 
on historical data. For this purpose, the Group may have to take into account 
assumptions.  

o Accounting policies and provisions are presented in note 16. 
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• Impairment of trade receivables  
o The Group sets aside provisions for impairment of trade receivables on the basis 

of historical losses recorded on certain customer categories. In this context, the 
Group may take into account assumptions (particularly regarding customer 
risk). 

o The accounting policies and provisions are presented in note 10 respectively. 
• Lease obligations  

o The determination of the lease terms and renewal options used to determine 
the value of obligations and rights of use in accordance with IFRS 16 ‘Leases.’ 
The accounting policies are presented in note 7 and 15.2, respectively, and in 
the section on accounting policies. 

• Allocation of the purchase price of assets and liabilities to fair value (see Note 3) 
 
 

2.3 Functional presentation currency 

The Group's financial statements are prepared in euros, which is the presentation and 
functional currency of ATEME SA. 
 

2.4 Foreign currency 

Foreign currency transactions 
 
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the Company's functional currency using the 
exchange rate prevailing at the date of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies at the balance sheet date are translated into the functional 
currency using the exchange rate at that date.  

Foreign exchange gains and losses arising from the translation of monetary items represent the 
difference between the amortized cost denominated in the functional currency at the 
beginning of the period, adjusted for the impact of the effective interest rate and payments 
during the period, and the amortized cost denominated in the foreign currency translated at 
the closing rate.  

Foreign currency denominated non monetary assets and liabilities measured at fair value are 
translated into the functional currency using the exchange rate at the date the fair value was 
determined. The resulting exchange differences are recognised in profit or loss, except for 
differences arising on the translation of available for sale equity instruments, a financial liability 
designated as a hedge of a net investment in a foreign operation, or instruments qualified as 
cash flow hedges, which are recognised directly in equity. 
 
Translation of the financial statements of foreign subsidiaries 
 
The euro, used as the presentation currency, is the currency in which most cash flows are 
generated within the Group. The Company's functional currency is the euro and the functional 
currencies of its subsidiaries are as follows: 

• ATEME SA Inc.: US Dollar 
• ATEME Canada Inc.: Canadian Dollar 
• ATEME Singapore: Singapore Dollar 
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• ATEME Japan KK: Yen 
• ATEME Australia: Australian Dollar 

The financial statements of Group entities whose functional currencies are different from the 
euro are translated into euros as follows: 

• Assets and liabilities are translated at the closing rate at 31 December 2020; 
• Income and expenses in each income statement are translated at the average 

exchange rate for the period or period which is considered to reflect the rates in force 
at the effective date of the transactions. 

Translation adjustments resulting from the application of these different rates are shown in a 
specific line item in shareholders' equity, ‘Cumulative translation adjustments.’ 

As of 31 December 2020, the Japanese subsidiary was considered as a net long term 
investment in accordance with IAS 21. The impact on translation reserves in the financial 
statements at 31 December 2020 was € 49 k. 

 

2.5 Current and non current provisions 

The Group applies a balance sheet presentation distinguishing between current and non 
current portions of assets and liabilities. 
The distinction between current and non current items was made in accordance with the 
following rules: 

• Assets and liabilities contributing to working capital used in the entity 's normal operating 
cycle are classified as ‘current’; 

• Assets and liabilities that fall outside the normal operating cycle are classified as 
‘current’ and ‘non current’ depending on whether they mature within one year or after 
the specific cases specified in IAS 1. 

 

2.6 Recoverable amount of non current assets 

Amortizable assets are tested for impairment whenever there is an internal or external 
indication that an asset may be impaired. 

As of 31 December 2020 and 2019, there were no internal or external indications of impairment 
in the non current assets. 
 

2.7 Receivables and payables denominated in foreign currency 

Liabilities and receivables denominated in foreign currencies are recognised at the exchange 
rate on the initial transaction. At the balance sheet date, the corresponding asset and liability 
items are measured at the closing rate. 
 

2.8 Segment information 

The Group operates in a single segment: ‘Marketing of professional video compression 
solutions.’ 
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The assets and business presented are located in France. Revenue by geographical area is 
described in Note 20.  

Research and development costs, most of the administrative costs are incurred in France. At 
this stage, these costs are not allocated to the geographical areas in which these products are 
marketed.  

Thus, the Company's performance is currently analyzed at the level of the identified segment. 
The Company follows two performance indicators: 

- Revenue 
- Restated EBITDA (see Note 22) 

 

2.9 Other comprehensive income 

Items of income and expense for the period that are recognised directly in equity are shown, 
where appropriate, under the heading ‘Other comprehensive income.’ 
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Note 3: Business combinations and business transfers 

 
 
On 26 October 2020, the Company acquired 87% of the shares of Anevia for € 17407 k. This 
amount comprised a cash payment of € 9947 k and a contribution of ATEME shares through a 
capital increase of € 7460 k. It has been consolidated as from 31 October 2020.  
 
A simplified Alternative public tender offer for the shares and BSA of ANEVIA that were not 
tendered in connection with the acquisition of control block was initiated on 8 December 2020 
with a view to obtaining 100% of Anevia's shares. As a result of the acquisition of more than 

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method as defined in IFRS 3. 
Under this method, the acquiree's identifiable assets and liabilities assumed are recognized 
at their fair value at the acquisition date. 
 
Goodwill arising from the business combination is measured as the excess of the total 
consideration transferred, the amount of any non controlling interest and, where 
applicable, the fair value of any previously held interest, over the net of the acquisition date 
amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed. Goodwill is 
measured in the functional currency of the acquired entity and recognized in assets in the 
statement of financial position. 
 
The Group may elect, on an individual transaction basis, at the acquisition date, to measure 
non controlling interests either at fair value (full goodwill method) or at the share of fair value 
of the acquiree's identifiable net assets (partial goodwill method). 
 
In accordance with IFRS, goodwill is not amortizable but is tested for impairment annually 
and whenever there is an indication that it may be impaired that its carrying amount may 
be impaired (see Notes 3 and 4).  
 
Negative goodwill is identified when the business combination is carried out on 
advantageous terms. The resulting gain is recognized in profit or loss on the acquisition date. 
 
Acquisition related costs are expensed in the periods in which the costs are incurred and 
the services received. 
Pursuant to IFRS 3, the Group has a measurement period to finalize the accounting for 
business combinations, which ends when all the necessary information has been obtained 
and no later than one year after the acquisition date. 
 
In accounting for acquisitions of joint ventures, the Group applies the acquisition method as 
defined by IFRS 3, Business Combinations. 
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90% of the shares, the squeeze out of the shares and BSA not contributed in the two previous 
transactions was completed on 19 January 2021. Combining with Anevia and its efficient 
solutions to optimise delivery of flows is a key step in the Group 's expansion strategy in the 
value chain of its customers and in winning new markets. 
 
The total transaction between 26 October 2020 and 19 January 2021 was financed by € 12561 
k in cash, of which € 2614 k was paid out in January 2021, and € 8584 k in cash, with a 
corresponding increase in ATEME shares, of which € 1124 k in January 2021. The total cost of the 
acquisition was € 21145 k and the outstanding liability at 31 December 2020 was € 3738 k 
(recorded in current liabilities). 
 
Costs incurred by ATEME on the entire transaction amounted to € 1173 k, of which € 450 k was 
deducted from the premium. 
 
The acquisition of non controlling interests was analyzed as a single business combination (by 
analogy with IFRS 10 B.97 on disposals resulting in a loss of control), the public tender offer 
(‘alternative’) and the squeeze out procedure as only economically justified by the acquisition 
of the controlling interest. Therefore, goodwill is calculated based on the acquisition price of 
100% without generating any non controlling interests, but on recognising a liability under 
current liabilities for transactions unwound in January 2021. 
 
(In € thousands)   
   
Cash paid 9,947 
Cash and cash equivalents acquired (2,535) 
  
Net cash related to the acquisition of Anevia as of 31 December 2020  7,413 

 
The BSA ANEVIA held by minority shareholders were exercised between the acquisition date 
and 31 December 2020 for an amount of € 702 k. 
 
Acquisition accounting is presented below: 
 
Fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities at transaction 
date (in thousands of euros)   

Intangible assets (1) 9,354 
Property, plant and equipment 406 
User rights  382 
Other non current assets 438 
Other current assets 4,668 
Cash and cash equivalents 2,530 
BSA exercised between October 26 and 31 December 2020 702 
Borrowings (3,059) 
Lease obligations (403) 
Other non current liabilities (261) 
Other current liabilities (5,264) 
Deferred income (1,533) 
Net assets acquired  7,960 
Purchase price 21,145 
Goodwill 13,186 

 
(1) This amount corresponds to technology and intellectual property for a gross amount of € 9350 k, 

recognized using the royalty method.  
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At 31 December 2020, Anevia's contribution from its acquisition (i.e. for a period of 2 months) 
to Group sales amounted to 5.3 million euros. The contribution in terms of net income 
amounted to a profit of 1.8 million euros.  
 
Had Anevia's acquisition taken place on 1 January 2020, Anevia's contribution to Group sales 
at 31 December 2020 would have been 14.7 million euros, compared with recurring 
operating income of € 1168 k and net income of € 1553 k   

Note 4: Goodwill 

 
At 31 December 2020, goodwill recognized on the acquisition of ANEVIA amounted to € 
13186 k (see note 3). 

Determination of goodwill:  

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the total of: 

I. the consideration transferred; 

(II) the amount of any non controlling interest in the acquiree; and 

III. in a business combination achieved in stages, of the fair value of the acquirer's previously held 
interest in the acquiree; 

Compared to the net book value of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. 

The amount of goodwill recognized at the acquisition date cannot be adjusted after the end of the 
measurement period. Goodwill relating to investments in associates and joint ventures is respectively 
recorded under ‘Investments in associates.’ 

Measurement of goodwill 

Goodwill is not amortized but is tested for impairment annually, or more frequently if there is an 
indication that it may be impaired. Impairment tests are carried out at the level of cash generating 
units (CGUs), which constitute groups of assets generating cash inflows that are largely independent 
of the cash inflows from other cash generating units. 

The impairment tests will be carried out as from 31 December 2021. 

The acquisition of ANEVIA applied IFRS 3 to business combinations. 
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Note 5: Intangible assets 

Intangible assets primarily consist of licenses, software development and development 
costs. 
Research and development costs 
Research costs are systematically expensed. 
In accordance with IAS 38, development costs are recognized as an intangible asset only if 
all the following criteria are met: 

a) Technical feasibility of completing the development project, 
b) The Company's intention to complete the intangible asset, 
c) Ability to use the intangible asset, 
d) How the asset will generate probable future economic benefits; 
e) The availability of technical, financial and other resources to complete the 

intangible asset and 
f) Reliable measurement of development expenditure. 

Capitalised expenses that are directly attributable to the asset 's production and include: 
• Costs of services used or consumed in generating the intangible asset; 
• Wages and expenses of personnel committed to generate the asset. 

Expenditures are capitalised only from the date on which the conditions for the intangible 
asset are met. Expenditures cease to be recognised as assets when the intangible asset is 
ready for use and sale. 

Development costs carried in assets are amortised on a straight line basis over a 1 to 4 year 
period, depending on their useful life. 

The amortisation charge for capitalized development costs is presented in the ‘Research 
and development expenses’ category. 
Software 
Acquisition related costs are capitalized on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and 
bring to use the software concerned. 
Other intangible assets 
In accordance with IAS 38 criteria, acquired intangible assets are recognized as assets at 
acquisition cost.  
Useful life and depreciation expense  
If they have a finite useful life, amortization is calculated on a straight line basis in order to 
allocate the cost over their estimated useful life, i.e.: 

Items Amortisation period 

Development costs 1 to 4 years 

Licenses and software development 1 to 5 years 

Developed technologies 9 to 10 years 
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The amortisation expense of intangible assets related to software licenses and development 
is recognised in profit or loss and allocated according to their use in the following categories: 
Cost of sales, marketing and sales expenses, research and development costs, and general 
and administrative expenses. 
The amortization expense of intangible assets relating to capitalized development costs and 
technology is recognized in the income statement under the research and development 
costs category. 
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GROSS VALUE OF INTANGIBLE ASSETS  
(Amounts in K €) 

Other 
intangible 

assets 
Software Technology Development 

costs 
Work in 
progress   Total    O/w cash impact  

Statement of financial position at 31 December 2019 - 1,100 - 5,154 260  6,513   

Newly consolidated companies 124 174 9,350    9,648   
Capitalization of development costs    520   520  520 
Acquisition  308   63  371  371 
Disposals (83) (33)     (116)   
Impact of exchange rates  (1)     (1)   

Transfer    260 (260)  -   

Statement of financial position at 31 December 2020 41 1,548 9,350 5,933 63  16,935  890 
                 
DEPRECIATION                 

Statement of financial position at 31 December 2019 - 900 - 3,897 -  4,798  - 
Newly consolidated companies 124 170     293   
Increase  299 144 667   1,110   
Disposals (83) (32)     (115)   

Transfer to rights of use (IFRS 16)  (1) 
 

   (1)   

Statement of financial position at 31 December 2020 41 1,336 144 4,565 -  6,085  - 
                  
NET BOOK VALUE                 
At 31 December 2019 - 199 - 1,257 260  1,715    

At 31 December 2020 - 213 9,206 1,369 63  10,850    
 

The projects whose development costs have been capitalised relate to the Kyrion, TITAN File and TITAN Live projects for the years 2010 to 2020.  

The health crisis linked to the Covid-19, although not in itself an indication of impairment, did not call into question the Group 's medium term business forecasts. 
No impairment losses have therefore been recognized in accordance with IAS 36. 

On the acquisition of Anevia, a gross technology value of € 9350 k was recognized in the Telco and Enterprise product lines. They are amortized over 9 to 10 
years. Amortization for the year ended 31 December 2020 amounted to € 144 k. 
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Note 6: Property, plant and equipment 

 
Property, plant and equipment mainly consists of IT equipment.   
No impairment losses have been recognized in accordance with IAS 36  
In accordance with the rules described in the notes to the consolidated financial statements 
for the year ended 31 December 2020. 
 

Property, plant and equipment are stated at acquisition cost (purchase price plus incidental 
expenses) or at production cost. 
Assets are subject to depreciation plans determined according to the useful life of the asset. 
Depreciation periods and methods used are mainly as follows: 

Machinery and equipment 6 years - straight line 
Fixtures and fittings 9 years - straight line 

Vehicles 5 years - straight line 
Office equipment 4 years - straight line 

It equipment 3 years - straight line 
Furniture 10 years - straight line 

The depreciation expense on property, plant and equipment is recognised in the income 
statement and allocated according to their use in the following categories: Cost of sales, 
marketing and sales expenses, research and development costs, and general and 
administrative expenses. 
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GROSS VALUE OF PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT  
(Amounts in K €) 

Fixtures and 
fittings 

Office 
equipment, 

data 
processing 

and furniture 

Vehicles 
Work in 
progres

s 
  Total    

O/w 
cash 

impact  

Statement of financial position at 31 December 2019 956 7,516 7 -  8,479   

Newly consolidated companies 799 1,344    2,143  2,143 
Acquisition 323 1,178  87  1,588  1,588 
Disposal/Write back (147) (72)    (219)  (219) 
Impact of exchange rates (3) (73)    (78)   
Statement of financial position at 31 December 2020 1,927 9,893 7 87  11,913  3,512 
          

DEPRECIATION         

Statement of financial position at 31 December 2019 555 5,482 7 -  6,044  - 
Newly consolidated companies 601 1,135    1,737   
Increase 170 1,340    1,510   
Disposal/Write back (152) (68)    (220)   
Impact of exchange rates (2) (44)    (46)   
Statement of financial position at 31 December 2020 1,172 7,845 7 -  9,024  - 
          
NET BOOK VALUE         

At 31 December 2019 400 2,034 - -  2,435   

At 31 December 2020 755 2,048 - 87  2,889   
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Note 7: User rights 

General accounting rules on the accounting for leases under IFRS 16: 

IFRS 16 no longer distinguishes lessees between finance leases and operating leases, as 
previously defined by IAS 17.  

Leases are leases (or contracts that contain a lease) that give a right to control the use of a 
particular asset for a certain period of time with consideration.  

Leases that meet this definition are recognized in accordance with the methods defined 
below, except in the cases of exemptions provided for by the standard (duration of contracts 
less than 12 months, and/or low value underlying assets), and except in contracts that are not 
restated because of their non material impact. 

In practice, the analysis has led to the restatement of only real estate leases and office 
equipment. Leases that are not classified as leases are recorded under operating expenses. 
For contracts that fall within the scope of IFRS 16, accounting rules are set out below. 

At the inception of the contract, the Group recognises an asset under the right of use and a 
financial liability under a lease obligation. Assets and liabilities are shown on a separate line of 
the balance sheet. 

The rental obligation is measured at the present value of lease payments not yet paid over the 
term of the lease. 

The present value is determined using the marginal borrowing rate calculated for each country 
over the term of the contract. Pending an IFRS IC decision (see above in June 2019), the 
marginal borrowing rate corresponds to a duration rate (taking into account the profile of lease 
payments) and not a maturity rate. 

The lease term is the enforceable period, which is the non cancellable period, plus any option 
to extend the contract that the group is reasonably certain to exercise, and any option to 
terminate the contract that the group is reasonably certain not to exercise. 

In practice, the terms of the main leases in France correspond to an enforceable period of 9 
years (commercial leases 3/6/9): 3 years non cancellable period and certainty to exercise the 
extension options after 3 years and 6 years.  

The IFRS Interpretations Committee specified on 26 November 2019 that as long as the lessor or 
or lessee has an economic incentive not to terminate the lease to the extent that it incurs a 
more than insignificant termination penalty, the contract will be enforceable beyond the date 
on which the contract can be terminated. After analysis, this interpretation had no impact on 
the Group's financial statements.   
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There are no termination clauses in the various leases and there are no clauses that could 
cause the lessors to pay the Group compensation more than immaterial, if the lease is not 
renewed at the end of the non cancellable period. 

Lease payments are fixed payments, variable payments that are linked to an index or interest 
rate, and the exercise prices of call options that the lessee is reasonably certain of exercising. 
In practice, there are no purchase options and there are no more than insignificant penalties 
if the lease is terminated at the lessor's initiative. 

The right to use asset is measured using the cost model as follows: Cost is reduced by 
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses and adjusted to take into account any 
revaluation of the lease obligation. No impairment loss or revaluation of the rental obligation 
was recognized in 2019 or 2020. In the absence of a call option, assets relating to the right to 
use are amortized over the term of the contract as defined above. 

Deferred taxes on restated lease contracts: 

The Group elected to recognise a deferred tax on the restatement of leases corresponding to 
the impact on the income statement of the change during the period.  

The group has not identified any lessor or or sale and leaseback situations. 

 
The following table sets forth the application of IFRS 16 and the recognition of rights to use in 
assets:  
 
 

GROSS VALUE OF USER FEES 
(Amounts in K €) 

Office 
equipment Vehicles Commercial 

leases   Total  

Statement of financial position at 31 December 2019 1,507 - 2,765  4,273 
Newly consolidated companies   382  382 
Increases  18 478  496 
Impact of exchange rates   (29)  (29) 
Statement of financial position at 31 December 2020 1,507 18 3,597  5,122 

      
DEPRECIATION      

Statement of financial position at 31 December 2019 1,153 - 489  1,642 
Newly consolidated companies     - 
Increase 209 4 662  874 
Impact of exchange rates   (10)  (10) 
Statement of financial position at 31 December 2020 1,362 4 1,141  2,506 

       

NET BOOK VALUE      

At 31 December 2019 355 - 2,276  2,631 
At 31 December 2020 146 14 2,456  2,616 

 
 
The table below shows the rental expense prior to the application of IFRS 16: 
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Rental charges (in K €) 31/12/2020 

Rental expense restated to IFRS 16 984 
Lease payments not restated for IFRS 16  266 

Total Rental expense 1,250 

 

Note 8: Other non current financial assets 

 
OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS 

(Amounts in K €) 31/12/2020 31/12/2019 

Loans 317 275 

Guarantee deposits 325 271 

Liquidity contract - Balance 202 77 

Withholding of Guarantees BPI France 200 200 

Retention of pre financing collateral CIR 98 - 

Cautions Factor 56 - 

Total other non current financial assets 1,198 823 

 
The security deposits mainly concern deposits made under signed commercial leases.  

The Company's financial assets are classified into two categories based on their nature and 
the intended holding: 

• Financial assets at fair value through the income statement, 
• Loans and receivables.  

All financial assets are initially recognized at cost which corresponds to the fair value of the 
price paid plus acquisition costs. 

 Financial assets at fair value through the income statement 

This category represents assets held for trading, i.e. assets acquired by the arrangement with 
the objective of disposal in the short term. They are carried at fair value and changes in fair 
value are recorded in the income statement. Some assets may also be voluntarily classified 
in this category. 

Loans and receivables 

This category includes other loans and receivables and trade receivables. 

Non current financial assets include advances and guarantee deposits given to third parties 
and term deposits which are not considered as cash equivalents. Advances and guarantee 
deposits are non derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are 
not quoted in an active market.  

Loans and receivables are now classified under ‘Financial assets at amortized cost.’   

Such assets are recognised at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Gains and 
losses are recognised in profit or loss when the loans and receivables are derecognised or 
impaired in accordance with IFRS 9. 
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Note 9: Inventories 

 
INVENTORIES 
(Amounts in K €) 31/12/2020 31/12/2019 

Commodity inventories 179 273 
Work in progress Goods & Services 1,494 807 
Goods in inventory 3,114 2,270 
Total inventories, gross 4,786 3,350 
Depreciation of raw materials inventories (20) (20) 
Impairment of work in progress for goods and services (95) - 
Impairment of goods in inventory (235) (266) 
Total impairment of inventories (351) (286) 
Total net inventories 4,436 3,065 

 
  

Inventories are valued using the weighted average unit cost method. 
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value. 
In this case, the impairment loss is recorded in the income statement. 
 

Composition of inventories 
Inventories of raw materials consist mainly of electronic components used for the 
manufacture of Kyrion products. 
Work in progress is identified individually by project codes related to each customer order 
in progress. They consist of study costs (hours of engineers) and material costs. 
 
Inventories of goods mainly comprise finished products (set top boxes, set top boxes, set 
top boxes and third party equipment) and electronic components. 
 
The provision for impairment of inventories relates to components or merchandise that are 
subject to internal lending, testing or repair. Components or goods whose technological 
advances are beginning to render inventories obsolete or with little or no movements 
during the year are being scrapped 
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Note 10: Receivables 

Receivables are stated at nominal value. They are written down where necessary by 
means of a provision to reflect the difficulties in recovering them.  
The Group has opted for the simplified method of measuring impairment on its trade 
receivables.  
Credit risk related to financial receivables and loans was measured according to the 
provisions of the comprehensive model under IFRS 9. No significant increase in credit risk 
was identified in the two periods presented. 

Accounts and notes receivable are partially assigned under factoring and Dailly 
receivables, on a regular basis as required. 
 In accordance with IFRS 9, these transfers do not result in derecognition because the 
Company has retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the transferred asset. 
Accordingly, the entire transferred asset is included in trade receivables and current 
financial debt is recognised in the amount of the net cash received. 

Other receivables include the nominal value of the research tax credit, which is recognized 
as an asset in the period of acquisition corresponding to the period in which eligible 
expenses giving rise to the tax credit were incurred. 

10.1 Trade receivables 

TRADE RECEIVABLES 
(Amounts in K €) 31/12/2020 31/12/2019 

Trade receivables 32,606 29,639 
Impairment of trade receivables (941) (306) 
Net total trade receivables 31,665 29,333 

 
Company products are sold on demand to television channels and video broadcasters. 
Default risk has been assessed as low.  
The provision for customer impairment is calculated on a case by case basis based on the 
estimated risk of non recovery and the statistical component determined in accordance with 
IFRS 9. 
 

Trade receivables by maturity 
(Amounts in K €) 31/12/2020 31/12/2019 

Portion not yet due 16,526 12,226 
Due within 90 days 10,900 10,350 
Due between 90 days and six months 2,230 2,788 
Due between six and twelve months 1,319  1,740 
Due beyond twelve months 1,631 2,535 
Total trade receivables 32,606 29,639 
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Allocation of impairment losses on trade receivables by 

maturity (amounts in K €) 31/12/2020 31/12/2019 

Portion not yet due - - 
Due within 90 days 408 - 
Due between 90 days and six months - - 
Due between six and twelve months 345 117 
Due beyond twelve months 188 189 
Total impairment of trade receivables 941 306 

 

10.2 Other receivables 

OTHER RECEIVABLES 
(Amounts in K €) 31/12/2020 31/12/2019 

Research tax credit (1) 5,130 2,573 

Value added tax (2) 1,557 1,399 

Prepaid expenses (3) 1,335 841 

Trade receivables 278 92 

Employees and related accounts 21 7 

Receivables (4) - 513 

Other tax credits - 34 

Other 12 2 

Total other receivables 8,335 5,462 
 

(1) Research tax credit  
The Company benefits from the provisions of Articles 244 quater B and 49 septies F of the French 
General Tax Code relating to the research tax credit. In accordance with the principles described 
in Note 19, the research tax credit is recognized as a reduction of research expenses in the year to 
which the eligible research expenses relate. 
It is presented as grants under the category ‘Research and development expenses.’ 
 

(2) VAT receivables mainly relate to deductible VAT and requested VAT reimbursement. 
 

(3) Prepaid expenses correspond mainly to expenses incurred in connection with the purchase of 
components.  

 
(4) The French State and other receivables mainly concern receipts related to operating subsidies, 

recognized in the income statement (see Note 21.2) as of 31 December 2019 
 

 
In the absence of taxable income, the tax receivable on the Research Tax Credit (‘CIR’) is 
refundable in the year following the date of recognition. 
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Note 11: Marketable securities and cash 

Cash, Cash Equivalents and Financial Instruments 

Cash and cash equivalents recorded in the balance sheet include cash in hand and at 
bank and in hand. 

Cash equivalents are held for trading purposes that are readily convertible to known 
amounts of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. They are 
carried at fair value and changes in fair value are recorded in financial income or 
expense. They include term accounts that meet the impairment charge. 

Short term bank borrowings are included in current borrowings. In the cash flow statement, 
they are included in cash and cash equivalents. 

Fair value of financial instruments 

The fair value of trade receivables and payables is considered as being the same as their 
carrying amount due to their very short maturities. The same applies to other receivables 
and payables. 

The Company has distinguished three categories of financial instruments according to their 
impacts on their valuation methods and uses this classification to disclose certain of the 
information required by IFRS 7: 

• Level 1 category: Financial instruments quoted in an active market; 
• Level 2 category: Financial instruments measured using valuation techniques drawing 

on observable inputs; 
• Level 3 category: Financial instruments measured using valuation techniques based 

in whole or in part on unobservable inputs, with an unobservable input defined as a 
parameter, the value of which is derived from assumptions or correlations that are 
not based on observable market transaction prices or the same instrument at the 
measurement date or observable market data available at the same date. 

The only instruments held by the Company at fair value through profit or loss are Level 1 
cash equivalents. 

Cash and cash equivalents break down as follows: 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
(Amounts in K €) 31/12/2020 31/12/2019 

Bank accounts 17,095 10,345 

Total cash and cash equivalents 17,095 10,345 
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Note 12: Financial assets and liabilities and impact on net income 

The Company's assets and liabilities are measured as follows for each year: 

(Amounts in K €) 31/12/2020  

Balance sheet items 

Statemen
t of 

financial 
position 

Fair 
value 

Fair value 
through profit 

or loss 

Assets and 
liabilities at 

amortized cost 

Non current financial assets 1,198 1,198 - 1,198 
Trade receivables 31,665 31,665 -  31,665 
Other receivables 278 278 -  278 
Cash and cash equivalents 17,095 17,095 17,095 - 

Total asset items 50,236 50,236 17,095 33,141 

Non current borrowings 16,154 16,154  - 16,154 
Current borrowings 4,633 4,633  - 4,633 
Non current lease liabilities 1,788 1,788  - 1,788 
Current lease liabilities 909 909  - 909 
Trade payables ANEVIA 3,738 3,738 - 3,738 
Trade payables 14,605 14,605  - 14,605 
Other current liabilities 892 892  - 892 

Total liability items 42,719 42,719 - 42,719 

 

(Amounts in K €) 31/12/2019  

Balance sheet items 

Statemen
t of 

financial 
position 

Fair 
value 

Fair value 
through profit 

or loss 

Assets and 
liabilities at 

amortized cost 

Non current financial assets 823 823 - 823 
Trade receivables 29,333 29,333 - 29,333 
Other receivables 92 92 - 92 
Cash and cash equivalents 10,345 10,345 10,345 - 

Total asset items 40,592 40,592 10,345 30,247 

Non current borrowings 5,420 5,420 - 5,420 
Current borrowings 1,252 1,252 - 1,252 
Non current lease liabilities 1,971 1,971 - 1,971 
Current lease liabilities 719 719 - 719 
Trade payables 10,399 10,399 - 10,399 
Other current liabilities 925 925 - 925 

Total liability items 20,686 20,686 - 20,686 

 

The only instruments held by the Company at fair value through profit or loss are Level 1 cash 
equivalents. 
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(Amounts in K €) 

Impact on the income 
statement at 31 
December 2020 

Impact on the income 
statement at 31 
December 2019 

  Interest Change in 
fair value Interest Change in 

fair value 
Liabilities         

Liabilities measured at amortised cost: 
Borrowings from banks 222 - 115 -  

Liabilities measured at amortized cost: 
Bonds - - - - 

Liabilities measured at amortised cost: 
Advances 68 - 68 - 

 

Note 13: Share capital 

Classification in equity depends on the specific analysis of the characteristics of each 
instrument issued. Ordinary shares and preference shares are classified as equity 
instruments. 

Incidental costs directly attributable to the issue of shares or stock options are deducted 
from equity. 

 
Share capital 
 
The share capital is set at 1548480 €. It is divided into 11,060,569 fully subscribed and paid 
ordinary shares with a nominal value of 0.14 €.  
 
This number is excluding Stock Options (‘SO’) granted to certain Group individuals. 
 
 

COMPOSITION OF SHARE CAPITAL 31/12/2020 31/12/2019 

Capital (in thousands of euros) 1,548 1,465 

Number of shares 11,060,569 10,464,563 

(Of which ordinary shares 11,060,569 10,464,563 

Nominal value (in euros) 0.14 € 0.14 € 
 
 
 
Exercice of stock options and allocation of Company bonus shares  
 
In 2020, 66,665 Company stock options were exercised and recorded in the financial 
statements: 

- The share capital increase relating to the exercise of 165 subscription options has not 
yet been noted by the Board of Directors as of 31 December 2020; 

- Each holder paid the share subscription price on exercise of the options for a total 
amount of € 453 k, of which € 444 k was charged to share premium. 
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The impact on earnings per share is presented in Note 25. 
 
Capital management 
 
The Company's policy is to maintain a solid capital base in order to maintain the confidence 
of investors and creditors and to support the future development of business  
 
Dividend distribution 
 
The Company did not pay any dividends for the financial years ending 31 December 2019 or 
31 December 2020. 

Note 14: Equity warrants, stock options, warrants to subscribe for 
shares of the company's founders, and free shares 

Since its creation, the Company has implemented several equity settled compensation 
plans in the form of ‘SO’ stock options or ‘BSPCE’ warrants granted to employees, 
managers and members of the Board of Directors. 

Pursuant to IFRS 2, the cost of equity settled transactions is recognised as an expense over 
the period in which the rights to the equity instruments vest, with a corresponding increase 
in equity. 

The Company has applied IFRS 2 to all equity instruments granted since the inception of the 
Company to employees of the Company, the Group or members of the Board of Directors. 

The fair value of the BSPCE and stock options granted to employees is determined using 
the Black Scholes option pricing model.  
All the assumptions used to value the plans are described below. 
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Stock options (‘SO’)  
 
The following table summarizes the data related to stock option plans as well as the valuation 
assumptions used in accordance with IFRS 2: 
 

Date  Type  Number of 
warrants issued  

Number of 
lapsed 
options  

Number of 
warrants 
exercised 

Number of 
options 

outstanding 

Maximum 
number of 
shares to 
be issued 

Sales of 7 March 2013 SO2011 3 92,400 27,000 65,400 - - 
Sales of 24 March 2014 SO2013 2 92,500 20,594 62,781 9,125 9,125 
Sales of 4 May 2016 SO2014 2 30,000 7,500 16,875 5,625 5,625 
Sales of 28 March 2017 SO2014 3 106,500 54,313 49,062 3,125 3,125 
Sales of 15 November 2018 SO2017-1 69,000 18,000 5,000 46,000 46,000 
Sales of 15 November 2018 BSA2018 28,000 4,000 - 24,000 24,000 
Sales of 18 July 2019 SO2017-2 82,000 - 5,000 77,000 77,000 

Sales of 18 July 2019 BSA2018-
2 

45,000 - - 45,000 45,000 

Sales of 6 May 2020 BSA2019-
1 

36,000 3,000 - 33,000 33,000 

Sales of 6 May 2020 SO2019-1 87,000 - - 87,000 87,000 
At 31 December 2020   668,400 134,407 204,118 329,875 329,875 

 
 
 
       

 Assumptions used - fair value calculation in accordance with IFRS 2 

Type  Subscription price 
per share in € Exercise period Volatility Risk free rate 

IFRS2 total valuation 
(Black & Scholes) 
At the grant date 

SO2011 3 5.60 € 7 years 47.75% 1.00% 336439 € 
SO2013 2 5.60 € 7 years 46.15% 1.00% 329640 € 
SO2014 2 3.75 € 8 years 35.50% 0.54% 39871 € 
SO2014 3 9.45 € 8 years 34.86% -0.13% 413029 € 
SO2017-1 10.80 € 8 years 41.60% 0.00% 257000 € 
BSA2018 10.80 € 8 years 41.60% 0.00% 104290 € 

SO2017-2 12.60 € 8 years 42.57% 0.00% 360185 € 
BSA2018-

2 12.60 € 8 years 42.57% 0.00% 197662 € 

BSA2019-
1 12.60 € 8 years 42.78% 0.00% 167708 € 

SO2019-1 12.60 € 8 years 42.78% 0.00% 405293 € 
           

 
Exercise rights vest at 1/4 of the stock options granted to the holder after a period of 12 
months, and 6.25% of the stock options granted every 3 months for three years.  
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Free shares  
 
The following table summarizes the data related to stock option plans as well as the valuation 
assumptions used in accordance with IFRS 2: 
 
 

Date  Type  
Number of 
warrants 

issued  

Number 
of lapsed 
options  

Number of 
AGM vested 

Number of 
AAUs 

outstanding 

Maximum 
number of 
shares to 
be issued 

Total 
valuation 

Sales of 15 November 2018 AGA 2016-03 33,000 1,000 32,000 - - 368280 € 
Sales of 18 July 2019 AGA 2016-04 53,500 1,000 - 52,500 52,500 663400 € 
Sales of 6 May 2020 AGA 2019-1 56,000 - - 56,000 56,000 704480 € 

At 31 December 2020   142,500 2,000 32,000 108,500 108,500 1736160 € 

 
 
Following the authorisation granted by the Shareholders' Meeting of 9 June 2016 for the issue 
of 500,000 free shares: 

• The Board of Directors' meeting of 26 July 2016 allocated 29,500 free shares to the 
Company's employees.  They are vested after one year of grant subject to employment 
condition. 

• The Board of Directors' meeting of 28 July 2017 allocated 8,000 free shares to the 
Company's employees.  They are vested after one year of grant subject to employment 
condition.  

• The Board of Directors' meeting of 15 November 2018 allocated 33,000 free shares to 
the Company's employees. Shares will vest after one year from the date of grant, 
subject to the condition of continued employment. 

• The Board of Directors' meeting of 18 July 2019 allocated 53,500 free shares to the 
Company's employees. Shares will vest after 24 months following the grant, subject to 
conditions of presence. 

• The Board of Directors' meeting of 6 May 2020 allocated 56,000 free shares to the 
Company's employees. Shares will vest after 24 months following the grant, subject to 
conditions of presence. 

 
Valuation of stock options and free shares 
 
The fair value of stock options was calculated using the Black & Scholes valuation model. The 
valuation methods applied to estimate the fair value of the options are detailed below: 

• The retained share price is equal to the investor's subscription price or by reference to 
internal valuations; 

• The risk free rate is determined based on the average life of the instruments; 
• The volatility was determined on the basis of a sample of listed companies operating in 

the same business sector, at the date of subscription of the instruments and over a 
period equivalent to the life of the option. 

• For free share plans, the fair value of the benefit granted based on the share price at 
the grant date adjusted for any specific conditions likely to have an impact on the fair 
value (e.g. dividends). As specified above no dividend was taken into account at the 
time of the valuation.  
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Breakdown of the expense recognised in accordance with IFRS 2 for the two reference periods  
 
 
   31/12/2019 31/12/2020 

Date Type 
Number of 

options 
outstanding 

Cost of the 
plan 

adjusted for 
lapses 

Cumulative 
cost at start of 

period 

Expense 
for the 
period 

Cumulative 
expense at 
31/12/2019 

Number of 
options 

outstanding 

Probabilised 
cost of the 

plan 
adjusted for 

lapses 

Cumulative 
cost at start 

of period 

Expense for 
the period 

Cumulative 
expense at 
31/12/2020 

Sales of 7 March 2013 SO2011 3 18,000 289462 € 289462 € 0 € 289462 € - 289462 € 289462 € - 289462 € 
Sales of 24 March 2014 SO2013 2 32,125 249988 € 249988 € 0 € 249988 €             9,125    249987 € 249988 € - 249988 € 
Sales of 20 January 2016 SO2014 2 - 65599 € 59649 € 5103 € 64752 € - 65599 € 64752 € 847 € 65599 € 
Sales of 4 May 2016 SO2014 3 5,625 39871 € 35934 € -7165 € 28769 €              5,625    29072 € 28769 € 303 € 29072 € 
Sales of 28 March 2017 SO2017-1 10,938 395092 € 307426 € 52958 € 360384 €              3,125    395092 € 360384 € 29807 € 390191 € 
Sales of 15 November 2018 BSA2018 51,000 285785 € 17522 € 126427 € 143949 €           46,000    269018 € 143949 € 70302 € 214251 € 
Sales of 15 November 2018 SO2017-2 28,000 115971 € 7110 € 54898 € 62008 €            24,000    115971 € 62008 € 30284 € 92292 € 
Sales of 18 July 2019 BSA2018-2 82,000 360185 € 0 € 75384 € 75384 €            77,000    360185 € 75384 € 133600 € 208984 € 
Sales of 18 July 2019 BSA2019-1 45,000 197662 € 0 € 41369 € 41369 €            45,000    197662 € 41369 € 73317 € 114686 € 
Sales of 6 May 2020 SO2019-1 - - - - -            33,000    167708 € 0 € 50495 € 50495 € 
Sales of 6 May 2020 SO2011 3 - - - - -            87,000    405293 € 0 € 122029 € 122029 € 
Total - SO - BSA  272688 € 1999615 € 967091 € 348974 €  1316065 €  329,875      2545049 €    1316065 €          510984 €  1827049 €  
            
                      

  31/12/2019 31/12/2020 

Date Type 
Number of 
options 
outstanding 

Cost of the 
plan 

Cumulative 
cost at start of 
period 

Expense 
for the 
period 

Cumulative 
expense at 
31/12/2019 

Number of 
options 
outstanding 

Probabilised 
cost of the 
plan 
adjusted for 
lapses 

Cumulative 
cost at start 
of period 

Expense for 
the period 

Cumulative 
expense at 
31/12/2020 

Sales of 15 November 2018 AGA 2016-03 33,000 368280 € 30390 € 184140 € 214530 € - 368280 € 214830 € 153450 € 368280 € 
Sales of 18 July 2019 AGA 2016-04 53,500 663400 € - 150924 € 150924 €           52,500    663400 € 150924 € 313658 € 464582 € 
Sales of 6 May 2020 AGA 2019-1 - - - - - 56,000 704480 € - 230130 € 230130 € 
Total AGM   86,500 1031690 € 114667 €  366357 €  365754 €  108,500 1736160 € 365754 € 697238 € 1062992 € 
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Note 15: Loans and other financial liabilities 

Financial liabilities are classified into a single category: Financial liabilities carried at 
amortised cost. 

 
Financial liabilities at amortized cost 
 
Borrowings and other financial liabilities, such as conditional advances, are recognized at 
amortized cost, calculated using the effective interest method. The portion of borrowings 
maturing in less than one year is reported under ‘Current borrowings.’  
 
Conditional advances 
 
The Group benefits from a certain number of government grants, in the form of conditional 
grants or advances. Details are provided in Note 15.3. 
 
They have been recognized in accordance with IAS 20. These advances, which are 
granted at interest rates below the market rate, are measured at amortised cost in 
accordance with IFRS 9:  

• The benefit obligation is determined using a discount rate corresponding to the 
market rate at the grant date. The amount resulting from the interest rate benefit 
obtained on the grant of non interest bearing refundable advances is considered as 
a grant recognised as income in the statement of comprehensive income.  

• The interest cost of repayable advances, calculated at the market rate, is then 
recorded under financial expenses. 

 
Grants are presented at the level of: 

• ‘Research and development’ in relation to support for innovation and the financing 
of research activities, 

• Marketing and Sales for those related to the exploration for new geographical areas.  
 
These advances are recorded under ‘Non current borrowings’ and ‘Current borrowings’ 
depending on their maturity. In the event of a pronounced failure, the loan write off is 
recognised as a grant. 
 
Leases 
 
Assets financed by finance leases within the meaning of IFRS 16, which in substance 
transfer the risks and rewards incidental to ownership to ATEME, are recognised as assets on 
the balance sheet. The corresponding liability is recorded under ‘Financial debt on lease 
obligations’ (note 15.2). 
 

 
 
 
 



 

  Page on 107 sur 168 

CURRENT AND NON CURRENT FINANCIAL DEBT 
(Amount in K €) 31/12/2020 31/12/2019 

Lease obligations (IFRS 16) 1,788 1,971 
Repayable advances 1,268 993 
Bank borrowings 14,886 4,427 
Non current borrowings 17,942 7,391 
     
Lease obligations (IFRS 16) 909 719 
Repayable advances 782 564 
Borrowings from credit institutions 3,848 684 
Bank overdrafts 3 4 
Current borrowings  5,542 1,971 
    

Total financial debt 23,484 9,361 
Due within -1 year 5,542 1,971 
O/w due between 1 and 5 years 16,146 6,414 
Due beyond 5 years 1,796 975 

 

CHANGE IN FINANCIAL DEBT 
(Amount in K €) 

Bank 
borrowings 

Repayable 
advances Total  Bank 

overdrafts 

Lease 
liabilities 
(IFRS 16) 

At 31 December 2019 5,111 1,556 6,668 4 2,689 

Change in 
cash 

Collection 12,000 78 12,078 3  

Disbursement (570) (405) (975) 4 (859) 
Cash flows 11,430 (327) 11,103 3 (859) 

Non cash 
change 

Translation adjustment   -  (19) 
IFRS 16 increase   -  483 
Accretion (78)  (78)  - 
Newly consolidated 
companies 2,232 778 3,010  403 

Amortized cost 39 43 81  - 
Total non cash 2,192 821 3,059 - 867 

At 31 December 2020 18,734 2,050 20,784 3 2,696 
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Breakdown of borrowings by maturity 
 
Debt maturity schedules can be analyzed as follows: 
 

CURRENT AND NON CURRENT FINANCIAL DEBT AT 
REDEMPTION VALUE 

(Amount in K €) 

31/12/2020 

Gross amount Current 
portion 

Due in 1 to 5 
years 

Greater 
than  

5 years 
Lease obligations (IFRS 16) 2,696 909 1,655 132 

Repayable advances 2,050 782 1,191 78 
Borrowings from credit institutions 18,734 3,848 13,300 1,586 
Bank overdrafts 3 3 - - 
Total financial debt 23,483 5,542 16,146 1,796 

 

CURRENT AND NON CURRENT FINANCIAL DEBT AT 
REDEMPTION VALUE 

(Amount in K €) 

31/12/2019 

Gross amount Current 
portion 

Due in 1 to 5 
years 

Greater 
than  

5 years 
Lease obligations (IFRS 16) 2,689 719 1,693 278 

Repayable advances 1,617 600 967 50 
Borrowings from credit institutions 5,111 684 3,777 650 
Bank overdrafts 4 4 0 0 
Total financial debt 9,421 2,007 6,437 978 

 
 
Reconciliation between the carrying amount and the redemption value 

RECONCILIATION OF CARRYING AMOUNT AND 
REDEMPTION VALUE 

(Amounts in K €) 

Redemption value 
31/12/2020 Fair value Carrying value 

Lease obligations (IFRS 16) 2,696 - 2,696 

Repayable advances 2,115 (64) 2,050 

Borrowings from credit institutions 18,773 (39) 18,734 

Bank overdrafts 3 - 3 

Total financial debt 23,588 (104) 23,484 

 

RECONCILIATION OF CARRYING AMOUNT AND 
REDEMPTION VALUE 

(Amounts in K €) 

Redemption value 
31/12/2019 Fair value Carrying value 

Lease obligations (IFRS 16) 2,689 - 2,689 

Repayable advances 1,617 (61) 1,557 

Borrowings from credit institutions 5,111 - 5,111 

Bank overdrafts 4 - 4 

Total financial debt 9,421 (61) 9,360 
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15.1 Due to credit institutions  
 
 

MOVEMENTS IN LOANS TO CREDIT INSTITUTIONS  
(Amount in K €) Borrowings from credit institutions 

At 31 December 2019   5,111 
(+) Change in scope of consolidation  2,232 
(+) Subscription    12,000 
(-) Redemption   (570) 
(+) Grant recognised on PGE   (78) 
(-) Discounting of PGE   39 
At 31 December 2020     18,734 
  

 
Main borrowings subscribed during the year 
 

• BPIFRANCE 
On 7 April 2020, ATEME received an asset loan from Bpifrance for an amount of € 4000 k, 
designed to strengthen its financial position, under the following conditions: 

- Term: 5 years; 
- Rate: 2.5%; 
- Repayment: 4 quarters deferred amortisation followed by 16 quarterly payments 

starting 31 July 2021 
 

• SOCIETE Generale 
On 14 April 2020, ATEME benefited from a loan secured by the French government, with a 90% 
State guarantee, to Société Générale for an amount of € 4000 k, designed to deal with the 
financial consequences of the COVID-19 pandemic, under the following conditions: 

- Duration: 12 months then 60 months 
- Rate: 0.5%; 
- Repayment: Monthly 

 
At the end of 2020, the Company's repayment period was extended from 12 months to 60 
months. The redemptions will start in April 2021. 
 

• SOCIETE Generale 
On 3 December 2020, ATEME benefited from a single disbursement Equipéa Optima loan from 
Société Générale for € 4000 k, the purpose of which is to partially finance the acquisition of 
Anevia under the following conditions: 

- Term: 7 years; 
- Rate: 1.49%; 
- Repayment: 84 monthly instalments; 

 
Following the implementation of this banking agreement, the Company is subject to the 
following financial ratios: 
 

- R1: Consolidated net financial debt/Consolidated EBITDA ≤ 3.5 for the years ending 31 
December 2021 and 31 December 2022; 

- R1: Consolidated net financial debt/Consolidated EBITDA ≤ 2.5 for financial years 
ending after 31 December 2022. 

 
 
Available credit facilities 
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The Company has the following available credit lines: 

• Credit facilities with its banking partners, up to € 150 k, which had not been drawn at 
31 December 2020; 

 

15.2 Borrowings on lease obligations 
 

CHANGE IN LEASE OBLIGATIONS   
(Amount in K €) 

Borrowings - 
Vehicles 

Financial 
liabilities - 

Office 
equipment 

Borrowings - 
Construction Total 

At 31 December 2019   - 398 2,293 2,689 
(+) Change in scope of consolidation    403 403 
(+) Increase 18  465 483 
(-) Redemption  (3) (211) (645) (859) 
(+/-) Foreign exchange gains and losses    (19) (19) 
At 31 December 2020   14 187 2,497 2,696 

 

15.3 Redeemable payments  
 
The table below shows the change in repayable advances: 
 

CHANGE IN REFUNDABLE ADVANCES 
AND GRANTS 
(Amounts in K €) 

PTZI FEI IA4SEC 
BPIFRANC

E 
Innovation 

ANEVIA 
PTZI   Total 

At 31 December 2019   712 592 64 190 -  1,557 
(+) Change in scope of consolidation           778  778 
(+) Encament         78      78 
(-) Redemption     (150) (100)   (100) (55)  (405) 
Subsidies         (3)      (3) 
Financial expenses   22 4 1 7 11  45 
(+/-) Other movements              0 

At 31 December 2020   584 496 140 97 734  2,051 
 
 
 
The Company did not obtain any new advances which are repayable in 2020. 
The Company received an additional payment of € 78 k in respect of existing advances, as 
reflected in the maturity schedule. 
 
Repayable advances  
 
The part at more than one year of advances received is recorded under ‘Non current 
borrowings’ while the part at less than one year is recorded under ‘Current borrowings.’ 
 
Under IFRS, the Company considers that the repayable advance does not bear the annual 
interest payment and therefore benefits from a zero interest loan, which is more favourable 
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than market terms. The difference between the amount of the advance at historical cost and 
the present value of the advance at a market rate is regarded as a government grant. 
 

EIF (European Investment Fund) Innovation Loan 
 

The company obtained from Bpifrance an FEI innovation loan for € 1000 k to finance non 
material expenses incurred in connection with the industrial and commercial launch of an 
innovation project. This loan is repayable in 28 quarterly maturities, of which the first 8 quarters 
are deferred from repayments at a fixed rate of 3.52%. The loan was collected in November 
2015. 
- This loan was guaranteed by 30% of the principal amount received in respect of the PPI 

fund 
- This loan was guaranteed by the Innov Fin mechanism of the European Investment Fund 

up to 50% of the principal amount.  
 
The outstanding debt at its redemption value was € 500 k at 31 December 2020 compared with 
€ 600 k at 31 December 2019. 
 

Zero Innovation Rate Loan (‘PTZI’) Bpifrance 
 
On 1 October 2015, the company obtained from Bpifrance a loan at zero interest rates (PTZI) 
for innovation of € 1500 k, repayable in 20 linear quarterly maturities as from 30 September 
2017.  
 
The fair value of this advance was determined based on the interest rate of the EIF innovation 
loan, i.e. 3.52% per annum. 
At 31 December 2020, the outstanding debt at redemption value was € 600 k compared to € 
750 k at 31 December 2019. 
 
The Group has obtained from BPI France an ‘innovation’ loan at a zero interest rate of € 500 k 
for the development of a HEVC definition coder. The redemption started on 31 March 2017, 
with a 5 year term and an annual maturity of € 100 k. This loan was collected by the Company 
on 16 May 2014. The fair value of this advance was calculated based on an estimated interest 
rate of 4.85% per year. The outstanding debt at its redemption value was € 100 k at 31 
December 2020 compared with € 200 k at 31 December 2019.  
 

Aid to the IA4SEC project 
 

On 14 November 2019, the company obtained from Bpifrance assistance on the ‘IA4SEC’ 
project in the amount of 709049 €, which consists of a subsidy of 472699 € and a recoverable 
advance of 236350 €. 
 
The fair value of this advance was determined based on the interest rate of Bpifrance's 
international growth loan, i.e. 1.24% per annum (TEG). 
 
The advance will be paid in 4 tranches over 4 years according to the following schedule: 

- 66667 € after signature of the contract; 
- 78276 € as from 31/08/2020; 
- 44138 € as from 31/08/2021; 
- 47269 € as from 14/03/2022. 
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Repayment of the debt will begin on 31 March 2024, at the first euro of revenues unless the 
program fails. 

Note 16: Employee benefit obligations 

The Company's French employees benefit from the retirement benefits provided by French 
law: 

• Receipt of a retirement indemnity paid by the Company on retirement (defined 
benefit plan); 

• Payment of pension benefits by social security bodies, which are financed by 
company and employee contributions (defined contribution plan). 

 
Retirement benefit plans, similar indemnities and other employee benefits, which are 
analysed as defined benefit plans (a plan in which the Company undertakes to guarantee 
a defined amount or a defined benefit level), are recognised in the balance sheet on the 
basis of an actuarial valuation of the obligations at the end of the reporting period, less the 
fair value of related plan assets.  
 
This assessment is based on the projected unit credit method, which takes into account 
staff turnover and mortality probabilities. Any actuarial gains and losses are recognized in 
equity under ‘Other comprehensive income.’ 
Payments by the Company under defined contribution plans are expensed in the income 
statement in the period to which they relate. 
 
The Group 's US employees have subscribed to a 401 k defined contribution plan. 

 
Obligations to employees consist of the provision for retirement benefits, valued on the basis of 
the provisions of the applicable collective agreement, namely the SYNTEC collective 
agreement.  

This commitment applies only to employees governed by French law. The main actuarial 
assumptions used to measure retirement benefits are as follows:  

ACTUARIAL ASSUMPTIONS 
31/12/2020 31/12/2019 

Managers Non 
managers Managers Non 

managers 
Retirement age Voluntary departure (65-67 years old) 
Collective bargaining agreements SYNTEC 
Discount rate 0.50% 0.90% 
Mortality table INSEE 2017 
Rate of salary increases 2.00% 
Turn over rate Strong (see details below) 
Payroll taxes 47% 43% 47% 43% 

The turnover rate is determined based on a study conducted by France 's National Institute of 
Statistics and Economic Studies (INSEE) on new hires and departures by age bracket in relation 
to the Company' s average turnover rate. 

The rates used can be summarised as follows: 
• 20 to 30 years: Diminishing balance rate from 18.30% to 10.90% 
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• 30 to 40 years: Diminishing balance rate from 10.90% to 6.30% 
• 40 to 50 years: Diminishing balance rate from 6.30% to 4.20% 
• 50 to 60 years: Diminishing balance rate from 4.20% to 1% 
• 60 to 67 years: Diminishing balance rate from 1% to 0% 

Changes in the provision for pension obligations were as follows: 

 

Amounts in K € Pension obligations 

At 31 December 2019 749 
Newly consolidated companies 261 
Past service cost 98 
Financial costs 7 
Actuarial gains and losses 109 
At 31 December 2020 1,223 

 

Note 17: Provisions  

Provisions correspond to commitments resulting from litigation and other risks, of uncertain 
timing and amount, that the Company may face in the course of its business. 
 
A provision is recorded when the Company has an obligation to a third party as a result of 
a past event, which is likely to result in an outflow of resources to the third party without 
equivalent consideration being received, and when future cash outflows can be reliably 
estimated. The amount recognized as a provision is the estimate of the expenditure 
required to settle the present obligation, if necessary at the end of the reporting period. 

 

PROVISIONS 
(Amount in K €) 

 31/12/2020 
Amount at 

start of 
period 

Newly 
consolidated 
companies 

Additions Reversals 
Releases 
with no 
purpose 

Amount at 
year end 

Provisions for charges 11 - - - - 11 
Provisions for litigation 25 - 30 (25) - 30 
Total provisions for risks and 
charges 36 - 30 (25) - 41 

 
 
 
 
 

PROVISIONS 
(Amount in K €) 

31/12/2019 
Amount at 

start of 
period 

Additions Reversals 
Releases 
with no 
purpose 

Amount at 
year end 

Provisions for charges 11 - - - 11 
Provisions for litigation - 25 - - 25 
Total provisions for risks and charges 11 25 - - 36 
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Litigation and liabilities 
 
The Company may be involved in legal, administrative or regulatory proceedings in the normal 
course of its business. A provision is recorded by the Company where there is a sufficient 
probability that such disputes will result in costs to be borne by the Company. 
 
Claims and litigation 
 
The amounts provided are assessed, on a case by case basis, on the basis of the estimated 
risks incurred by the Company to date, based on requests, legal obligations and positions of 
lawyers. 
 

Note 18: Trade payables and other current liabilities  

18.1. Trade payables  
 

Trade payables have not been discounted since they do not represent more than one year of 
age at the end of each financial year in question.  

 

TRADE PAYABLES AND ACCRUED INCOME  
(Amounts in K €) 31/12/2020 31/12/2019 

Trade payables 9,906 8,232 

Unbilled invoices 4,700 2,166 

Total trade payables 14,605 10,399 
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18.2 Tax and social security liabilities 

Tax and social security liabilities break down as follows: 
 

ACCRUED TAXES AND PAYROLL COSTS 
(Amounts in € k) 31/12/2020 31/12/2019 

Employees and related accounts 2,789 1,423 

Social security and other social taxes 3,037 1,491 

Other taxes, duties and similar levies 664 191 

Total tax and social security liabilities 6,490 3,105 

18.3 Other current liabilities 
 
  

OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES 
(Amounts in € k) 31/12/2020 31/12/2019 

Advances and down payments from customers - 
RRR 366 362 

Deferred income (1) 7,411 5,391 

Other payables 439 110 

Income tax - 444 

Directors' fees payable 87 10 

Total other current liabilities 8,303 6,317 
(1) PCA relate to customer contract liabilities and are broken down in Note 20. 

Note 19: Analysis of change in working capital 

 

    31/12/2020   31/12/2019   2019/2020 
change 

 

Newly 
consolidat

ed 
companie

s 

 

Foreign 
exchang

e 
differenc

e 

 Change in 
WCR 

Inventories (net of 
inventory write downs)   4,436   3,065   1,371  413  (40)  999 

Trade receivables (net of 
impairment of trade 
receivables) 

  31,665   29,333   2,332  2,011  (368)  689 

Other receivables   8,335   5,462   2,873  2,245  (14)  642 

Trade payables  (14,605)  (10,399)  (4,207)  (2,151)  225  (2,281) 
Accrued taxes and payroll 
costs 

 (6,490)  (3,127)  (3,343)  (3,036)  (182)  (125) 

Other current liabilities  (8,303)  (6,317)  (1,986)  (1,749)  585  (822) 
   15,037  17,997   (2,960)  (2,268)  206  (898) 
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Note 20: Revenue 

The Group's revenues are derived from the sale of professional video compression solutions, 
maintenance contracts and services. 
 
Multi element service contracts  
 
The Group enters into multiple element service contracts for a combination of various 
services or goods deliveries. Revenue is recognised separately for each individual item 
when it is separately identifiable and the customer can benefit from it separately.  

When these activities transfer to the customer control a separate service or good from 
which the customer may benefit independently of the recurring services, they are treated 
separately and revenue is recognized without waiting for the recurring services phase. 
These contracts mainly concern the ‘contribution’ activity, which includes the delivery of a 
hardware including the licence, which makes it inseparable, and a maintenance contract 
for a period of 12 to 24 months. The maintenance contract may be sold independently of 
the hardware.   

Where a contract contains more than one performance bond, the price is allocated to 
each bond based on its individual sale price. This selling price is determined based on the 
‘catalogue’ price. ‘Catalogue price’ is the observable price when an entity sells the 
service separately in similar projects.  The main contracts relate to the ‘distribution’ business, 
which includes the delivery of a right to use a TITAN licence, which is separated from the 
hardware, a maintenance contract (which is optional and independent from the sale of 
licenses), in certain cases a delivery of hardware on which the licence will be installed and, 
in certain cases, a provision of service for the configuration of the solution.  

The licence attached to these contracts consists of a basic encoding feature and multiple 
options to be selected by the customer, making the licence price highly variable from one 
contract to another.  

 
Recognition of revenue at a given date over time or continuously  
 
Revenue is recognized when the Group transfers control of the goods or services sold to 
the customer, either on a specific date over time or on a continuous basis.   

For recurring services, revenue is recognized continuously insofar as the customer 
immediately benefits from the services provided as soon as they are rendered by the 
Group. When the Group has a right to charge the customer, which directly corresponds to 
the performance obligation met on the date, revenue is recognized for this amount.  
  
Intellectual property licenses   
 
These perpetual licenses (without limitation in time) transfer to the customer: 

- A right to use intellectual property as it exists at the specific time the licence is granted 
(static license), These licenses are only subject to corrective updates 

- A right of access to intellectual property as exists throughout the period covered by 
the licence (dynamic licence).  These licenses benefit from upgrades supplied by the 
Group.   
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Since 1 January 2019, the company has offered dynamic license offerings to its customers, 
this multi year offer enables the customer to benefit from unlimited licenses including the up 
to date version of the product roadmap during the contract term.  Contractual analysis of 
these contracts leads to the identification of two performance obligations: 
 

- In the case of a license that was initially sold and that immediately provides profits to 
the customer, revenue is recognized when the license is granted. An analysis of the 
amount to be recognised is performed contract by contract to identify the fair value 
of the licence; 

- One adjustment is recognized on a straight line basis over the life of the contract (in 
line with the ramp up rate).  

The Group has no contracts that fall within the scope of IFRS15's backlog definition. 120-122. 
The Group has not implemented any sales and marketing policies involving variable 
counterparties.  

 
 
Group sales are mainly made up of sales of products (set top boxes, set top boxes, etc.), 
solutions intended for the acquisition, processing and transmission of information, as well as a 
maintenance and service contract. 
 
Until 31 December 2018, the Group marketed static intellectual property licenses with the 
transfer to the customer of the right to use the intellectual property as it exists at the time the 
licence is granted (static licenses), 
In this particular case, revenue is recognised when the contractual benefit obligation is 
satisfied. 
 
Revenue by geographic area for the 2 fiscal years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019 is as 
follows: 
 

SALES BY GEOGRAPHICAL AREA 
(Amounts in K €) 31/12/2020 31/12/2019 

France 5,011 5,730 

Rest of the world 65,728 60,594 

Total revenue 70,739 66,325 

 
 

SALES BY GEOGRAPHICAL AREA 
(Amounts in K €) 31/12/2020 31/12/2019 

EMEA 24,933 24,535 

USA Canada 26,451 24,527 

Latin America 7,549 9,024 

Asia Pacific 11,805 8,240 

Total 70,738 66,325 
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The Group 's largest customer, its five largest customers and its ten largest customers 
represented, respectively, 6%, 21% and 33% of its consolidated sales for 2020; 8%, 23% and 34% 
of its consolidated sales for fiscal year 2019.  
 
The Group has a fairly balanced spread of revenue between its main customers and thus 
believes that it currently faces only a limited risk of dependence on its customers. 
 
The Group's revenue recognition rate was as follows:  
 

Category of sales 
(Amounts in K €) 

Recognition 
method 

 According to IFR 
15 

31/12/2020 31/12/2019 

Static licences, equipment Immediately 55,399 53,487 

Dynamic licenses Gradually 3,362 4,077 

Maintenance Gradually 11,977 8,760 

Total  70,738 66,325 
 
 
 
Net assets and liabilities arising from customer contracts 
The timing of revenue recognition may differ from the timing of invoicing to our clients.   
Trade receivables presented in the consolidated statement of financial position represent an 
unconditional right to the counterparty (essentially collection), i.e. the services or goods 
promised to the customer have been provided.   
Contract liabilities represent amounts for which the customer has made a payment to ATEME 
before obtaining the goods and/or services promised in the contract. This is typically the case 
for advances received from customers or amounts invoiced and collected for goods or 
services that remain to be supplied, for example, for maintenance services (deferred revenue).  
 Customer contract assets and liabilities are presented in current assets and liabilities 
respectively, as they are part of the Group 's normal business activities.  
  
 
 
Customer contract liabilities (deferred income) evolved over the period as follows:  
 

Change in customer contract liabilities  
(Amount in K €) 31/12/2020 31/12/2019 

Opening balance  5,391 4,180 

Amount recognized in sales over the period (4,419) (3,030) 

Amount to be recognised in future periods 6,537 4,241 

Currency translation adjustment (98) - 

Closing balance 7,411 5,391 
 

Note 21: Breakdown of income and expenses by function 
 

The Company presents its income statement by function.  
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Impairment of trade receivables and inventories 
 
Impairment losses on trade receivables are included in cost of sales. 
Impairment losses on inventories are recorded in ‘cost of sales.’ 
 
Operating leases 

Payments made under operating leases, net of any incentives, are recognised as an 
expense on a straight line basis over the lease term. 
 
Subsidies 
 
Grants received are recorded as soon as the corresponding receivable becomes certain, 
taking into account the conditions set for the grant being granted. 
Operating subsidies are recognised in current income, taking into account the rate of 
expenditure, if any. 
 
Research tax credit 
 
Research tax credits are granted to companies by the French State to encourage them to 
carry out technical and scientific research. Companies that provide evidence of expenses 
meeting the required criteria are entitled to a tax credit which may be used for the 
payment of corporation tax due in respect of the year of realisation of the expenses and 
the following three financial years or, where applicable, to be reimbursed for its surplus 
portion. 

The research tax credit is presented in the statement of comprehensive income as a grant 
at the level of research and development expenses, depending on the origin of the 
expenditure. 
The portion of the research tax credit relating to capitalized development costs is recorded 
as a reduction of the asset. 

The Company has benefited from the research tax credit since 1996. 
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21.1 Cost of sales 
 
 

Costs OF SALES (amounts in K €) 31/12/2020 31/12/2019 

Purchases of goods for resale (25,056) (24,623) 
Personnel expenses (4,846) (4,356) 
Indirect production expenses (1,330) (653) 
Transportation costs  (603) (592) 
Cost of sales (31,836) (30,223) 

 
 

Indirect production costs include a share of overheads, production costs, impairment of goods 
inventory and impairment of receivables. 
 

21.2 Research and Development expenditure 
 
Subsidies 
Subsidies amounting to € 415 k are recognized in the income statement and correspond to 
operating subsidies with the following main characteristics: 

- The grant relating to the EFIGI project granted by the Ile de France Region in the 
amount of € 487 k. Income recognized in the income statement amounted to € 111 k 
over the period. 

-  The grant relating to the CONVERGENCE TV project granted by MINEFI in the amount 
of € 426 k. Income recognized in the income statement amounted to € 64 k over the 
period. 

- The grant for the TVSND project from MINEFI in the amount of € 480 k. No income was 
recognized in the income statement during the period. 

- The grant relating to the TITANEDGE project awarded by the Ile de France Region in 
the amount of € 563 k. No income was recognized in the income statement during 
the period. 

- The IA4SEC project grant from MINEFI in the amount of € 473 k. Income recognized in 
the income statement amounted to € 172 k over the period. 

- The grant for the 3EMS project awarded by the UK Region in the amount of € 118 k. 
Income recognized in the income statement amounted to € 24 k over the period. 
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RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT 
(Amounts in K €) 31/12/2020 31/12/2019 

Personnel expenses (12,697) (9,866) 
Other (361) (154) 
Finance costs (424) (427) 
Amortization of capitalized R & D expenses and 
technology ranges (810) (590) 

Fees  (95) - 
Depreciation, amortization and provisions (1,621) (1,380) 
Taxes and training (142) (153) 
Leases (143) (90) 
Purchases not held in inventory (300) (216) 
Travel, Missions and perception (25) (142) 
Share based payments (372) (202) 
Capitalization of R & D costs net of disposals 520 421 

Research and Development expenditure (16,469) (12,800) 

Research tax credit and innovation tax credit 3,361 2,535 

Subsidies 415 695 

Subsidies 3,776 3,230 

Research and development costs (12,693) (9,570) 
 

 

21.3 Marketing & Sales expenses 
 
 

MARKETING AND SALES EXPENSES 
(Amounts in K €) 31/12/2020 31/12/2019 

Personnel expenses (16,199) (13,490) 

Travel expenses (563) (1,851) 

Other (646) (282) 

Finance costs (774) (781) 

Trade fairs (289) (938) 

Depreciation, amortization and provisions (540) (460) 

Taxes and training (259) (279) 

Leases (261) (163) 

Share based payments (638) (343) 

Marketing and sales expenses (20,171) (18,588) 
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21.4 General and administrative expenses 
 

 

21.5 Other operating income and expense 
 
Other operating income and expenses correspond to capital increase fees not eligible for 
recognition as a reduction of the issue premium, amounting to € 723 k, and an impact of the 
disposal of Anevia INC of € 9 k. 

Note 22: Restated EBITDA 

The term ‘recurring operating income’ is defined as the difference between total 
operating income and ‘Other operating income’ and ‘Other operating expenses.’ 
 
Current EBITDA, in English, refers to earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, and 
amortization. It includes the Group's profit from recurring operations before it is excluded, 
depreciation, amortization and impairment of fixed assets, and share based payment 
expenses. It highlights the profit generated by the business independently of the conditions 
of its financing, tax constraints and the renewal of the operating tool. Non recurring 
expenditure (unusual, abnormal, and infrequent items) is excluded. 
 

 

 

GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES 
(Amounts in K €) 31/12/2020 31/12/2019 

Personnel expenses (2,099) (1,731) 

Fees (1,149) (1,027) 

Travel expenses (14) (47) 

Depreciation, amortization and provisions (239) (115) 

Leases (30) (19) 

Finance costs (88) (88) 

Taxes and training (110) (32) 

Other (319) (35) 

Share based payments (86) (118) 

General and administrative expenses (4,133) (3,214) 

Restated EBITDA 
(Amounts in K €)  31/12/2020 31/12/2019 

Recurring operating income 1,906 4,730 

(-) EBIT on fixed assets (3,756) (3,001) 

(-) Payment in shares IFRS 2 (1,208) (715) 

Restated EBITDA 6,870 8,447 
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Note 23: Group headcount 

 
The workforce at the end of each fiscal year of the Group over the last two fiscal years is as 
follows: 
  

Headcount at 31 December Fiscal year 2020 Fiscal year 2019 

Cost of sales 81 52 
Research and development 206 128 
Marketing and sales 133 96 
Expenses 33 22 
Total workforce at 31 December 453 298 
    

Of which ANEVIA scope  114 - 

O/w providers 94 81 

 

Note 24: Financial income and expenses, net 

 
Net financial income includes: 

• Expenses relating to the financing of the Company: Interest paid and unwinding of 
discounting adjustments to redeemable advances and financial liabilities (please 
refer to Note 15). 

• Interest income. 
 
Any foreign exchange gains or losses are also recognized in the financial result. 
 
 

FINANCIAL INCOME AND EXPENSES 
(Amounts in K €) 31/12/2020 31/12/2019 

Amortized cost of borrowings (313) (187) 

Other financial expenses (14) (1) 

Financial income 34 26 

Foreign exchange (losses) and gains (1,090) (37) 

Total financial income and expenses (1,383) (199) 

 
Other financial expenses mainly comprise discounts granted. 
 
Financial expenses primarily consist of the unwinding of discounting of repayable advances 
and interest on finance leases.  
Foreign exchange gains and losses are mainly due to the conversion of bank accounts into 
USD. 
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Note 25: Income tax expense 
 
Current and prior year tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to 
be recovered or paid from the taxation authorities.  
The tax rates and tax laws used to determine these amounts are those that have been 
enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date. 
Deferred taxes are recognized, using the balance sheet method and the liability method, 
for all temporary differences between the tax base of assets and liabilities and their 
carrying amount in the balance sheet at the balance sheet date, as well as for tax loss 
carryforwards. 
 
Deferred tax assets are recognized in respect of tax loss carry forwards when it is probable 
that future taxable profits will be available against which the unused tax losses can be 
utilized. The determination of recognized deferred tax assets requires management to 
make estimates both over the period in which the tax loss carryforwards are utilised and on 
the level of future taxable profits, with respect to tax management strategies. 

 
 
 
At 31 December 2019, the Company had evergreen tax loss carryforwards of: 

• € 24566 k for ATEME SA, which can be carried forward indefinitely in France with 
application of the rule of the cap of € 1 M and 50% of profit. 

 
The tax rate applicable to the Company is the rate in force in France at 31 December 2020, 
i.e. 28%. This rate will continue to decrease gradually to 25% from 2022. 
 
At 31 December 2020, temporary taxes were taken into account. A deferred tax was booked 
corresponding to the outlook for estimated taxable results over the short term (3 years). The 
Group has recognised part of its tax losses for an amount representing deferred tax of € 1186 
k. This assessment will be reviewed at each balance sheet date based on future results. ATEME's 
French tax loss carry forwards total € 29118 k. Anevia's tax loss carry forwards in France amount 
to € 29656 k. 
 
In the income statement, income taxes comprise the following amounts:  

INCOME TAX EXPENSE 
(Amounts in K €)  31/12/2020 31/12/2019 

Current taxes - (548) 
Deferred taxes (86) 623 
Income tax expense (86) 76 

 
 
In the balance sheet, changes in net deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows: 
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DEFERRED TAX 
(Amounts in K €) 

 

Statement of financial position at 31 December 2019 1,285 
Deferred tax (expense) income  (86) 
Changes in deferred taxes on actuarial gains and losses recognized in accordance with IAS 19 (24) 
Statement of financial position at 31 December 2020 1,175 

 
 
Reconciliation between theoretical and effective taxes 
 

TAX PROOF 
(Amounts in K €) 31/12/2020 31/12/2019 

Net income (275) 4,607 
Consolidated income tax (86) 76 
Profit before tax (190) 4,683 
Standard tax rate in France 28.00% 31.00% 
Standard tax rate in France 53 (1,452) 
Permanent differences 1,067 737 
Share based payments (338) (222) 
Unrecognized deferred taxes 589 756 
Tax losses recognised during the period - 283 
Differences in tax rates - (27) 
Income tax benefit/expense (86) 76 
Effective tax rate  1.6% 

 
Permanent differences are mainly the impact of the research tax credit (non taxable operating 
income). 
 
Nature of deferred taxes 

NATURE OF NET DEFERRED TAX 
(Amounts in K €) 31/12/2020 31/12/2019 

Temporary differences 375 544 
Tax loss carryforwards 1,186 1,186 
Total deferred tax assets 1,561 1,730 
Temporary differences 386 445 
Total deferred tax liabilities 386 445 
    

Total net deferred taxes 1,175 1,285 
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Note 26: Earnings per share 
 
 
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing profit attributable to shareholders of the 
Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the 
period. 
 
Diluted earnings per share is determined by adjusting profit or loss attributable to ordinary 
shareholders and the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding for the 
effects of all dilutive potential ordinary shares. 
 

 
BASIC EARNINGS PER SHARE 

(Amounts in euros) 31/12/2020 31/12/2019 

Net income (in € thousands) (275) 4,607 
Weighted average number of shares outstanding for 
basic earnings * 10,585,138 10,437,125 

Basic earnings per share (€/share) (0.03) 0.44 

Weighted average number of shares outstanding 10,585,138 10,437,125 

Outstanding stock options 336,523 156,688 

Weighted average free shares outstanding 105,500 57,332 

Weighted average BSA - 57,759 
Weighted average number of shares assuming full 
dilution 11,027,161 10,708,902 

Diluted earnings per share (€/share) (0.03) 0.43 
* Net of treasury shares resulting from the liquidity agreement 
 
Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing net income attributable to owners of the 
Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period. 
Instruments granting deferred rights to equity (AGM) are considered anti dilutive as they 
reduce losses per share. Diluted losses per share are therefore identical to basic losses per 
share. 
 

Note 27: Related parties 
 

27.1 Related party transactions 
 
The Group has entered into an assistance and services agreement with SEREITRA, managed 
by Michel Artières, until 30 June 2020.  
The remuneration paid to this company is mentioned in section 27.2. 
 
Since 1 July 2020, Michel Artières has been Chief Executive Officer under a corporate office 
agreement. 
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27.2 Executive compensation  
 
No post employment benefits are granted to the members of the Board of Directors. 
Compensation paid to members of the Board of Directors and senior executives can be 
analyzed as follows (in € thousand): 
 

Compensation of corporate officers  31/12/2020 31/12/2019 

Fixed remuneration 274 322 
Annual variable remuneration 63 - 
Exceptional compensation 29 - 
Directors' fees 77 49 
Share based payments - - 
TOTAL 443 371 

 
 
The allocation of variable remuneration is based on performance criteria. 
 
The methods used to measure the benefit resulting from share based payments are presented 
in Note 14. 
 

Note 28: Off balance sheet commitments  
 

28.1 Lease agreements  
 
First time application of IFRS 16 at 1 January 2019 eliminates the distinction between finance 
leases and operating leases. Under IFRS, all of the Company 's future rental payments must be 
recognized as a liability and a right of use must be recognized as an asset. 
Future minimum payments under the various types of contracts are detailed below by maturity: 
 

Lease commitments  
Amounts in K € 

Due within 1 
year 

Due in 1 to 5 
years 

More than 5 
years 

Commercial leases 935  1,749  133  

Leases 97 45  - 

Other 7  16  - 

Total 1,040  1,811  133  
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28.2 Other contracts 
 
Having sub contracted several important functions (production), the Company enters into sub 
contracting agreements in the ordinary course of business with various third parties, in France 
and abroad, which embody various obligations that are standard practice in these 
circumstances. 
 
Contracts or specifications also set the conditions for validating manufacturing processes, 
control procedures, processing of non compliant products and intellectual property rights. 
 
There is no reciprocal commitment between the Company and its subcontractors in terms of 
quantity or production capacity.  
 

28.3 Other financial commitments  
 
Documentary credits and discounts 
 
The Company may place documentary credits or discounts in certain markets.  
No documentary credit outstandings were present at 31 December 2020. 
 
Pledge of goodwill  
 

• July 2015: Pledge of € 667 k of ATEME SA's business assets to Société Générale. This 
pledge has been counter guaranteed by Bpifrance for 60%. 

• October 2015: Pledge of € 600 k of ATEME SA's business assets to HSBC. This pledge has 
been counter guaranteed by Bpifrance for 50%. 

• July 2017: Pledge of € 805 k of ATEME SA's business assets to Société Générale. This 
pledge has been counter guaranteed by Bpifrance for 50%. 

• July 2017: Pledge of € 600 k of ATEME SA's business assets to HSBC. This pledge has been 
counter guaranteed by Bpifrance for 40%. 

• November 2017: Pledge of € 600 k of ATEME SA's business assets to HSBC. This pledge 
has been counter guaranteed by Bpifrance for 40%. 

• September 2019: Pledge of business assets of ATEME S.A. for € 1150 k to Banque Palatine. 
This pledge has been counter guaranteed by Bpifrance for 40%. 

 
 
Commitment by signature entered into by Societe Generale  
 
SOCIETE Generale has subscribed a € 80 k financial bond for Société Internationales 
Immobilien Institut GMBH to lease the offices located in Vélizy- Villacoublay. 
SOCIETE Generale has granted a financial guarantee of € 38 k to SCI Novalis for the 
rental of offices located in Rennes. 
 
State guaranteed loan 
 
On 14 April 2020, the Group benefited from a loan of 4 million euros benefiting from the 90% 
French State guarantee. 
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Note 29: Financial risk management and assessment 
 
ATEME may be exposed to different types of financial risks: Market risk, credit risk and liquidity 
risk. As the case may be, ATEME uses simple and proportionate means to minimize the 
potentially adverse effects of these risks on financial performance. ATEME's policy is not to 
subscribe to financial instruments for speculative purposes. ATEME does not use financial 
derivative instruments. 
 
Interest rate risk 
 
ATEME has no significant exposure to interest rate risk, as: 

• Marketable securities comprise short term money market funds (SICAV),  
• Cash and cash equivalents include term accounts, 
• No floating rate debt was subscribed. 

 
Credit risk 
 
Credit risk is associated with deposits (bank accounts) with banks and financial institutions. 
ATEME uses leading financial institutions for its cash investments and therefore does not bear 
any significant credit risk on its cash position. 
 
It has established policies to ensure that its customers have an appropriate credit risk history. 
 
Currency risk 
 
The main risks associated with the foreign exchange impacts of sales and purchases 
denominated in foreign currencies primarily concern sales of products and expenses in US 
dollars and the financing of subsidiaries in their local currencies. 
 
The Company has not, at its stage of development, made any hedging arrangements to 
protect its business from currency fluctuations. However, the Company cannot rule out that a 
significant increase in its business will result in greater exposure to currency risk. The Company 
will then consider a suitable hedging policy for these risks. 
 
Equity risk 
 
The Company does not hold any investments or marketable securities traded on a regulated 
market. 
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Note 30: Fees paid to Statutory Auditors  

 

STATUTORY AUDITORS' 
FEES  

Fiscal year 2020 Fiscal year 2019 

Ernst & Young BL2A Ernst & Young BL2A 

(Amounts in K €) Amount 
excl. VAT % Amount 

excl. VAT % Amount 
excl. VAT % Amount 

excl. VAT % 

Statutory audit, 
certification, review of 
parent company and 
consolidated financial 
statements 

84 57% 56 68% 80 94% 52 96% 

Services other than 
certification of 
accounts * 

65 43% 26 32% 5 6% 2 4% 

Total Fees  149 100% 82 100% 85 100% 54 100% 
 
* Fees related to services other than certification of accounts regarding fees related to the integration of Anevia and 
the achievement of certifications. 
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5. ATEME SA statutory financial statements for the year ended 31 
December 2020 

Balance sheet 

 

ATEME 
Balance sheet Notes 

 31/12/2020  31/12/2019 

      

 K €  K € 
ASSETS      

      
Intangible assets  2.1    269   198 

Property, plant and equipment  2.1    2,075   2,095 

Financial assets  2.1    18,844   923 

Total non current assets     21,188   3,216 
           

Inventories  2.2    3,453   2,841 

Trade receivables  2.3    21,477   26,579 

Other receivables  2.3    6,262   5,091 

Prepaid expenses     891   992 

Cash and cash equivalents     12,784   9,179 

Total current assets     44,867   44,682 
Accruals and other assets     441   162 

           

Total assets     66,496   48,060 
           

           

LIABILITIES          

Shareholders' equity          

Share capital  2.4    1,548   1,465 

Additional paid in capital     25,183   17,353 

Other reserves and retained earnings     6,463   464 

Net income for the year     (1,355)   5,999 

Shareholders' equity     31,839   25,281 
           

Provisions for contingencies and charges  2.5    482   198 

Borrowings  2.6    17,997   6,731 

Group and associated companies     87   10 

Advances and down payments received on orders     281   261 

Trade payables     9,528   8,114 

Tax, employee related and other liabilities     2,986   3,456 

Deferred income     3,079   3,647 

Accruals and other liabilities     217   363 

           

Total liabilities     66,496   48,060 
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Income statement 

 

ATEME  
Income statement Notes 

 31/12/2020  31/12/2019 

      

 K €  K € 

      
Revenue 3.1  51,620  58,294 

Other operating income   2,242  1,323 

Total operating income    53,862  59,617 

      

Purchases and changes in inventories   13,485  14,157 

Other purchases and external charges   23,098  23,345 

Taxes other than on income   1,019  792 

Personnel expenses   16,096  14,435 

Operating expenses   2,429  2,115 

Other operating expenses   1,101  470 

Total operating expenses     57,226   55,314 

Operating income     (3,364)   4,303 

      

Financial income 3.2  417  159 

Financial expenses 3.2  (1,543)  (571) 

Net financial expense     (1,126)   (412) 

Profit from ordinary activities before tax     (4,490)   3,891 

      

Exceptional income 3.3  84  45 

Exceptional expenses 3.3  (31)  (71) 

Exceptional items    53  (26) 

      

Research tax credit   3,082  2,573 

Employee profit sharing   0  (8) 

Income tax expense   0  (432) 

Net income for the financial year    (1,355)  5,999 
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1. Accounting principles and significant events in  
 

1.1 Accounting principles  
 
General accounting principles have been applied in accordance with the General 
Accounting Plan (C. Com. R.123-80 and PCG Art. 831-1 § 1), in accordance with the 
principle of prudence and with the general rules for the preparation and presentation of 
the annual financial statements, and according to the following basic assumptions: 

• Business continuity, 
• Consistency of accounting policies from one financial year to the next, 
• Independence of the financial years, in accordance with the general rules for 

the preparation and presentation of the annual financial statements. 
 
The basic method used to measure items recorded in the accounts is the historical cost 
method. 
 
Accounting options: 
 
ATEME applies the following methods: 

• Research and Development expenditure is recorded as an expense 
• Share capital increase costs are offset against additional paid in capital 

 
Retirement benefits are not recognized in the ATEME financial statements but are measured on 
the basis of assumptions described in Note 4.7.2 
 

1.2 Business continuity  
 
The going concern assumption for the next 12 months after 31 December 2020 has been 
assumed by the Board of Directors based on available cash and revised gross margin and 
revenue growth assumptions. 

1.3 Major events of the financial year  
 

 
On 9 January 2020: BT is taking strong measures to combat the hacking of video flows 
BT is intensifying its efforts to combat the piracy of premium subscription content thanks to its 
partnership with leading video delivery infrastructure provider ATEME. BT uses the sophisticated 
encryption techniques provided by ATEME to protect, in the safest possible manner, satellite 
transmitted content, and will offer this technology to its clients worldwide to help reduce the 
number of illegal flows. By using ATEME's inbox, BT's Media and Broadcast entity is able to 
provide the best video quality at reduced speeds and a minimum latency, while ensuring the 
security of broadcasts. The BISS CA protocol used in the ATEME inbox is ideally suited to high 
quality video transmissions, while enabling broadcasters to protect against hacking. ATEME's 
encoder can be used by a multitude of systems and software, and the invisible digital tattoo 
of the flow activated by BISS CA makes it possible to determine the origin of an illegal flow. 
Holders of media rights can also allow and revoke receipt rights in real time, thereby securing 
broadcasts from the source to the final destination. 

On 23 January 2020: ATEME winner of the i Nov Innovation Award ‘IA4SEC Project’ 
ATEME is proud to announce that it has won the I Nov IA4SEC innovation award for its 
technological innovations in the television and media market. The project, managed by 
Bpifrance, Banque Publique d'Investissement, and supported by the Investment Programme 
d'Avenir (PIA), which provides great support for innovation, is dedicated to entrepreneurs. The 
TV industry market is faced with an ecosystem that is constantly moving and characterised by 
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growing complexity. ATEME's technological progress allows its clients to envisage the future by 
leveraging artificial intelligence (IA). In this context, ATEME offers IA based solutions to deliver 
high compressor, bandwidth efficient, high quality, and loyalty video to its clients. As part of 
this project, ATEME is proposing several levels of optimization: In coding core, which enables a 
reduction in binary flow, in adaptive encoding of content for better video quality, and in the 
elasticity of the encoding process, optimizing the media supply chain and the use of cloud. 
 
On 13 February 2020: Vualto is working with ATEME to automate the integration of set top boxes 
Vualto, a cloud based video and orchestration expert, has partnered with ATEME in the 
automated incoder integration within Vualto Control Hub (VCH) video orchestration which 
makes it possible to easily integrate several origins and set top boxes. VCH is independent of 
the supplier and interoperable with a multitude of technology partners. This partnership will 
allow operators and broadcasters to easily orchestrate events and channels directly with the 
possibility to start, stop and automatically configure the Titant Live inbox services from the VCH 
interface. Integration offers great benefits to operators and broadcasters who are looking for 
an effective and practical way of disseminating their flows directly. ATEME's wealth of 
experience in encoding premium direct sports content makes it an ideal partner for Vualto. 
Combining the two technologies offers broadcasters a high quality, flexible, agile streaming 
service fully adapted to their business model and end objectives. 
 
On 17 March 2020: PCBL chooses ATEME to broadcast television content in the Pacific 
ATEME has announced today that it has provided integrated decoder receivers (RDI) Kyrion 
DR5000 to Pacific Cooperation Broadcasting Limited (PCBL), a New Zealand government 
initiative that supports unscrambled Pacific broadcasters through the provision of New Zealand 
origin content for rebroadcast, and the establishment of training to encourage the production 
of local content. Key factors in PCBL's decision making were the professionalism, ease of use 
and reliability of the product itself, as well as ATEME's ability to meet the tight project schedule. 
ATEME is recognized worldwide as a long term trusted partner that can help clients like PCBL in 
implementing its current and future vision.  
 
On 23 April 2020 ATEME announced a full day webinary for clients worldwide 
ATEME announced that its real time webinary ‘ATEME 24 Hours’ has been a great success, 
affecting a audience of more than 1,500 unique participants in the broadcast and media 
industry over 24 hours. The ‘pursuit of the sun’ webinary was designed to satisfy all ATEME clients 
in more than 100 countries. First sessions took place in France, before crossing the Atlantic to 
satisfy customers on the east coast of the United States and then joining the west coast. The 
session then focused on Australia and South East Asia, before returning to Europe for closure. 
The company has placed its clients at the center of the event organisation: The program was 
determined after ATEME surveyed them to gain an overview of the challenges they were 
seeking to overcome. 
 
On 5 May 2020 ATEME helped RTL Luxembourg to maintain its pace of activity during the 
COVID-19 epidemic 
The Company used its free video transcoding licenses for 90 days for a new customized 
channel created to deal with the COVID-19 pandemic. Benefiting from ATEME's value 
proposition regarding bandwidth efficiency and high quality experience for its OTT service, RTL 
Luxembourg had to react quickly to adapt to the new rules of social distance and quarantine, 
as well as changing viewing habits, using ATEME's TITAN Live licenses for this purpose. Designed 
specifically for these types of challenges, ATEME's 90 day free offering enabled RTL Luxembourg 
not only to adapt its OTT service but also to perform full, uninterrupted remote monitoring. 
 
On 9 June 2020, ATEME joined with SES in testing the first live UHD broadcast with VVC. 
The test showed the following benefits of VVC: 

• Optimized bandwidth efficiency: VVC compression efficiency reduced UHD 
transmission cost 
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• Increased hearing: VVC's DVB S2 broadcast increases audience reach and coverage 
• Improving the quality of the experience: Offers a high quality visual experience using 

VLC multimedia reader 

VVC is the latest video coding technology developed by the Joint Team of video Experts 
(JVET) trained by experts from ISO/CEI MPEG and IUCN T VCEG. VVC improves the 
compression efficiency of HEVC (High Efficiency Video Coding) by 50% and processes all 
video formats (VR-360°, 3D, 4 K, 8 K, HDR). Its versatility allows the standard to cover a wide 
range of applications, from broadcasting to OTT delivery. 

 
On 16 July 2020 ATEME is at the forefront of BSI CA Standard with Kyrion and TITAN Solutions. 
ATEME, the leader in video delivery solutions for cable transmission, television, SRD, IPTV and 
OTT, continues to pioneer the next generation of content delivery such as Kyrion and TITAN 
Edge solutions remain inherent to the development and market adoption of the BSI CA 
standard. As a evolution of the Biss Protocol, BISS CA is a conditional open, rights free, secure 
and interoperable encryption standard that includes a dynamic mobile key 
system. Developed by the UER in collaboration with ATEME and other network equipment 
providers, BISS CA enables real time rights management for content flows on any network.  

On 22 July 2020 ATEME announced that Movistar + chose to implement its TITAN solution for 
the distribution of its DTH/OTT services directly. 
ATEME's TITAN solution offers Movistar + a number of advantages, including a simple 
migration to the virtual video header. Titan also provides Movistar + with exceptional 
bandwidth savings in MPEG-2 and H.264, resulting in significant use of the satellite 
transponder, as well as the highest possible binary speed video quality, which is crucial to 
obtaining the best user experience. 
 
On 30 July 2020, ATEME enabled QNET Telecom to provide high quality video coding thanks 
to its TITAN Live solution. 
Titan Live will be used alongside the QNET networks to offer improved video quality to its high 
speed end users and support the growing demand for high quality video content and 
encoding. 
 
On 31 July 2020, ATEME and Anevia entered into exclusive negotiations for the acquisition by 
ATEME of 87% of Anevia's share capital and 90% of its voting rights. 
ATEME and Anevia's main shareholders, together holding 87% of the share capital and 90% of 
the theoretical voting rights of Anevia, entered into exclusive negotiations to transfer their stake 
in Anevia to ATEME. The transaction received the unanimous support of both parties' Boards of 
Directors in advance. An information consultation procedure will be launched with the 
employee representative bodies of the Company and ATEME. 
Upon completion of the aforementioned ‘information - consultation’ procedures, ATEME 
would acquire all of Anevia shares held by the majority shareholders, in part by contributions 
in kind and otherwise in cash. The transfer of Anevia Company shares to ATEME would be 
followed by the filing by ATEME of a simplified alternative tender offer comprising a simplified 
mixed tender offer, and as an alternative offer, a simplified public tender offer on all shares 
and securities giving access to the share capital of Anevia which would not be held by ATEME 
on that date, in accordance with applicable laws and regulations, and then, as the case may 
be, by a squeeze out.  

 
Acquisition of Anevia 
 
On 6 October 2020, ATEME and Anevia announced the signature of final agreements to transfer 
the majority shareholders' interest in the Company to ATEME. The purchase covers all of the 
Company's shares held by the majority shareholders, partly through contributions in kind and 
the balance in cash. 
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On 26 October 2020, ATEME announced that Anevia's major shareholders would contribute a 
majority stake in Anevia, and that its governance structure would be reorganized following 
the takeover by ATEME. The total purchase price was € 21145 k (see Note 3). 
 
On 9 November 2020 ATEME launched a simplified alternative public offer consisting of a 
simplified mixed public offer and, as an alternative, a simplified public tender offer for the 
shares and shares and warrants of Anevia, respectively. 

 
 
 
 

1.4 Impact of the COVID-19 health crisis on the financial statements at 31 December 2020 
 
Full operational continuity during the crisis 
 
In this period of uncertainty, ATEME's priorities have been twofold: Protect the health and well 
being of its employees and partners, in strict compliance with official guidelines to stop the 
spread of the virus, and provide all possible support to customers. Containment has been 
imposed in most areas where we do business. Fortunately, we have a well proven and active 
working culture and a well established business continuity plan to ensure the full continuity of 
all our operations, including R & D, 24/7 support and supply chain functions. 
 
In particular: 
 

• TITAN demonstrations, deliveries and facilities, the ATEME software, can be carried out 
remotely.  

• ATEME continues to provide video conferences and other webinars to clients around 
the world including through a 24 hour webinary in mid April where our experts from all 
continents shared their views on market trends and emerging technologies and 
presented ATEME solutions to 1,500 clients.  

• Our research and development team continues to file new patents 
 
Impact of the Covid-19 crisis on the financial perspectives  
 
In terms of revenues, the immediate impact of the Covid crisis was the cancellation of certain 
orders from Kyrion due to the postponement of sporting events such as the UEFA football 
championship and the Olympic Games. In addition, certain clients have deferred their 
investments, particularly those most exposed to a decline in advertising revenues or revenues 
generated by sports activities. Conversely, the rise in the consumption of video on subscription 
and the pressure on network capacity are boosting many projects, resulting in a large pipeline 
of opportunities.  
 
On 14 April 2020 ATEME benefited from a loan contract guaranteed by the French State, 90% 
guaranteed by the French State, with Société Générale for an amount of € 4000 k, with a 
guarantee premium of 0.5% per year. 
At the end of 2020, the Company's repayment period was extended from 12 months to 60 
months. The redemptions will start in April 2021. 
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2. Notes on balance sheet items  
 
 
2.1 Non current assets  
 
2.1.1 Intangible assets 
 
Intangible assets consist of software and licenses. They are measured at acquisition cost or 
production cost. 
 
 
 
 
 

GROSS VALUE OF INTANGIBLE ASSETS 
Gross value at 
beginning of 

period 

Acquisition 
or creation Disposals 

Gross value 
at end of 

period (Amounts in K €) 
Other intangible assets 1,095 368 0 1,463 
     

     
Total property, plant and equipment 1,095 368 0 1,463 

 
 

DEPRECIATION 
Accumulate

d 
Beginning 

of fiscal 
year 

Additio
ns 

Fiscal 
year 

Amort. 
Related 

to 
disposal

s 

Accumulate
d 

Year end 

Net 
Valu

e  
Year 
end (Amounts in K €) 

Other intangible assets 898 297 0 1,195 269 
      
        
Total depreciation on property, plant and 
equipment 898 297 0 1,195 269 

 
 
 

- Software is amortized on a straight line basis over a period of two years. Other intangible 
assets (licenses, etc.) are amortized on a straight line basis over 12 months, with the 
exception of ERP (SAP), which has a 5 year amortization period 

- All R & D expenditure is expensed. 
 
 
2.1.2 Tangible fixed assets  
 
Property, plant and equipment are stated at acquisition cost (purchase price plus 
incidental expenses) or at production cost. Depreciation is calculated over the 
estimated useful life. 
 
Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight line basis over the following 
periods:  

Furniture 10 years 
Fixtures and fittings 9 years 
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Tools/Instrumentation 6 
years  
Office equipment 4 years  
It (Hardware) 3 years 
 

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation  

 
GROSS VALUE OF PROPERTY, PLANT 
AND EQUIPMENT Gross value at 

beginning of period 
Acquisition 
or creation 

Dispos
als 

Gross value at 
end of period 

(Amounts in K €) 
Install. Techn. MAT. & Tooling 60 218 0 278 
Fixtures and fittings 853 20 0 873 
Vehicles 7 0 0 7 
MAT. Office, IT & furniture 6,853 866 9 7,710 
Property, plant and equipment in 
progress 0 87 0 87 
     
       
Total property, plant and equipment 7,773 1,192 9 8,956 

 
 
DEPRECIATION Accumulate

d 
Depreciatio

n 

Addition
s 

Amort. 
related 

to 
disposal

s 

Accumulate
d 

depreciatio
n at the end 
of the year 

Net 
valu
e at 
year 
end (Amounts in K €) 

Install. Techn. MAT. & Tooling 58 19 0 77 201 

Fixtures and fittings 385 105 0 489 384 

Vehicles 7 0 0 7 0 

MAT. Office, IT & furniture 
5,228 1088 9 6,307 1,40

3 
Property, plant and equipment in progress 0 87 0 0 87 

      

        
Total depreciation on Property, plant and 
equipment 5,678 1,212 9 6,880 

2,07
5 
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2.1.3 Financial fixed assets 
 
Financial assets consist of shares in subsidiaries and affiliates, loans and other assets. 
 
Shares in subsidiaries and affiliates represent a total of € 17765 k before provisions, broken 
down as follows: 
 

- Shares in ATEME Canada Inc 0.65 € 
- Shares in ATEME Inc (USA) share capital 263974.75 € 
- ATEME Japan KK equity securities 60631.78 € 
- Shares in ATEME Singapore's share capital 33602.72 € 
- ATEME Australia equity investments 61.65 € 
- Shares in Anevia SA's share capital 17407225.50 € 

 
 
Financial assets also include a loan granted by ATEME SA to its Australian subsidiary in 
the amount of € 1,047 k, which has been provisioned in the amount of € 660 k. 
 
A provision for depreciation was booked in 2010 for € 61 k in order to follow the 
suspension of ATEME Japan KK's business (see item on subsidiaries). 
 
Other non current financial assets total € 753 k and correspond to various guarantees: 
• Rent guarantee deposit € 59 k 
• Withholding tax on Bpifrance bonds € 200 k 
• Liquidity Agreement € 76 k 
• Other loans (construction) € 317 k 

 
Loans of € 317 k relate to payments by employers to support the construction effort. 
 
 
2.2 Inventories  
 
Inventories are valued using the weighted average unit cost method. 
 
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. 
In this case, the impairment loss is recorded in the income statement. 
 
Composition of inventories 
 
Inventories of raw materials consist mainly of electronic components used for the 
manufacture of Kyrion products. 
Work in progress is identified individually by project codes related to each customer order 
in progress. They consist of study costs (hours of engineers) and material costs. 
 
Inventories of goods mainly comprise finished products (set top boxes, set top boxes, set 
top boxes and third party equipment) and electronic components. 
 
The provision for impairment of inventories relates to components or merchandise that 
are subject to internal lending, testing or repair. Components or goods whose 
technological advances are beginning to render inventories obsolete or with little or no 
movements during the year are being scrapped. 
 
 
 
INVENTORIES 31/12/2020 31/12/2019 
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(Amounts in K €)     
Commodity inventories 179 273 
Provisions for inventories components (20) (20) 
Total raw materials 159 254 
     
Goods in inventory 2,521 2,010 
Provision for stock of cards (155) (229) 
Goods for resale 2,367 1,781 
     
Work in progress Goods 928 807 
   
Work in progress 928 807 
     
Total Stock 3,453 2,841 

 
 
 
 

2.3 Receivables  
 

2.3.1 Unbilled receivables 
 
Total outstanding invoices at 31 December 2020 amounted to € 573 k.  
 

2.3.2 Provisions for impairment of trade receivables 
 
The provision for impairment of trade receivables is calculated on a case by case basis 
based on the estimated risk of non recovery. It is supplemented by a provision based on 
statistical analysis. 
The provision for impairment of trade receivables amounts to € 367 k, compared with € 
306 k at 31 December 2019. It was endowed with € 317 k and recovered for € 256 k 
 

2.3.3 Other receivables 
 
Measurement and monitoring of the Research Tax Credit (CIR) and the Innovation Tax 
Credit (CII) 
 
The CIR relates to research projects for algorithms, software and designs for video coding 
technologies to advance the state of art. 
 
The CII relates to projects for the design of prototypes showing superior technical, 
functionality, ergonomics or eco design performance to products marketed by 
competitors at the start of the works. 
 
Individual project codes are used to monitor the work time of engineers. Hours are valued 
on the basis of loaded individual salaries. 
The receivable in respect of the 2020 CIR amounts to € 3,082 k. There was no disclosed 
CII for the 2020 financial year. 
 
Other receivables 
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See receivables due in 4.1 
 
 
2.3.4 Provisions for impairment in value of other receivables  
 
A provision of € 1,175 k is recorded for other receivables to cover advances made to 

subsidiaries based on their repayment capacity at the balance sheet date (see 4.5) 
 

2.4 Shareholders' equity  
 
2.4.1 Share capital 
 
The share capital is set at 1548480 €. It is divided into 11,060,569 fully subscribed and paid 
ordinary shares with a nominal value of 0.14 €.  
 
This number is excluding Stock Options (‘SO’) granted to certain Group individuals. 
 
 

COMPOSITION OF SHARE CAPITAL 31/12/2020 31/12/2019 

Capital (in € K) 1,548 1,465 

Number of shares 11,060,569 10,464,563 

O/w ordinary shares 11,060,569 10,464,563 

Nominal value (in €) € 0.14 0.14 €  

 
 
 
In 2020, 66,665 Company stock options were exercised, 32,000 free shares were definitively 
acquired and 497,341 new shares were issued. 
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2.4.2 Consolidated statement of changes in equity 
 
 

Consolidated statement of changes in equity 2020 (K €) 
  
Shareholders' equity at January 25,281 
Share capital increase 83 
Increase in additional paid in capital 7,830 
  
Profit or loss for the period (1,355) 
Equity at end of period 31,839 

 
 

Equity amounts to € 31,839 k 
 

2.5 Provisions for contingencies and charges  
 
Provisions are recognized when the Group has an obligation towards a third party and it is 
probable or certain that this obligation will result in an outflow of economic resources without 
any inflow of economic resources of at least an equivalent value being expected. 
 
Litigation and liabilities 
The Company may be involved in legal, administrative or regulatory proceedings in the normal 
course of its business. A provision is recorded by the Company where there is a sufficient 
probability that such disputes will result in costs to be borne by the Company. 
 
Claims and litigation 
The amounts provided are assessed, on a case by case basis, on the basis of the estimated 
risks incurred by the Company to date, based on requests, legal obligations and positions of 
lawyers. 
 
 
PROVISIONS 
(Amounts in K €) 

31/12/2020 
Amount at 

start of 
period 

Additions 
Reversals 

with 
purpose 

Releases 
with no 
purpose 

Amount at 
year end 

Provisions for litigation 25 30 25 0 30 
Provisions for claims and litigation 0 0 0 0 0 
Provisions for foreign exchange losses 162 441 162 0 441 
Provisions for charges 11 0 0 0 11 
Total provisions for risks and charges 198 471 187 0 482 

 
 
 
 

2.6 Borrowings and debt  
 
Other payables 
See Maturity States (4.2.) 
 

2.7 Receivables and payables denominated in foreign currencies 
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Receivables and payables denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the closing 
exchange rate, with a corresponding adjustment to the balance sheet translation adjustment 
account. 
A provision is recorded for the translation of assets representing an unrealised exchange loss.  
 
At 31 December 2020, unrealized foreign exchange losses amounted to € 441 k, leading to the 
recognition of a provision for foreign exchange losses in the same amount. 
Unrealized foreign exchange gains amounted to € 217 k.  
 
 

3. Notes to the Income Statement   

3.1 Breakdown of revenue  
 
 
 
BREAKDOWN OF SALES France Export Total 
(Amount in K €)       
Production sold 3,600 48,020 51,620 
     
NET SALES 3,600 48,020 51,620 

 
 
The Company's revenues result from the sale of professional video compression solutions, 
maintenance and service contracts. 
 
The recognition of software revenue comes from the electronic transmission of the licence key 
for the professional video compression solution. 
Revenue from goods is recognised on the basis of incoterms, which are usually 
Ex Works and occasionally Delivered Duty Paid for certain clients. In the latter case, revenue is 
recognised when the commodity is received by the customer. 
 
Revenue from maintenance contracts is recognized on a straight line basis over the life of the 
contract. 
 

3.2 Financial income and expenses  
 
The financial result amounted to (1,126) K €. Changes in financial provisions (hedging of 
subsidiaries' current account advances), exchange differences on foreign currency bank 
accounts and financial expenses relating to borrowings. 
 

3.3 Exceptional income and expenses  
 
Exceptional items totaled € 53 k. 
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4. Other Information  
 

4.1 Maturity of receivables  
 
 

TABLE OF RECEIVABLES  
(Amounts in K €) 

Gross amount 
O/w 

related 
companies 

-1 year +1 year 

Loans and advances to subsidiaries and affiliates 1,047 0 793 254 
Other loans (1% housing) 317 0 0 317 
Financial assets 435 0 176 259 
      
Trade receivables 21,845 0 21,794 50 

     
Prepayments to customers 152 0 152 0 

Employees 7 0 7 0 

Social security bodies 10 0 10 0 

IS 3,520 0 3,520 0 

VAT 1,045 0 1,045 0 

Subsidies receivable 226 0 226 0 

Group 2,444 2,444 2,444 0 

Miscellaneous debtors 34 0 34 0 

Total other receivables and prepayments to suppliers 7,438 2,444 7,438 0 
      
Prepaid expenses 891 0 891 0 
      
TOTAL 31,971 2,444 31091 880 
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4.2 Debt Maturity Schedule  
 

4.2.1 Detailed list of loans and borrowings (K €) 
 

FINANCIAL DEBT         
(Amounts in € k)         

To 1 year 
max 
 At 

inception 

Name of institution Due at 31/12/20 

  
      Up to 1 

year 
1 to 5 
years 

More 
than 5 
years  

Total 
payable 

     

COFACREDIT encours financement USD 1 0 0 1 

     

     

Accrued interest payable 3 0 0 3 

      A 3 0 0 3 
                  
                  
  Name of institution Due at 31/12/20 
  

  
  

      

Up to 1 
year 

1 to 5 
years 

More 
than 5 
years  

Total 
payable 

      

Due in 
more than 

1 year 

Advances Coface 0 123 22 145 
PTZI with BPI France (€ 500 k) 100 0 0 100 
PTZI with BPI France (€ 1,500 k) 300 300 0 600 
PI FEI with BPI France (€ 1,000 k) 200 300 0 500 
BPI France loan (€ 1,000 k) 200 750 0 950 
BPI France loan (€ 1,000 k) 150 800 50 1,000 
BPI France DOS0094025/00 loan (€ 1,000 k) 50 800 150 1,000 
BPI France DOS0110973/00 loan (€ 4,000 k) 500 3,500 0 4,000 
Bank PALATINE loan (€ 1,000 k) 198 557 0 755 
     
HSBC loan of 20/07/2017 101 118 0 219 
HSBC loan of 14/11/2017 100 144 0 244 
SG MEETING OF 31/07/2015 10 0 0 10 
SG loan of 09/06/2017 100 307 0 407 
SG loan of 01/10/2018 19 44 0 63 
SG (PGE) loan of 14/04/2020 600 3200 200 4,000 
SG (Equipéa) loan of 11/12/2020 546 2268 1186 4,000 

      B 3,174 13,211 1,608 17,994 
              

Total borrowings A + B 3,174 13,211 1,608 17,997 
 
During the year, new borrowings amounted to € 12078 k and borrowings redeemed at € 812 k. 
 
Following the implementation of the SG Equipéa loan, the Company is subject to the following 
financial ratios: 
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- R1: Consolidated net financial debt/Consolidated EBITDA ≤ 3.5 for the years ending 31 
December 2021 and 31 December 2022; 

- R1: Consolidated net financial debt/Consolidated EBITDA ≤ 2.5 for financial years 
ending after 31 December 2022. 

 
 
 
4.2.2 List of other liabilities (K €) 
 
 
OTHER PAYABLES 
(Amounts in K €) Up to 1 

year 
1 to 5 
years 

More 
than 5 
years  

Total 
payabl

e 

O/w 
related 

compani
es 

Trade payables C 9,528 0 0 9,528 0 
Employees and related accounts   1,336 0 0 1,336 0 

Social security and other social taxes   1,407 0 0 1,407 0 

Income tax expense   0 0 0 0 0 

Value Added Tax   6 0 0 6 0 

Other taxes   66 0 0 66 0 

Due to suppliers of fixed assets   169 0 0 169 0 

Group and associated companies   87 0 0 87 87 

Other payables   1 0 0 1 0 

Total Tax, employee related and other debt D 3,072 0 0 3,072 87 
Deferred income E 2,690 388 0 3,079 0 
               

Total other liabilities 
C + D + 

E 15,291 388 0 15,679 87 
 
 
 

4.3 Off balance sheet financial commitments  
 
Commitments given: 
 
• Real estate lease commitments 
 
Lease payments recorded at the end of 2020 and commitments up to the next firm 
commitment period can be analyzed as follows: 
 
 

        
Commitment until the next 

termination period  

Real estate leases Lease start 
date 

Lease end 
date 

Expenses 
at 

31/12/2020 

Due 
within 1 

year 

Due in 
1 to 5 
years 

More 
than 5 
years 

Registered office - Velizy Villacoublay  01/12/2014 30/11/2023 293 293 562 0 

Administrative local 15/11/2017 14/11/2026 153 150 601 131 

Local Administrative - MEXICO (Mexico) 01/06/2017 31/05/2021 21 9 0 0 

Administrative Local - SAO PAULO (Brazil) 01/03/2017 30/06/2021 15 8 0 0 

Administrative Local - Southampton (UK) 01/04/2018 31/03/2021 73 24 0 0 

    TOTAL K € 555 484 1163 131 
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• Finance lease commitments 

 
 

Royaltie
s  

Bail 
credit 

Royalties paid as of 31/12/20 Accrued royalties at 31/12/20 

For the fiscal 
year 

  
Cumulative 

Up to 1 
year 

1 to 5 
years 

More than 5 
years  

Total 
payable 

       
Total K € 218 972 94 50 0 144 

 
Assets under finance lease contracts include servers, photocopiers and vehicles. 
The gross value of financed assets was € 1,525 k, and accumulated depreciation was € 1,362 
k, for a carrying amount of € 163 k. 
The amortization charge that would have been recorded for the year ended 31 December 
2020 had the assets been acquired by ATEME would amount to € 212 k 
 
• Pledge of goodwill 
 

• July 2015: Pledge of € 667 k of ATEME SA's business assets to Société Générale. This 
pledge has been counter guaranteed by Bpifrance for 60%. 

• October 2015: Pledge of € 600 k of ATEME SA's business assets to HSBC. This pledge has 
been counter guaranteed by Bpifrance for 50%. 

• July 2017: Pledge of € 805 k of ATEME SA's business assets to Société Générale. This 
pledge has been counter guaranteed by Bpifrance for 50%. 

• July 2017: Pledge of € 600 k of ATEME SA's business assets to HSBC. This pledge has been 
counter guaranteed by Bpifrance for 40%. 

• November 2017: Pledge of € 600 k of ATEME SA's business assets to HSBC. This pledge 
has been counter guaranteed by Bpifrance for 40%. 

• September 2019: Pledge of business assets of ATEME S.A. for € 1150 k to Banque Palatine. 
This pledge has been counter guaranteed by Bpifrance for 40%. 

 
• Commitment by signature entered into by Societe Generale 
 
SOCIETE Generale has subscribed a € 80 k financial bond for Société Internationales 
Immobilien Institut GMBH to lease the offices located in Vélizy- Villacoublay. 
SOCIETE Generale has granted a financial guarantee of € 38 k to SCI Novalis for the 
rental of offices located in Rennes. 
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4.4 Breakdown of Accruals  
 
4.4.1 Prepaid expenses 
 
Prepaid expenses amounted to € 891 k at 31 December 2020, as follows: 
 
Amounts K €   
Component purchases 115 
Insurance 20 
Communication 62 
Maintenance contract 131 
Other 50 
Power/Telephone/Internet 149 
Fees  143 
  
  
Rent + Expenses 179 
Trade show 42 
Total 891 

 
 
4.4.2 Deferred income 
 
Deferred income as of 31 December 2020 amounts to € 3079 k relating to maintenance 
contracts. 
 

4.5 Subsidiaries  
 
Anevia SA 
 
Subsidiary specialized in software design for live, deferred and on demand television and video 
distribution (VOD.)  
Anevia was acquired by ATEME on 26 October 2020. It was 87% owned by ATEME SA at 31 
December 2020 and 100% from January 2021. 

 
ATEME Canada Inc 
 
Sales and marketing subsidiary created in 2004. It is 100% owned by ATEME SA. 
ATEME Canada Inca signed a service agreement in January 2013 with ATEME SA. As 
such ATEME Canada Inc receives remuneration based on monthly expenses plus a fixed 
margin of 5%. 
ATEME S.A. and ATEME Canada Inc also signed a loan agreement allowing ATEME S.A. 
to make cash advances to ATEME Canada Inc if necessary. 
 
 
ATEME Japan KK 
 
Marketing subsidiary created on 29 May 2007. It is 100% owned by ATEME SA. ATEME 
Japan KK signed an ATEME product representation agreement on Japan. As such 
ATEME Japan KK receives a fee calculated as a percentage of sales made within its 
territory. 
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ATEME SA and ATEME Japan KK also signed a loan agreement allowing ATEME SA to 
make cash advances to ATEME Japan KK if needed. 
 
The subsidiary's poor performance in 2009 forced the restructuring of its subsidiary in the 
first half of 2010 and the mothball of its structure. Current account advances and shares 
in the subsidiary have been provisioned at 100% in ATEME SA 
 
 
ATEME Inc (USA) 
 
Sales subsidiary based in the United States, created on 2 November 2007. It is 100% owned by 
ATEME SA. 
ATEME Inc signed a service agreement in January 2010 with ATEME SA. As such ATEME Inc 
receives remuneration based on monthly expenses plus a fixed margin of 5%. 
ATEME S.A. and ATEME Inc also signed a loan agreement allowing ATEME S.A. to make cash 
advances to ATEME Inc if necessary. 
 
 
ATEME Singapore Pte Ltd 
 
Sales subsidiary based in Singapore, established in March 2015. It is 100% owned by ATEME SA. 
ATEME Singapore signed a service agreement in March 2015 with ATEME SA. As such ATEME 
Singapore receives remuneration based on monthly expenses plus a fixed margin of 5%. 
ATEME SA and ATEME Singapore also signed a loan agreement allowing ATEME SA to make 
cash advances to ATEME Singapore if necessary. 
 
ATEME Australia Pty Ltd 
 
A marketing subsidiary based in Australia, set up in November 2018. It is 100% owned by ATEME 
SA. 
ATEME SA and ATEME Autralia signed a loan agreement allowing ATEME SA to make cash 
advances to ATEME Australia if necessary. 
 
Current account advances to subsidiaries to cover the shortfall are provisioned at 100% 
by ATEME SA (financial provisions). 
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Subsidiaries and investments in K € 
 
 
 
Financial information in K € Share 

capital 
Reserves and 

retained 
earnings 
before 

appropriation 
of net 

income 

Interest 
held (%) 

Carrying amount of 
shares held 

Outstanding 
loans and 
advances 
made by 

the 
Company 

Guarantees 
and 

endorsements 
given by the 

Company 

Net sales 
for the last 
financial 

year 
(12 

months) 

Last 
year's 
results 

(profit or 
loss (12 
months) 

Dividends 
received 

by the 
Company 
during the 

year 

  

  

  

  

Subsidiaries and affiliates 
        Gross Net           

Anevia SA 300 2,269 87% 17,407   0 0 14,711 -1,494   
79 Benoit MALON Street                 
94250 Gentilly, France                 
ATEME Canada Inc 0 -126 100% 0 0 138 0 430 21 0 
615 bd René-Lévesque Ouest                 
Montreal, Quebec, CANADA                 
ATEME Japan KK 79 -1026 100% 61 0 954 0 0 0 0 
Shin Yokohama 19-03-11 Kouhoku, Kase Bldg 
88, 4F                 
Yokohama shi, Kanagawa ke, JAPAN                 
ATEME Inc 288 438 100% 264 264 872 0 17,456 68 0 
750 W. Hampden Ave., Suite 290                 
Englewood, CO 80110, USA                 
ATEME Singapore Ldt Pte 31 228 100% 34 34 306 0 2217 22 0 
152 Beach Road                  

Singapore 189721                 
ATEME Australia Ldt Pty 0 -361 100% 0 0 1,221 0 1214 -226 0 
Suite 402, Level4, 44 Miller Street NTH                  

Sydney NSW 2060, Australia                     

 
 
 
 
 
 

4.6 Tax loss carryforwards    
 
At December 31, 2013, tax loss carryforwards of ATEME SA amounted to € 29.1 million. These tax 
losses can be carried forward indefinitely under current tax legislation. 
 

4.7 Headcount  
 
4.7.1 Average ATEME SA workforce in 2020: 166 people 
 
4.7.2 Calculation of retirement termination benefits 
 
The commitment in respect of IDRs was € 1223 k at 31 December 2020 compared to € 749 k at 
31 December 2019. 
The obligation is evaluated in accordance with the ANC recommendation 2013-02 (method 
1). 
This commitment applies only to employees governed by French law. The main actuarial 
assumptions used to measure retirement benefits are as follows: 
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ACTUARIAL ASSUMPTIONS 
31/12/2020 31/12/2019 

Managers Non managers Managers Non managers 

Retirement age Voluntary departure (65-67 years old) 
Collective bargaining agreements SYNTEC 
Discount rate 0.50% 0.90% 
Mortality table INSEE 2017 
Rate of salary increases 2.00% 
Turn over rate Strong (see details below) 
Payroll taxes 47% 43% 47% 43% 

 
 
 
The turnover rate is determined based on a study conducted by France 's National 
Institute of Statistics and Economic Studies (INSEE) on new hires and departures by age 
bracket in relation to the Company' s average turnover rate. 
 
The rates used can be summarised as follows:  
 

• 20 to 30 years: Diminishing balance rate from 18.30% to 10.90% 
• 30 to 40 years: Diminishing balance rate from 10.90% to 6.30% 
• 40 to 50 years: Diminishing balance rate from 6.30% to 4.20% 
• 50 to 60 years: Diminishing balance rate from 4.20% to 1% 
• 60 to 67 years: Diminishing balance rate from 1% to 0% 

 
4.7.3 DIF 
 
Individual training entitlement (Droit Individuel à la Formation - DIF) was introduced by the Law 
of 4 May 2004. 
At 31 December 2014, the total number of training hours corresponding to DIF rights was 7,304. 
As from 1 January 2015, the Professional Training Account (PFI) has replaced DIF. The hours 
acquired at 31 December 2014 will have to be used before 31 December 2020 in the same 
way as if they were hours acquired under the CPF. 
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4.8 Management and Directors  
 
Compensation paid to members of the Board of Directors can be analyzed as follows 
(in € thousand): 
 

Compensation of corporate officers (including tax) 31/12/2020 

Fixed remuneration 274 
Annual variable compensation 63 
Exceptional compensation 29 
Directors' fees 77 
Share based payments 0 
TOTAL 443 

 
 
No advances or loans have been granted to corporate officers and no pension 
commitments have been entered into for them. 
 

4.9 Related party disclosures  
 
The Group has entered into an assistance and services agreement with SEREITRA, managed 
by Michel Artières, until 30 June 2020.  
The remuneration paid to this company is mentioned in section 4.8. 
 
Since 1 July 2020, Michel Artières has been Chief Executive Officer under an agreement. 
 

5. Financial risk management and assessment 
 
ATEME may be exposed to different types of financial risks: Market risk, credit risk and liquidity 
risk. As the case may be, ATEME uses simple and proportionate means to minimize the 
potentially adverse effects of these risks on financial performance. ATEME's policy is not to 
subscribe to financial instruments for speculative purposes. ATEME does not use financial 
derivative instruments. 
 
Interest rate risk 
 
ATEME has no significant exposure to interest rate risk, as: 

• Marketable securities comprise short term money market funds (SICAV),  
• Cash and cash equivalents include term accounts, 
• No floating rate debt was subscribed. 

 
Credit risk 
 
Credit risk is associated with deposits (bank accounts) with banks and financial institutions. 
ATEME uses leading financial institutions for its cash investments and therefore does not bear 
any significant credit risk on its cash position. 
 
It has established policies to ensure that its customers have an appropriate credit risk history. 
 
Currency risk 
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The main risks associated with the foreign exchange impacts of sales and purchases 
denominated in foreign currencies primarily concern sales of products and expenses in US 
dollars and the financing of subsidiaries in their local currencies. 
 
The Company has not, at its stage of development, made any hedging arrangements to 
protect its business from currency fluctuations. However, the Company cannot rule out that a 
significant increase in its business will result in greater exposure to currency risk. The Company 
will then consider a suitable hedging policy for these risks. 
 
Equity risk 
 
The Company does not hold any investments or marketable securities traded on a regulated 
market. 
 
 

6. Subsequent events  
 
 
On 19 January 2021, ATEME announced the closing of the acquisition of Anevia, a software 
developer for live, deferred and on demand TV and video (VOD), following the successful 
public offer and squeeze out. The total cost of the acquisition was € 21145 k and the outstanding 
liability at 31 December 2020 was € 3738 k (recorded in current liabilities). 

 

On 28 January 2021 ATEME announced that it had won a triple award, ‘Technology & 
Engineering Emmy ® Awards.’  
The National Academy of Television Arts & Sciences (NATAS) awarded ATEME three Emmy ® 
Awards for its outstanding achievements in improving media broadcasting, distribution and 
quality of experience. NATAS won ATEME awards in the following three categories: 

- Development of perceptual measures for optimizing video encoding or how ATEME 
can emulate the human visual system. 

- Optimizing artificial intelligence processes for video compression or how ATEME 
successfully reduced the total cost of ownership without compromising on quality. 

- Development of optimized compression technologies for mass treatments or how 
ATEME can help video on demand service providers produce more content and 
better quality in the Cloud. 

These awards welcome ATEME's leading investments in artificial intelligence and data 
analysis. They strengthen ATEME's role as a future partner for key content and service 
providers, supporting them as they move towards new forms of TV, media and video 
transmission. 

 
On 4 February 2021, ATEME announced the launch of the new TV + service at Viya (ATN 
International Group) in the Virgin Islands (United States) 
The new Viya TV + service allows Virgin Islands residents to access state of the art television 
experience through cloud based connectivity. Subscribers access linear content and on 
demand via a dedicated multimedia reader, a Smart TV, or an iOS or Android device. They 
can also take advantage of the TV service, regardless of whether or not they are on all the 
screens of the house at the appropriate time. 
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On 25 February 2021 ATEME announced to facilitate more than 50% of ATSC 3.0 deployments 
in North America through its TITAN Live solution 
Many leading television channels and stations now use ATEME TITAN Live for their launches in 
ATSC 3.0 as well as for the migration to ATSC 1.0 requiring a ‘repack,’ i.e. more channels on a 
single issuer. Sinclair Broadcast Group has been a leader in ATEME solutions since the launch 
of the first ATSC 3.0 commercial station in Las Vegas in May 2020. It is also a world first, with 
remote operations. This deployment method, facilitated by ATEME, should be extended to 
future deployments. 

 
9 March 2021 Net + celebrated the 10th anniversary of its partnership with Anevia (ATEME) 
Anevia and Net +, a Swiss multi screen TV service provider, celebrated the tenth anniversary 
of their technology partnership. This collaboration was a key factor in making Net + one of 
Switzerland's most innovative TV service providers. Using Anevia's OTT video delivery solutions, 
Net + now offers a wide range of features, including Cloud recording, time shift 
(pause/rewind) and seven day catch up TV. 

 
On 12 March 2021 ATEME announced the integration of AVS2 into its TITAN range.  
AVS2 is the second generation digital audio video compression standard, defined by the AVS 
working group, which aims to meet the needs of the audio and video industry in China. 

 
On March 25, ATEME announced that it would join Digitalrich in offering an integrated solution 
for advertising insertions to clients around the world 
Digitalrich is Korea's leading supplier of advertising integration technologies. Titan Live and 
TITAN Mux by ATEME as well as Digitalrich's Advertising insertion server are now available as an 
integrated solution for ATEME clients worldwide. 

 
On 2 April 2021 ATEME announced that it had been chosen by Nuuday for its Live and File 
platforms 
Nuuday, a subsidiary of TDC Group, Denmark's largest telecommunications company, has 
adopted its TITAN range of solutions to improve video experience for viewers 
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6. Statutory Auditors' reports  

 

1. Statutory Auditors' report on the financial statements 
 
 
 

BL2A 
10, François Villon Park 
91600 Savigny sur Orge 

S.A.S. with a share capital of 34400 € 
403,136,351 R.C.S. Evry 

  
 

Statutory Auditor 
Member of the Company 

 Régionale de Paris 

Ernst & YOUNG Audit 
Tour First 

TSA 14444 
92037 Paris La Défense cedex - France 

S.A.S. with variable capital 
344,366,315 R.C.S. Nanterre 

 
Statutory Auditor 

Member of the Company 
 Versailles Regional Centre 

ATEME 
Year ended 31 December 2020 

Statutory Auditors' report on the financial statements 

At the ATEME Shareholders' Meeting, 

Opinion 

In compliance with the assignment entrusted to us by your Annual General Meetings, we have audited 
the accompanying financial statements of ATEME for the year ended 31 December 2020.  

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the assets and liabilities and of the 
financial position of the Company as at December 31, 2013 and of the results of its operations for the 
year then ended in accordance with French accounting principles. 

The opinion expressed above is consistent with the content of our report to the Audit Committee.  

Basis of opinion 

 Audit standards 

We conducted our audit in accordance with professional standards applicable in France. We believe 
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinion. 

Our responsibilities in accordance with these standards are set out in the ‘Responsibilities of the 
Statutory Auditors with respect to auditing the annual financial statements’ section of this report. 
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 Independence 

We conducted our audit in accordance with the independence rules provided for by the French 
Commercial Code and the Code of Ethics of our profession of Statutory Auditors for the period from 1 
January 2020 to the date of issue of our report, and in particular we did not provide services prohibited 
by Article 5 (1) of Regulation (EU) No 537/2014. 

The global crisis related to the Covid-19 pandemic creates special conditions for preparing and 
auditing the accounts for this exercise. This crisis and the exceptional measures taken in the context 
of a state of health emergency have multiple consequences for companies, particularly their business 
and financing, as well as increased uncertainty over their future prospects. Some of these measures, 
such as travel restrictions and remote work, have also affected the internal organisation of companies 
and the implementation of audits. 

It is in this complex and changing context that, in accordance with the requirements of Articles L. 8239 
and R. 8237 of the French Commercial Code (Code de commerce) relating to the justification of our 
assessments, we bring to your attention the key points of the audit relating to the risks of significant 
misstatement that, in our professional judgment, were the most important for the audit of the annual 
financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2013, as well as the responses we have made 
to those risks. 

These assessments were made in the context of the audit of the financial statements taken as a 
whole, and of the opinion we formed which is expressed above. We do not express an opinion on any 
items of these financial statements taken individually. 

 Impairment of inventories 

Identified risk Our response 

The company's gross inventories amounted to EUR 
3,627 thousand at 31 December 2020 and are written 
down in the amount of EUR 175 thousand. These 
inventories consist mainly of merchandise. 

As presented in Note 2.2 ‘Inventories and work in 
progress’ to the annual financial statements, the 
provision for impairment of inventories relates to 
components or merchandise that are subject to 
internal lending, testing or repair. 

Components or goods for which technological 
advances are beginning to render inventories 
obsolete, or those with little or no movement during 
the year, are being scrapped. 

We considered that inventory write down is a key 
point of the audit due to the relative importance of 
inventories in the company's financial statements and 
because of management's input in identifying 
inventories for impairment. 

Our audit procedures included:  

- Obtaining an understanding of the internal 
control procedures implemented to identify 
inventories requiring impairment; 

- Attend year end physical inventories; 

- Compare the cost of the main items in 
inventory on a test basis with the net selling 
price during the year; 

- Analysing the data and assumptions used by 
management to identify inventories to be 
written down; 

Perform a retrospective analysis of the disposal 
of inventories based on movements in 
inventories during the period. 



 

  Page on 157 sur 168 

Specific verifications 

We have also performed, in accordance with professional standards applicable in France, the specific 
verifications required by legal and regulatory texts. 

 Information given in the management report and in other documents on the financial 
position and the annual financial statements addressed to the shareholders 

We have no matters to report as to the fair presentation and the consistency with the financial 
statements of the information given in the management report of the Board of Directors prepared on 
24 March 2021 and in the other documents with respect to the financial position and the financial 
statements addressed to the shareholders. 

We attest to the fair presentation and consistency with the financial statements of the information 
relating to the payment periods mentioned in Article D. 441-6 of the French Commercial Code. 

 Information on corporate governance 

We attest to the existence, in section of the Board of Directors' management report devoted to 
corporate governance, of the information required by Articles L. 225-37-4, L. 22-10-10 and L. 22-10-09 
of the French Commercial Code (Code de commerce).  

Concerning the information given in accordance with the requirements of article L. 22-10-09 of the 
French Commercial Code relating to remuneration and benefits received or granted to corporate 
officers and any other commitments made in their favour, we have verified its consistency with the 
financial statements, or with the underlying information used to prepare these financial statements 
and, where applicable, with the information obtained by your Company from companies controlled by it 
that are included in the scope of consolidation. Based on this work, we attest the accuracy and fair 
presentation of this information. 

Concerning the information provided in accordance with the provisions of article L. 22-10-11 of the 
French Commercial Code (Code de commerce) concerning the matters that your Company considers 
likely to have an impact in the event of a takeover bid or exchange, we have verified its compliance 
with the documents that have been issued to us. On the basis of our work, we have no matters to 
report on this information. 

 Other information 

In accordance with French law, we have verified that the required information concerning the purchase 
of investments and controlling interests and the identity of the shareholders and holders of the voting 
rights has been properly disclosed in the management report. 
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Other verifications and information required by law and regulations  

 Format of presentation of the annual financial statements to be included in the annual 
financial report 

In accordance with paragraph III of Article 222-3 of the AMF's General Regulations, your Company's 
management has informed us of its decision to postpone application of the single electronic 
information format as defined by European Commission Delegated Regulation (EC) No. 2019/815 of 
17 December 2018 to financial years beginning on or after 1 January 2021. Accordingly, this report 
does not contain any conclusion on compliance with this format in the presentation of the consolidated 
financial statements intended to be included in the annual financial report referred to in paragraph I of 
Article L.451-1-2 of the French Monetary and Financial Code. 

 Appointment of Statutory Auditors  

We were appointed Statutory Auditors of ATEME by your Shareholders' Meeting on 30 June 1997 for 
BL2A and on 11 April 2014 for ERNST & YOUNG Audit. 

As of 31 December 2020, the BL2A firm was in the twenty fourth year of its unbroken assignment 
(including seven years since the company's securities were admitted to trading on a regulated market) 
and the ERNST & YOUNG Audit firm in the seventh year. 

Responsibilities of management and of the persons making up the corporate governance 
structure for the annual financial statements 

It is the responsibility of management to prepare annual financial statements that present a true and 
fair view in accordance with French accounting rules and principles and to implement the internal 
control that it considers necessary to prepare annual financial statements that are free of material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or errors. 

At the time of preparing the annual financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the 
Company's ability to continue as a going concern, presenting in those financial statements, where 
applicable, the necessary information relating to the continuity of operations and applying the going 
concern accounting policy, unless it is intended to liquidate the company or cease trading. 

The Audit Committee is responsible for monitoring the process of preparing financial information and 
for monitoring the effectiveness of internal control and risk management systems, as well as, where 
applicable, internal audit, with respect to the procedures relating to the preparation and processing of 
accounting and financial information. 

These financial statements have been approved by the Board of Directors. 
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Responsibilities of the Statutory Auditors in relation to the audit of the annual financial 
statements 

 Audit objective and approach 

Our role is to prepare a report on the financial statements. Our objective is to obtain reasonable 
assurance that the financial statements taken as a whole are free of material misstatement. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, without however guaranteeing that an audit 
carried out in accordance with professional standards systematically allows any material anomalies to 
be detected. Anomalies may arise from fraud or errors and are considered material when it can 
reasonably be expected that they could, individually or cumulatively, influence the economic decisions 
that account users make on the basis of the accounts. 

As specified in Article L. 823101 of the French Commercial Code (Code de commerce), our role of 
certifying the financial statements is not to guarantee the viability or quality of the management of your 
company. 

As part of an audit conducted in accordance with professional standards applicable in France, the 
Statutory Auditor shall exercise his professional judgment throughout this audit. In addition: 

► It identifies and assesses the risks that the financial statements contain material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or errors, defines and implements audit procedures to address these risks 
and obtains evidence that it considers sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for its opinion. 
The risk of non detection of a significant anomaly arising from fraud is higher than the risk of a 
significant anomaly arising from an error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, voluntary 
omissions, misrepresentation or circumvention of internal control; 

► Takes note of the internal control relevant for the audit in order to define the audit procedures 
appropriate in the circumstances, and not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of internal control; 

► Assesses the appropriateness of the accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as the related disclosures in the annual 
financial statements; 

► It assesses whether management's application of the going concern accounting policy is 
appropriate and, depending on the evidence collected, whether or not there is a significant 
uncertainty as a result of events or circumstances that could call into question the Company's 
ability to continue as a going concern. This assessment is based on information gathered up to the 
date of its report, it being noted that subsequent circumstances or events could jeopardise the 
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If the auditor concludes that there is significant 
uncertainty, it draws the attention of the readers of its report to the information provided in the 
annual financial statements about this uncertainty or, if the information is not provided or is not 
relevant, it formulates a qualified certification or a refusal to certify; 

► It assesses the overall presentation of the financial statements and whether the financial 
statements reflect the underlying transactions and events so as to present them fairly. 

 Report to the Audit Committee 

We submit to the Audit Committee a report presenting, in particular, the scope of the audit work and 
the work program implemented, as well as the conclusions of our work. Where applicable, we also 
bring to its attention the significant weaknesses of the internal control that we have identified with 
respect to the procedures relating to the preparation and processing of financial and accounting 
information. 
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Among the elements communicated in the report to the Audit Committee are the risks of significant 
misstatement, which we consider to have been the most important for the audit of the annual financial 
statements for the financial year and which therefore constitute the key points of the audit, which we 
are required to describe in this report. 
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We also provide the Audit Committee with the declaration provided for in Article 6 of Regulation (EU) 
no. 537/2014 confirming our independence, within the meaning of the rules applicable in France as set 
notably by Articles L. 82210 to L. 82214 of the French Commercial Code and in the Code of Ethics of 
the profession of Statutory Auditors. Where appropriate, we meet with the Audit Committee to discuss 
the risks to our independence and the safeguard measures applied. 

Savigny sur Orge and Paris La Défense, 29 April 2021 

 

The Statutory Auditors  

BL2A Ernst & YOUNG Audit 

 

 

Mélanie Hus-Charles 

 

 

Jean Christophe Pernet 
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2. Statutory Auditors' report on the consolidated financial statements 
 
 
 

BL2A 
10, Parc François Villon 
91600 Savigny sur Orge 

S.A.S. with a share capital of 34400 € 
403,136,351 R.C.S. Evry  

 
 

Statutory Auditor 
Member of the Company 

 Régionale de Paris 

Ernst & YOUNG Audit 
Tour First 

TSA 14444 
92037 Paris La Défense cedex - France 

S.A.S. with variable capital 
344,366,315 R.C.S. Nanterre 

 
Statutory Auditor 

Member of the Company 
 Versailles Regional Centre 

ATEME 
Year ended 31 December 2020 

Statutory Auditors' report on the consolidated financial statements 

At the ATEME Shareholders' Meeting, 

Opinion 

In compliance with the assignment entrusted to us by your Annual General Meetings, we have audited 
the accompanying consolidated financial statements of ATEME for the year ended 31 December 2020. 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the assets and 
liabilities and of the financial position of the Group as at December 31, 2013 and of the results of its 
operations for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as 
adopted by the European Union. 

The opinion expressed above is consistent with the content of our report to the Audit Committee. 

Basis of opinion 

 Audit standards 

We conducted our audit in accordance with professional standards applicable in France. We believe 
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinion. 

Our responsibilities in accordance with these standards are set out in the ‘Responsibilities of the 
Statutory Auditors with respect to auditing the consolidated financial statements’ section of this report.  
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 Independence 

We conducted our audit in accordance with the independence rules provided for by the French 
Commercial Code and the Code of Ethics of our profession of Statutory Auditors for the period from 1 
January 2020 to the date of issue of our report, and in particular we did not provide services prohibited 
by Article 5 (1) of Regulation (EU) No 537/2014. 

Justification of our assessments - Key points of the audit 

The global crisis related to the Covid-19 pandemic creates special conditions for preparing and 
auditing the accounts for this exercise. This crisis and the exceptional measures taken in the context 
of a state of health emergency have multiple consequences for companies, particularly their business 
and financing, as well as increased uncertainty over their future prospects. Some of these measures, 
such as travel restrictions and remote work, have also affected the internal organisation of companies 
and the implementation of audits. 

It is in this complex and changing context that, in accordance with the requirements of Articles L. 8239 
and R. 8237 of the French Commercial Code (Code de commerce) relating to the justification of our 
assessments, we bring to your attention the key points of the audit relating to the risks of significant 
misstatement that, in our professional judgment, were the most important for the audit of the 
consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2013, as well as the responses we 
have made to those risks. 

These assessments were made in the context of the audit of the consolidated financial statements 
taken as a whole, and of the opinion we formed which is expressed above. We do not express an 
opinion on any elements of these consolidated financial statements taken individually. 

 Revenue recognition 

Identified risk Our response 

An analysis is performed for contracts with multiple 
components to recognize revenues separately for 
each item when they are separately identifiable and 
the customer can benefit from them separately. 
Where a contract contains more than one 
performance bond, the price is allocated to each bond 
on the basis of its sale price. This selling price is 
determined based on the ‘catalogue’ price.  

Revenue is recognized when the Group transfers 
control of the goods or services sold to the customer, 
either on a specific date over time or continuously as 
specified in Note 20 ‘Sales’ to the consolidated 
financial statements. For licenses in particular, 
revenue is recognized when the contractual service 
obligation is satisfied (static license) or as it is 
satisfied (dynamic license). 

We familiarised ourselves with the specific procedures 
and information systems, if any, contributing to the 
formation of consolidated revenue. 

We examined the compliance of revenue recognition 
rules with IFRS 15 on new key contracts signed in 
2020. 

We familiarised ourselves with the internal control 
procedures implemented to account for revenue 

Based on quantitative criteria (amount of revenue to 
be recognized) and qualitative criteria (complex 
contracts with several services), we performed 
various procedures. We have: 

 

  Analyzed contractual clauses and reconcile 
financial data with invoices issued; 
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The terms of commercial contracts between the 
Group and its customers include terms and conditions 
governing the transfer of ownership and the 
performance of services, which is therefore critical to 
the Group's revenue recognition. The accounting 
standards applicable to contracts of this type require 
that contracts be interpreted with a degree of 
judgment.  

An error in the analysis of obligations under this type 
of contract and their realization could lead to incorrect 
accounting for revenues. As a result, we considered 
revenue recognition in accordance with IFRS 15 to be 
a key point of our audit. 

 Assessed whether the revenue allocated to 
each service corresponded to the fair value of 
the consideration received or receivable for 
goods sold in the ordinary course of business; 

  It is controlled that each service is 
subsequently recognised in accordance with 
the applicable accounting rules and methods; 

  Examined the relevance of the note 
presented in the notes to the consolidated 
financial statements. 

 

 Impairment of inventories 

Identified risk Our response 

The company's gross inventories amounted to EUR 
4,786 thousand at 31 December 2020 and are written 
down in the amount of EUR 351 thousand. These 
inventories consist mainly of merchandise. 

As presented in Note 9 ‘Inventories’ to the 
consolidated financial statements, the provision for 
impairment of inventories relates to components or 
merchandise that are subject to internal lending, 
testing or repair. 

Components or goods for which technological 
advances are beginning to render inventories 
obsolete, or those with little or no movement during 
the year, are being scrapped. 

We considered that inventory write down is a key 
point of the audit due to the relative importance of 
inventories in the company's financial statements and 
because of management's input in identifying 
inventories for impairment. 

Our audit procedures included:  

 Obtaining an understanding of the internal control 
procedures implemented to identify inventories 
requiring impairment; 

 Attend year end physical inventories; 

 Compare the cost of the main items in inventory 
on a test basis with the net selling price during 
the year; 

 Analysing the data and assumptions used by 
management to identify inventories to be written 
down; 

 Perform a retrospective analysis of the disposal 
of inventories based on movements in inventories 
during the period. 

 

 
 
 
 

 Determination of assets and liabilities recognised in the context of the acquisition of Anevia 

Identified risk Our response 
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ATEME took control of Anevia on 26 October 2020 by 
acquiring a controlling interest representing 87% of 
the shares. A simplified or combined public tender 
offer for the shares and warrants of Anevia that were 
not tendered when the control block was acquired 
was initiated on 8 December 2020. The squeeze out 
of the remaining shares and warrants was completed 
on 19 January 2021. 

The takeover followed by the acquisition of non 
controlling interests was analyzed by the Company as 
a single business combination. As a result, the 
goodwill amounting to € 13,186 k was calculated 
based on a purchase price of 100% without 
generating any non controlling interests but 
recognizing a debt in current liabilities of € 3,738 k. 

As part of the purchase price allocation, the company, 
with the assistance of an external expert, valued and 
recognized intangible assets for technology on two 
product ranges for a total amount of € 9,350 k. 

This information is disclosed in Note 3 to the 
consolidated financial statements in accordance with 
IFRS 3.  

We considered that the analysis of the accounting 
treatment of the takeover was a key point of the audit 
due to its significant impact on the consolidated 
financial statements. 

We have also considered that the determination of 
the fair value of the assets and liabilities recognized in 
connection with the acquisition of Anevia is a key 
point of the audit, due to the significant amount 
involved and the estimates required in particular to 
determine the fair value of technologies and to 
measure Anevia's liabilities and contingent liabilities. 

We performed an analysis of all the facts and 
circumstances relating to the acquisition of Anevia in 
order to determine whether the various transactions 
were related and should be considered as a single 
business combination. 

We examined the methods used to allocate the 
purchase price by the group's management and its 
external experts. Our work consisted, with the 
assistance of our evaluation specialists, in particular 
of:  

 Analysing the assets acquired, liabilities assumed 
and contingent liabilities identified to determine 
whether they meet the recognition criteria in IFRS 3 
and whether they are consistent with the business 
of the group and its segment; 

 Obtaining an understanding of the methods used to 
determine the fair value of Anevia's acquired 
intangible assets; 

 Analyzing the assumptions on which the estimates 
used by management to determine the fair value of 
Anevia's assets and liabilities/contingent liabilities 
at the acquisition date are based, in particular with 
respect to ‘technological’ intangible assets, for 
which we analyzed the royalty rates used;  

 Perform arithmetic controls on asset valuations; 

 Analyse the overall consistency of the allocation of 
the purchase price and the resulting residual 
goodwill, in particular on the basis of the following 
analyses: 

- Review of the benchmark strategic 
acquisition plan and the internal rate of 
return (IRR) implicit in the transaction; 

- Review of the analysis of the weighted 
average return on assets performed, and 
reconciliation analysis with the IRR of the 
transaction and Anevia's weighted average 
cost of capital; 

- Consideration of the components of the 
residual goodwill. 

Finally, we also assessed the appropriateness of the 
information given in Note 3 to the consolidated 
financial statements. 
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Specific verifications 

We have also performed, in accordance with professional standards applicable in France, the specific 
verifications required by legal and regulatory texts of the information relating to the Group, given in the 
management report of the Board of Directors. 

We have no matters to report as to its fair presentation and its consistency with the consolidated 
financial statements. 

Other verifications and information required by law and regulations 

 Format of presentation of the consolidated financial statements to be included in the annual 
financial report 

In accordance with paragraph III of Article 222-3 of the AMF's General Regulations, your Company's 
management has informed us of its decision to postpone application of the single electronic 
information format as defined by European Commission Delegated Regulation (EC) No. 2019/815 of 
17 December 2018 to financial years beginning on or after 1 January 2021. Accordingly, this report 
does not contain any conclusion on compliance with this format in the presentation of the consolidated 
financial statements intended to be included in the annual financial report referred to in paragraph I of 
Article L.451-1-2 of the French Monetary and Financial Code.  

 Appointment of Statutory Auditors  

We were appointed Statutory Auditors of ATEME by your Shareholders' Meeting on 30 June 1997 for 
BL2A and on 11 April 2014 for ERNST & YOUNG Audit. 

As of 31 December 2020, the BL2A firm was in the twenty fourth year of its unbroken assignment 
(including seven years since the company's securities were admitted to trading on a regulated market) 
and the ERNST & YOUNG Audit firm in the seventh year. 

Responsibilities of management and members of corporate governance for the consolidated 
financial statements 

It is the responsibility of management to prepare consolidated financial statements that present fairly, 
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European 
Union, and to implement the internal control that management believes is necessary to prepare 
consolidated financial statements that are free of material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

At the time of preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for 
assessing the Company's ability to continue as a going concern, presenting in those financial 
statements, where applicable, the necessary information relating to the continuity of operations and 
applying the going concern accounting policy, unless it is planned to liquidate the company or to cease 
trading. 

The Audit Committee is responsible for monitoring the process of preparing financial information and 
for monitoring the effectiveness of internal control and risk management systems, as well as, where 
applicable, internal audit, with respect to the procedures relating to the preparation and processing of 
accounting and financial information. 

These consolidated financial statements have been approved by the Board of Directors. 
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Responsibilities of the Statutory Auditors in relation to auditing the consolidated financial 
statements 

 Audit objective and approach 

Our role is to prepare a report on the consolidated financial statements. Our objective is to obtain 
reasonable assurance that the consolidated financial statements taken as a whole are free of material 
misstatement. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, without however guaranteeing that 
an audit carried out in accordance with professional standards systematically allows any material 
anomalies to be detected. Anomalies may arise from fraud or errors and are considered material when 
it can reasonably be expected that they could, individually or cumulatively, influence the economic 
decisions that account users make on the basis of the accounts. 

As specified in Article L. 823101 of the French Commercial Code (Code de commerce), our role of 
certifying the financial statements is not to guarantee the viability or quality of the management of your 
company. 

As part of an audit conducted in accordance with professional standards applicable in France, the 
Statutory Auditor shall exercise his professional judgment throughout this audit. In addition: 

► It identifies and assesses the risks that the consolidated financial statements contain material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or errors, defines and implements audit procedures to 
address these risks and obtains evidence that it considers sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for its opinion. The risk of non detection of a significant anomaly arising from fraud is higher 
than the risk of a significant anomaly arising from an error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, 
voluntary omissions, misrepresentation or circumvention of internal control; 

► Takes note of the internal control relevant for the audit in order to define the audit procedures 
appropriate in the circumstances, and not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of internal control; 

► Assesses the appropriateness of the accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as the related disclosures in the consolidated 
financial statements; 

► It assesses whether management's application of the going concern accounting policy is 
appropriate and, depending on the evidence collected, whether or not there is a significant 
uncertainty as a result of events or circumstances that could call into question the Company's 
ability to continue as a going concern. This assessment is based on information gathered up to the 
date of its report, it being noted that subsequent circumstances or events could jeopardise the 
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If the fund manager concludes that there is 
significant uncertainty, he draws the attention of readers of his report to the information provided in 
the consolidated financial statements about this uncertainty or, if the information is not provided or 
is not relevant, is certified with reservations or does not certify; 

► Assesses the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements and whether the 
consolidated financial statements reflect the underlying transactions and events so as to present 
them fairly; 

► With regard to the financial information provided to persons or entities included in the scope of 
consolidation, it collects information that it considers sufficient and appropriate to express an 
opinion on the consolidated financial statements. It is responsible for the management, 
supervision and auditing of the consolidated financial statements and for the opinion expressed on 
these financial statements. 
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 Report to the Audit Committee 

We submit to the Audit Committee a report presenting, in particular, the scope of the audit work and 
the work program implemented, as well as the conclusions of our work. Where applicable, we also 
bring to its attention the significant weaknesses of the internal control that we have identified with 
respect to the procedures relating to the preparation and processing of financial and accounting 
information. 

Among the elements communicated in the report to the Audit Committee are the risks of significant 
misstatement, which we consider to have been the most important for the audit of the consolidated 
financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2013 and which therefore constitute the key 
points of the audit, which we are required to describe in this report. 

We also provide the Audit Committee with the declaration provided for in Article 6 of Regulation (EU) 
no. 537/2014 confirming our independence, within the meaning of the rules applicable in France as set 
notably by Articles L. 82210 to L. 82214 of the French Commercial Code and in the Code of Ethics of 
the profession of Statutory Auditors. Where appropriate, we meet with the Audit Committee to discuss 
the risks to our independence and the safeguard measures applied. 

Savigny sur Orge and Paris La Défense, 29 April 2021 

The Statutory Auditors  

BL2A Ernst & YOUNG Audit 

 

 

Mélanie Hus-Charles 

 

 

Jean Christophe Pernet 
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